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Dear Shareholdérs:

As I outlined to you in last year’s letter, we repopulated management with new personnel, right-sized
the company, exited the valve business, and refocused our efforts on developing a closed-chest, beating.
heart approach to treating atrial fibrillation (AF). I am pleased to say that we are focused and well
positioned to enter a market that we believe represents one of the largest unmet clinical needs in
cardiovascular medicine today.

At last year’s annual meeting, | committed to focus the company’s efforts on the following four key

objectives. First, we would seek to extend the use of our existing AtriLaze™ System in concomitant cases to

 build a strong body of data demonstrating the efficacy of our laser technology for cardiac tissue ablation.
Second, we would continue to finalize the development of our minimally invasive system in preparation for
clinical adoption, data collection, and market development activity. Third, we would build on both
established and new relationships with prominent cardiovascular surgeons and electrophysiologists
throughout the country. Last, we would continue our efforts to broaden investor participation with an
emphasis on increasing the liquidity and market value of our stock.

I’'m pleased to report that, during the last year, we made significant strides on all four key objectives
and more.

Extending Use of Existing Technology

During the last year, we completed an additional 16 human cases using our existing Atrilaze System.
In October 2005, we received 510(k) clearance from the FDA for our malleable (Gen 2) AtriLaze System.
In April 2006, we received 510(k) clearance from the FDA expanding our AtriLaze System laser platform.

Development of Minimally Invasive System

In addition to achieving the foregoing milestones with our existing technology, we debuted our
minimally invasive system in April 2006 and completed development of the first generation minimally
invasive system in the first half of calendar year 2006. We conducted numerous minimally invasive animal
studies and submitted data for publication. In May 2006, we submitted an application for 510(k) clearance
of our minimally invasive (Gen 3) AtriLaze System.

Building on Relationships

We continued to strengthen the company by adding experienced human capital to our Board of
Directors, Scientific Advisory Board, and management team. We held our first annual Scientific Advisory
Board meeting and added a key electrophysiologist to such board in the third quarter of calendar year
2005. And, in expectation of the market launch of our minimally invasive system during the third quarter of
calendar year 2006, we plan to hold our second annual Scientific Advisory Board meeting in conjunction
with our initial training meeting at the end of September 2006.

Broadening Our Investor Base

In the third quarter of fiscal year 2006, we simplified our capital structure and, in doing so, increased
our cash position to fund our development. In particular, we executed preferred stock acquisition
agreements and warrant amendments. The exercise of such warrants increased our cash position
approximately $6.4 million. In May 2006, we filed a registration statement for a public offering of our
securities and effected a reverse stock split. Unfortunately, we experienced significant adverse market
conditions at the time our offering was being marketed. We were not alone. Unable to sell the securities
we sought to sell on acceptable terms, we withdrew our registration in the best interests of our
shareholders. Given the circumstances we faced and our belief that the market’s assessment was not
reflective of our “true” value, we now believe that our impending minimally invasive product launch will
enhance the market’s receptivity to the MedicalCV story.




Looking Toward the Future

During the next twelve months, we seek to commercialize our minimally invasive system within key
U.S. markets. We expect to execute physician training and market development activities and enhance
physician relationships to bolster our market presence. We plan to collect registry-based data to
demonstrate technical efficacy. And we anticipate continued development of next generation systems and
ancillary tools to further simplify procedural technique.

On a personal note, I have never been more excited by the opportunity before the company and its
shareholders as we prepare to launch a truly minimally invasive system having the real potential to address
the needs and wants of those patients suffering from atrial fibrillation. I believe we have the right people,
the right product, and the right plan to do what this team does best: drive new technology adoption in
cardiac surgery.

On behalf of both our Board of Directors and maﬁagement, I wish to thank you, the owners of this -
company, for your support, feedback, and confidence as we continue to our mission to establish
MedicalCV as the leading player in the surgical atrial fibrillation market. '

September 8, 2006

Marc P. Flores
President and Chief Executive Officer
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PARTI
ITEM1 DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

The following discussion contains various forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E
of the Exchange Act. Although we believe that, in making any such statement, our expectations are based on
reasonable assumptions, any such statement may be influenced by factors that could cause actual outcomes
and results to be materially different from those projected. When used in the following discussion, the words
“anticipates,” “believes,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “estimates” and similar expressions, as they relate to us
or our management, are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. These forward-looking
statements are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially
from those anticipated. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated,
certain of which are beyond our control, include those discussed in our Cautzonazy Statement as well as those
discussed elsewhere in this document.

Our actual results, performarnce or achievements could differ materially from those expressed in, or implied
by, forward-looking statements. Accordingly, we cannot be certain that any of the events anticipated by forward-
looking statements will occur or, if any of them do occur, what impact they will have on us. We caution you to
keep in mind the cautions and risks described in our Cautionary Statement and to refrain from attributing
undue certainty to any forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of the document in which

they appear.

Overview

Our ATRILAZE system utilizes laser energy in cardiac tissue ablation procedures in open-heart
surgery. We acquired the initial technology in August 2003 and we have developed several generations of
products beyond the initial technology purchase. We received FDA 510(k) clearances for the first
generation product in November 2004 and the second generation product in October 2005. In addition, we
received a third 510(k) clearance in April 2006 which covered an additional laser wavelength. -

The ATRILAZE system with its laser technology platform is currently being utilized to ablate cardiac
tissue concomitantly, or in conjunction, with open-heart surgical procedures. Qur strategy is to leverage
our laser technology to develop a stand-alone, minimally invasive treatment for atrial fibrillation, or AF.
We define a minimally invasive treatment as being one in which the procedure is performed on a beating
heart in a closed-chest setting. We submitted an application for FDA 510(k) clearance of our minimally
invasive system in May 2006 and expect to introduce this system for commercial use in the second half
of 2006. :

AF is the most commonly occurring cardiac arrhythmia. AF is an erratic heartbeat that causes the
atria to contract rapidly and ineffectively and is associated with abnormal electrical impulses that alter a
patient’s normal cardiac function. AF reduces cardiac output, is a major precursor to congestive heart
failure, and is associated with an increased incidence of stroke. Patients afflicted with AF are five times
more likely to suffer a stroke and are more likely to suffer increased mortality at an earlier age. According
to the Framingham Study published in 2004, one in four people over 40 years of age in United States has a
lifetime risk of developing AF and the incidence of AF increases with age. More than 5.0 million people
worldwide are afflicted with AF. Of the approximately 5.0 million, approximately 2.5 million Americans
are afflicted with AF, with more than 200,000 new diagnoses each year. The annual market for open-chest
surgical AF procedures is expected to reach $190 million to $250 million. The projected annual market for
stand-alone, minimally invasive AF surgical procedures is expected to reach $2.1 billion.

We have begun supplying our current product, the ATRILAZE system, a hand-held wand, to select
centers for surgical ablation in concomitant open-heart procedures to increase surgeon exposure to our
products. We do not expect significant revenue until we introduce our ATRILAZE minimally invasive
system.




MedicalCV, Inc. was incorporated in Minnesota on March 30, 1992, under the name CV
Dynamics, Inc.

AF Treatment Options

There are currently four primary treatment modahtles for AF with a wide range of success and
morbidity rates.

o Drugs—As a first line of treatment, patients typically receive-drug therapy to prevent blood clots,
control heart rate and restore the heart rhythm. These drugs are often ineffective, not well tolerated
and may be associated with significant side effects. For these reasons, drug therapy for AF fails for
up to 30% of patients within one year and 60% of patients within two years.

‘e Implantable Devices—Implantable devices, such as defibrillators and pacemakers, can be effective in
reducing the symptoms and number of AF episodes, but neither device is intended to treat AF.
‘Patients may continue to experience the adverse effects of AF as well as some of the symptoms,
including dizziness and fatigue, because the AF continues.

e Catheter-Based Treatment—Catheter-based AF treatments are technically challenging, can be
associated with serious complications and yield inconsistent results. In proportion to the prevalence

- of AF, only a small number of catheter-based AF treatments are performed each year in the
United States.

e Surgery—There are two types of surgical approaches to treating AF. These procedures are
frequently done concomitantly with mitral valve or coronary artery bypass surgery:

-]

Classic Maze Procedure—The standard for curative treatment of atrial fibrillation is known as
the classic Maze procedure. This is'a maximally invasive procedure that is routinely done
concomitantly and requires cracking the sternum, opening the patient’s chest, placing the
patient on the heart-lung machine, stopping the heart, disassembling, and finally reassembling
the atrial chambers of the heart. This'is done to create lesion lines using the surgeon’s scalpel
to interrupt the erratic electrical impulses that cause AF. This procedure has a success rate of
approximately 90 percent, but is a technically difficult and time-consuming procedure. The
postoperative recovery times are long, and the morbidity and mortality risks of this procedure
are significant

Modified Maze Procedure—Because of the significant technical challenges associated with the
classic Maze procedure, modifications were developed. These involved using ablation
techniques rather than a scalpel to achieve lesion transmurality, or full-thickness necrosis, in
the target tissue. These technologies, however, have been designed to fac111tate ablation mainly
in the open- -chest setting,

Minimally Invasive Cardiovascular Surgery—Stand-Alone Procedure -

During the last several years, newer minimally invasive cardiac surgery techniques have gained
momentum as they have been proven'to lower costs, reduce patient traima and provide better outcomes.
We believe that these techniques are being used more frequently and represent one of the fastest growing
segments within the cardiovascular surgery market. Closed-chest procedures are done utilizing
thoracoscopic and/or robotic techniques that allow the cardiovascular surgeon access through ports. This
technology allows the cardiovascular surgeon’s hands to be placed inside the patient’s closed chest cavity |
through instrumentation and to view the cardiac anatomy as in an open-chest setting. Because of cardiac
surgeons’ growing familiarity with these techniques outside of the AF space, we believe there are
significant opportunities in minimally invasive AF treatments. We believe MedicalCV'’s technology is ideal




for-the minimally invasive setting because of the size and flexibility of the optical fiber and its delivery.
system.

We began providing the ATRILAZE system, which includes a hand-held wand, to surgeons in
January 2005 to help validate the use of laser in ablation. We intend to compete in the market by
leveraging laser technology in developing a stand-alone, minimally invasive system for ablating cardiac
tissue,

Alternative Energy Sources for Surgical Ablation

A number of energy sources are currently used to ablate cardiac tissue in an open-chest, modified
Maze procedure. These energy sources are used to create transmural lesions which prevent the abnormal
electrical impulses that cause AF.,

o Cryothermy—also referred to as cryoenergy or “cryo.” This type of energy uses either a catheter or
hand-held probe to ablate cardiac tissue by freezing at extreme temperatures of up to -
negative 60°C.

» Radiofrequency—Monopolar—also referred to as RF. This type of energy uses either a catheter or
hand-held probe or pen to ablate cardiac tissue by using heat from radio waves.

* Radiofrequency—Bipolar—also referred to as Bipolar RF. This type of energy uses a hand-held
clamp device with two poles to ablate cardiac tissue by using heat from radio waves.

e Microwave—This type of energy uses either a catheter or hand-held probe to ablate cardiac tissue
by using heat from microwave.

o Ultrasound—sometimes referred to as high-intensity focused ultrasound, or HIFU. This type of
energy uses either a catheter or hand-held probe to ablate cardiac tissue by using heat from
ultrasonic energy.

e Laser—also referred to as light energy or photocoagulation. This type of energy functions at varying
wavelengths and uses either a catheter or hand-held device to ablate cardiac tissue by using
absorptive heating. ‘

There is currently an interest among both hospitals and physicians to use minimally invasive procedures.
While the systems that utilize these energy sources have achieved some acceptance in open-chest
.concomitant procedures, we believe current systems do not address the needs of the minimally invasive
market because of either design or performance limitations. In part, this is because most of these systems
were not specifically designed for minimally invasive applications, but rather modified in an attempt to
adapt them for that application.

Laser technology has a long history of use in numerous surgical procedures. Laser devices are valued
for their coherent energy source which can create precise tissue ablations. Different wavelength lasers can
be selected depending on the desired depth of penetration and absorption characteristics of the target and
surrounding tissues. Many cardiovascular surgeons are already comfortable with laser devices, using them
to bore small holes in the heart to achieve transmyocardial revascularization for patients with persistent
angina. The small diameter and flexibility.of the laser fiber make it possible to design a low-profile device
that can be introduced into the body through a minimally invasive access port.

In contrast, other devices, because they were designed for open-chest procedures, require large
incisions or use energy sources that are not idéal for the creation of transmural lesions in a closed-chest,
beating heart setting.

Expenses related to research and development services were $3,471,241 for the fiscal year eﬁded
April 30, 2006, compared to $1,581,016 for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2005. Research and development




services include expenses we previously referred to as research and development expenses and engineering
and regulatory expenses. ‘

MedicalCV’s ATRILAZE Minimally Invasive Solution

MedicalCV’s ATRILAZE minimally invasive system is specifically designed to enable access to and
ablation of cardiac tissue for the potential treatment of AF in a closed-chest beating heart. We expect that
the ablation procedure would be completed in one to two hours under general anesthesia. The surgeon
would access the patient’s heart through three approximately 1 cm incisions, thread a unidirectional laser
guide through the incisions and position it around the pulmonary veins. As shown in the figure below, once
the guide is in place, the surgeon initiates the ablation sequence, which lasts no more than 15 minutes.
MedicalCV’s system is pre-programmed and automatically navigates the laser energy around the heart
delivering precise ablation—minimizing the potential for surgeon error. Once the ablation is complete, the
guide is removed and the approximately 1 cm incisions are closed. Because this treatment will be minimally
invasive, we anticipate patients should experience significantly less pain and shorter recovery time than
they would in open-chest procedures.

ATRILAZE Minimally Invasive Application

There are three main components‘of our minimally invasive system including the laser, the controller,
and the disposable kit that contains the delivery system with unidirectional laser guide.

ATRILAZE Laser ATRILAZE Controller




ATRILAZE Delivery System with
unidirectional laser guide

We believe MedicalCV’s minimally invasive surgical ablation system has signiﬁcént clinical
advantages:

Feature - Benefit Advantage

Submillimeter Fiber Allows for miniaturization of delivery device Facilitates closed-chest

Optic , treatment

Coherent Energy Allows for surgical precision and provides Limits collateral damage and
transmurality delivers effective lesion on

beating heart

Ideal Wavelength Provides deep tissue penetration.and scatters Increases efficacy and safety
when contacts blood ‘

Smart Automated Delivers rapid and consistent ablation to tissue  Minimizes the potential for

Ablation : : . surgeon error

The MedicalCV Strategy

MedicalCV intends to compete in the cardiac tissue ablation market by introducing products which it
believes are ideally designed for stand-alone, minimally invasive surgical procedures. The key elements of
this strategy are: ‘

o Capitalize on the potentially large atrial fibrillation market. The AF market is one of the fastest
growing segments in cardiovascular surgery and interventional cardiology. MedicalCV’s minimally
invasive system allows the surgeon to achieve a high quality transmural lesion by mimicking the
classic Maze procedure. The similarity of the laser to the surgical scalpel provides precise,
transmural lesions. We believe that this will lead to rapid acceptance of our system as providing
stand-alone, minimally invasive cardiac tissue ablation. ‘

¢ Focus on leading surgeons to drive initial market acceptance. We will first focus our efforts on
surgeons who have active open-heart practices and who are considered to be opinion leaders in
minimally invasive cardiovascular surgical techniques. As these leading surgeons incorporate our
minimally invasive system into their standard practices, we believe they will help accelerate broader
awareness within the medical community through peer communication, the presentation of results
at surgical conferences and the publication of results in leading surgical and medical journals. We
plan to educate, inform and heighten awareness as we further develop the market for a stand-alone,
minimally invasive system.




e Continue to penetrate the cardiac tissue ablation and atrial fibrillation markets using a dedicated
sales team. We intend to leverage the extensive cardiac experience of our dedicated sales team to
leverage key cardiovascular relationships and provide effective customer assistance to accelerate
market definition and adoption, thereby increasing the penetration of our cardiac tissue ablation
systems. :

¢ Educate physicians and patients about our minimally invasive system. We believe education of
physicians and patients regarding the benefits of laser ablation is critical to the successful adoption
of our minimally invasive system. We intend to develop cardiovascular surgeon and
electrophysiologist training and education programs which will emphasize the clinical efficacy and
ease of use of our minimally invasive system. We also intend to develop patient-oriented marketing
materials for cardiovascular surgeons and hospitals to use to inform patients of the availability and
potential benefits of our minimally invasive system.

s Conduct clinical studies to support our market initiatives.- We intend to create a clinical registry
in our initial centers. We will also be conducting additional studies to support the efficacy of our
ablation systems. We intend to initiate a pre-clinical study after the clearance by the FDA of our
minimally invasive system. This study will be designed to pursue expanded labeling for the specific
indication of AF. We expect to initiate the study in fiscal year 2008. We believe the results of this

~ and other studies, if successful, will allow us to expand our marketing and clinical sales efforts.

Regulatory Clearance
Our ATRILAZE system has received three 510(k) clearances:

¢ In November 2004, our hand-held wand received 510(k) clearance for delivery of laser light to soft
tissue, including cardiac tissue, during surgical procedures. Indications include the incision, excision,
dissection, vaporization, ablation, or coagulation of soft tissue.

e In October 2005, our malleable hand-held wand received 510(k) clearance for delivery of laser light
to soft tissue, including cardiac tissue, during surgical procedures with the same indications,
including the incision, excision, dissection, vaporization, ablation, or coagulation of soft tissue.

e In April 2006, both hand-held devices were the subject of a third 510(k) clearance allowing for the
expansion of our laser base platform by the addition of a second wavelength.

In May 2006, we filed an application for 510(k) clearance for our minimally invasive system. We
expect to introduce this system for commercial use in the second half of 2006.

Sales and Marketing

In the United States, we plan to market the ATRILAZE minimally invasive system through a
specialized, direct sales organization. In expectation of a commercial laurich of our minimally invasive
system during the second half of 2006, we have hired a Vice President of Sales, a Vice President of
Marketing, and a Clinical Specialist. In addition to supporting our current efforts, this team will be .
responsible for the hiring and training of our sales organization. We expect to initially focus on
cardiovascular surgeons who have active open heart practices and are considered to be opinion leaders in
minimally invasive surgical techniques, and on hospitals with well-established cardiovascular programs.
Over time, we expect to expand our sales and marketing organizations to service a broader group of
potential customers. In addition, we intend to build patient awareness through partnerships with
cardiovascular surgeons, their cardiac services partners, and hospitals. Outside the United States, we
intend to develop a network of distributors to assist in our international sales and marketing efforts.




Manufacturing

The minimally invasive system has been designed internally. We expect that the assembly of the
disposable system components and quality control will also take place internally. The manufacture of the
hardware system components will be outsourced to qualified vendors. Product sterilization and related
testing will also be outsourced to qualified vendors. '

Intellectual Property

We intend to aggressively document and protect our intellectual property by obtaining U.S. and
foreign patents to protect technology important to the development of our business. We have filed 14 U.S.
non-provisional patent applications, one provisional U.S. patent application, one international patent
application and one European patent application, relating to products we have designed for use in treating
AF. Obtaining patent protection for our products will be critical to our commercial success. We regularly
conduct searches of third party patents. This includes a review of patents owned by third parties and patent
applications pending known to us as attempting to address treatment of atrial fibrillation using a laser to
ablate cardiac tissue. We regularly search publicly available records for relevant patents assigned to other
companies. During the course of these searches, we identified two issued patents in our field relating to the
use of laser technology for which we deemed it advisable to seek the advice of patent counsel. Based upon
advice from our patent counsel, we believe that the sale and use of our cardiac tissue ablation systems
using infrared laser energy would not infringe any valid claim of these patents.

We cannot assure you that any patents issued to us will be valid, enforceable or otherwise be of value
to us in relation to products of our competitors or the market in general, or that any patent for which we
have applied or may apply will issue. '

In April 2005, we received a letter from Edwards Lifesciences, LLLC (“Edwards”) concerning our
ATRILAZE system, which is the subject of some of our patent applications. Edwards did not claim that
our products infringe any of its patents. Edwards’ letter called to our attention six of its patents and
requested us to comment on how our products differ from the claimed methods and apparatus of the six
specified Edwards patents. We reviewed the specified Edwards’ patents and discussed them with our
patent counsel, and believe that our cardiac ablation systems do not infringe any of these patents. In
response to a further inquiry from Edwards on May 25, 2006, we responded through patent counsel
outlining our position on at least one of the Edwards’ patents. While Edwards did not claim in its letter
that our products infringe its patents, it is likely that in the future, Edwards or others will continue to
inquire regarding our products and patents and possibly make intellectual property claims relating to our
tissue ablation devices. Our defense of any claims made by Edwards, or of any other intellectual property
claims made in the future, regardless of the merits of such claims, could divert the attention of our
technical and management personnel away from developing and marketing our products for significant
periods of time. Further, the cost incurred to defend such claims could be substantial and adversely affect
us, even if we are ultimately successful in defending such claims. An adverse determination in connection
with any of such claims in the future could affect our ability to sell our products, subject us to significant
liabilities to third parties, or require us to modify our products to be non-infringing or seek licenses from
third parties. There can be no assurance that we could be able to so modify our products or obtain licenses
on satisfactory terms. :

We also rely upon trade secrets and proprietary know-how. We require our technical employees and
consultants to agree in writing to keep our proprietary information confidential and, with certain
limitations, to-assign all inventions relating to our business to us.

We have used, and therefore claim common-law rights in, the following trademarks: GLIDETHRU,
ULTRAPURE and ATRILAZE. We have filed an application for a U.S. federal registration for the mark:
ATRILAZE. We also have a federal registration for the marks: MEDICALCV and OMNICARBON.




Competition

Our industry is highly competitive, subject to change, and significantly affected by new product
introductions and other activities of industry participants. Many of our competitors have significantly
greater financial and human resources than we do and.have established reputations with our target
customers, as well as worldwide distribution channels that are more established and developed than ours.
Our primary competitors include AtriCure, Inc., Boston Scientific Corp., CryoCath Technologies, Inc.,

. Edwards Lifesciences Corp., ESTECH, Inc., Medtronic, Inc., and St. Jude Medical, Inc. As of May 2006,
. no company had received FDA approval or clearance to market an ablation system for use as a treatment
for AF in the United States. However, our competitors provide products that have been adopted by
physicians for the off-label treatment of AF. '

We and many of our competitors have developed surgical ablation devices that have been used to
treat AF concomitant with an open-heart surgical procedure. We and these competitors utilize different
technologies as energy sources for their ablation devices, including cryothermy, radiofrequency,
microwave, high-intensity focused ultrasound, and laser. Each of these companies is also currently working
with its core technology to develop dev1ces that can be used as a stand- alone therapy minimally i 1nvasrve
AF treatment. v :

Some of our competitors offer catheter- based treatments, mcludmg Boston Scientific Corp., |
Cardima, Inc., CryoCath Technologies, Inc., CryoCor, Inc., Johnson and Johnson, Inc., Medtronic, Inc.,
and St. Jude Medical, Inc. These companies sell products that aré used by physicians to treat the
population of patients that have AF, but are not candidates for open-heart surgery, which is the same -
group of patients that we believe would most benefit from'stand-alone AF treatments using our minimally
invasive system. Some of these catheter-based treatments already have FDA clearance or approval for
cardiac use, including the treatment of certain arrhythmlas although none has approval for the treatment

. of AF.

‘We believe that once our ATRILAZ]E minimally invasive system is cleared pursuant to the .
FDA 510(k) process, we will compete favorably in the minimally invasive cardiac ablation market. Because
of the size of the AF market and the unmet need for an AF cure, competitors have and will continue to
dedicate significant resources to aggressively market their products. New products that could compete with
us more effectively are likely because the surgical AF treatment market is characterized by extensive
research efforts and technological progress.

Government Regulation

The medical devices we manufacture and market are sub]ect to regulation by the FDA and, in most
instances, by state and foreign authorities or their designated representatlves Under the U.S. Federal
Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder, as a manufacturer of medical -
devices, we must comply with policies and procedurés that regulate the manufacturing, composition,
labeling, testing, packaging and dlstrlbutron of médical devices. In addition, medical devices are subject to
different levels of government approval requirements, the most comprehensrve of which requires the _
completion of an FDA approved clinical evaluation program ; and submission, and approval of a premarket
approval application before a device may be comimercially marketed The FDA also conducts inspections
before approving a premarket approval application to determme comphance with the quahty system
regulations which cover manufacturing and design.

After prémarket approval is received, the FDA may requir'e testing and surveillance programs to
monitor the effectiveness of approved products which have been commercialized. It has the power to -
prevent or limit further marketing of a product based on the results of such post-marketing programs. In
addition, the FDA may, at any time afterthe approval of a premarket approval application, conduct
periodic inspections to determine compliance with good manufacturing practice regulations and current




medical device reporting regulations. If the FDA concludes that we are not in compliance with applicable
laws or regulations, it can institute proceedings to:

e Seize our products;

e Require a product recall;

Withdraw previously granted market clearances;

Implement procedures to stop future violations; and/or

Seek civil and criminal penalties against us.

The FDA also regulates recordkeeping for medical devices and reviews hospital and manufacturers’
required reports of adverse experiences to identify potential problems with FDA-authorized devices.

" Some of the products that we market, including our ATRILAZE system, can be cleared under
Section 510(k) of the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act. Under Section 510(k) a new or significantly
modified device must be shown to be “substantially equivalent” (SE) to an existing legally marketed device.
The new/modified device can be commercially introduced after the filing of a 510(k) premarket application
with the FDA and the subsequent issuance by FDA of a SE determination. The FDA has provided
guidance documents to manufactures of devices governed by Section 510(k) whereby changes made to
previously cleared devices can be evaluated by the manufacturer and a determination can be made as to
the need to file an additional premarket application. We received Section 510(k) clearance for the first
generation of our ATRILAZE system in November 2004 and the second generation product in
Qctober 2005. A third 510(k) clearance was received in April 2006. The process of obtaining
Section 510(k) clearance typically requires less time and expense than the premarket approval process.
Section 510(k) clearance normally takes from three to twelve months, but can take years, and generally
requires the submission of supporting data, which in some cases can be extensive. In addition, the FDA
may require review by an advisory panel as a condition for Section 510(k) clearance. We intend to rely on
the Section 510(k) process with regard to future products that add to or enhance our current cardiac tissue
ablation technology. However, we may develop or acquire technology that will require clearance under the
FDA’s lengthier and expensive premarket approval process, which can take a number of years and can
require extensive supporting documentation. If we encounter difficulties in the premarket approval
process, the commercial marketing of a product could be substantially delayed or prevented.

International sales of medical devices are also subject to extensive regulation. Foreign regulatory
bodies have established varying regulations governing product standards, packaging requirements, labeling
requirements, import restrictions, tariff regulations, duties and tax requirements. Generally, the extent and
complexity of the regulation of medical devices is increasing worldwide, with regulations in some countries
already nearly as extensive as those in the U.S. This trend may continue, and the cost and time required to
obtain marketing approval in any given country thus may increase. We cannot assure you that any foreign
approvals will be allowed on a timely basis, or at all.

To market our products in countries of the European Union, we are required to obtain CE mark
certification. CE mark certification is the international symbol of adherence to certain quality assurance
standards and compliance with European medical device directives. We intend to apply for CE mark
certification for our minimally invasive system product in fiscal year 2007.

Product Liability and Insurance

The development and sale of medical devices entails significant risk of product liability claims and,
sometimes, product failure claims. We face an inherent business risk of financial exposure to product
liability claims if the use of our products results in personal injury or death. We also face the possibility
that defects in the design or the manufacturing of our products could necessitate a product recall. We have




not, to date, experienced significant product liability claims, and we have never had a product recall. We
cannot assure you, however, that we W111 not experience losses in the future due to product liability claims

or recalls.

If patients allege that the use of our cardiovascular surgery devices injured them, we may face
substantial product liability claims. Substantial product liability litigation exists within the medical device
industry. Our products are used in cardiovascular surgery, and their failure may result in patient injury or
death. We have had product liability claims asserted against us in the past, which were resolved under our
insurance coverage without significant financial cost to us. We cannot assure you, however, that future
product liability claims will not exceed the limits of our insurance coverage or that such insurance will
continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Consequently, a product liability
claim or other claim with respect to uninsured liabilities, or in excess of insured liabilities, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows. In addition,
adverse publicity resulting from product liability litigation may materially adversely affect us regardless of
whether the claims are valid or whether we are liable. Furthermore, these claims would likely divert our
financial and management resources that would otherwise be used to-benefit the future performance of
our operations.

We sold more than 50,000 mechanical heart valves between 1992 and 2003. We assume that a majonty
of the patients who received our heart valves are still alive. If any of these patients were to have a problem-
with a heart valve, they could assert claims for damages against us. In April 2005, we placed our product
liability insurance with a new insurance carrier. Our new policy provides us with potential coverage for
claims of up to $5,000,000 per occurrence and in the aggregate per policy year. Concurrently, we purchased
a three-year extended reporting coverage endorsement from our former carrier, which was unwilling to
renew our coverage on the previous terms. The extended reporting period coverage will allow us to seek
coverage under the prior policy for products claims arising from occurrences which took place during such
policy period but which were not asserted against us during the previous policy period.’ :

In March 2005, we became aware that a patient who had been implanted with our heart valve had
died. We have not received any claims related to this matter but believe that any such claim would be
covered by our existing liability insurance. Based upon the expectation that insurance would cover the cost
of any claims after our payment of the deductible, we do not expect the ultimate resolution of this matter
to have a material effect on our business, financial condition, operating results or cash flows.

Employees

As of June 26, 2006, we had 23 full-time employees, including 12 who support or were in research and
development, and the remainder of whom were in administration, regulatory and clinical, and sales and
marketing. We are not a party to any collective bargaining agreement and believe that our relamons with
employees are good. ‘
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Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table provides information with respect to our executivé officers as of June 26, 2006.
Each executive officer has been appointed to serve until his successor is duly appointed by the board or his
earlier removal or resignation from office. Each executive officer’s position with MedicalCV represents
such person’s principal occupation. \ ‘

Name Age Position with MedicalCV DBSH;;?: ’
Marc P. Flores . ..... 41  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 2004
Adam L. Berman . ... 31 Vice President, Rescarch and Development N/A
Eapen Chacko*. .. ... 58  Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer N/A
Robert W.Clapp .... 56  Vice President, Operations N/A
James E. Jeter....... 43 Vice President, Sales N/A
John H. Jungbauver*.. 57  Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer N/A
Dennis E. Steger. .. .. 59 Vice President, Regulatory Affairs and Quality Assurance N/A
‘Gary O. Tegan ....... 39  Vice President, Marketing N/A

*  Mr. Chacko is expected to assume the roles of principal financial officer and principal accounting

officer upon Mr. Jungbauer’s resignation.

Marc P. Flores became our President, Chief Executive Officer and one of our directors in August 2004,
Mr. Flores served as Vice President of Sales & Marketing of Coalescent Surgical, Inc., a company focused
on developing advanced technology for blood vessel anastomoses, from March 2000 to August 2004. Prior
to joining Coalescent, Mr. Flores was Western Regional Manager of Sales for CardioThoracic
Systems, Inc. from June 1997 to March 2000. Before joining CardioThoracic Systems, he held a variety of
management and sales positions with Boston Scientific Corporation, GE Medical Systems and Xerox
Corporation.

Adam L. Berman joined MedicalCV in September 2004 as Vice President, Research and
Development. Mr. Berman has extensive experience and relationships within the cardiac surgery industry.
From July 2001 to August 2004, he was a regional sales manager for Coalescent Surgical, Inc. From
August 1998 to June 2001, he was a regional development manager for Computer Motion, a company
focused on robotic-assisted, minimally invasive approaches for surgery. Before joining Computer Motion,
Mr. Berman held various clinical research positions within the field of cardiac surgery.

Eapen Chacko joined MedicalCV effective June 21, 2006, as Vice President, Finance and Chief
Financial Officer. Mr. Chacko will assume the roles of principal financial officer and principal accounting
officer upon the.resignation of John H. Jungbauer. Mr. Chacko has over 30 years of experience in strategic
planning, investor relations, equity research and economics. From September 2000 to May 2005, he was
Chief Financial Officer of Possis Medical, Inc., a developer, marketer and manufacturer of medical devices
for the endovascular treatment market. Mr. Chacko was Vice President for Investor and Public Relations,
Corporate Communication at Possis from September 1999 to August 2000. From 1995 to 1999, he was
Director of Investor Relations at Fingerhut Companies, a direct marketer and financial services company.
~ Mr. Chacko is a director of Hawkins, Inc., a company that formulates, blends and distributes bulk and
specialty chemicals. Mr. Chacko has been named, along with his former employer Possis Medical, Inc. and
another officer of that company, as a defendant in a securities class action case entitled Crowell; et al. v.
Possis Medical, Inc. et al., No. 05-CV-01084-JMR-FLN, originally filed on June 3, 2005 in the United
States District Court for the District of Minnesota. The consolidated amended class action complaint
alleges violations of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act against all defendants and claims
under Section 20(a) against the officer defendants, all arising out of alleged misstatements and omissions
about that company’s AngioJet product and clinical trials for that product.
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Robert W. Clapp joined MedicalCV in August 2004 as Vice President, Operations. From March 1993
to August 2004, Mr. Clapp was Vice President of Manufacturing, Quality, and Research/Development for
EMPI, where he developed and introduced many new products, improved manufacturing efficiencies and
lowered manufacturing costs. From February 1987 to March 1993, he was Vice President of Manufacturing
for Dacomed Corporation, where he helped introduce five new products into the marketplace in 18
months. Prior to that, Mr. Clapp held engineering and operations positions at Xerxes Corporation,
Medtronic, Inc., Control Data Corporation and AMF Paragon Electric.

James E. Jeter joined MedicalCV in November 2005 as Vice President, Sales. Mr. Jeter most recently
served as a Central States Region Manager for Medtronic, Inc. from August 2004 to November 2005,
where he led a team charged with revenue growth across three product platforms: cardiac
revascularization, atrial fibrillation and Coalescent anastomotic devices. From January 2001 to
August 2004, Mr. Jeter was a Regional Sales Manager, then a Divisional Sales Manager, with Coalescent
Surgical, Inc. tasked with starting and building the anastomotic device business for cardiac and vascular
surgeons in the company’s Central States Division. From July 1999 to January 2001, Mr. Jeter was a
co-managing partner of Innovative Surgical Products. Previously, he held a series of positions, including
Director of Sales, Cardiac Division, with the Genzyme Corporation.

John H. Jungbauer joined MedicalCV in February 2004 as Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial
Officer. Mr. Jungbauer came to our company with more than 26 years of experience in financial
management and long-range planning, international financial/treasury operations, information technology
systems. From 1990 to 2002, Mr. Jungbauer was Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer
with ATS Medical, Inc. During 1988 and 1989, he was Executive Vice President of Titan Medical, Inc.
From 1977 to 1987, he held several financial management positions at St. Jude Medical, Inc., including
Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer from 1981 to 1987. On April 6, 2006, Mr. Jungbauer
announced his intention to resign from his executive officer position at our company. On June 21, 2006,
Mr. Jungbauer’s roles transitioned from Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer to principal
financial officer and principal accounting officer. Mr. Chacko will assume the roles of principal financial
officer and principal accounting officer upon the resignation of Mr. Jungbauer. Further details regarding
the anticipated effective date of Mr. Jungbauer’s resignation are set forth below under “Executive
Compensation—Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment, and Change-in-Control
Arrangements.” :

Dennis E. Steger, Vice President, Regulatory Affairs and Quality Assurance, joined MedicalCV in
September 2001 as Vice President, Quality Assurance. From August 1998 to August 2001, Mr. Steger was
Director Design Quality Assurance for Medtronic Perfusion Systems, where he was responsible for
controlling the development and transfer of new/modified products from research and development to
manufacturing. He also held the position of Director Regulatory Affairs/Quality Assurance & Clinical for
AVECOR Cardiovascular, Inc. from July 1991 to August 1998, where he was responsible for quality
systems, technical support, risk analysis, documentation, and regulatory affairs. He has also held senior
level management positions with Johnson & Johnson Cardiovascular, Extracorporeal Medical Spemalnes
and Tompkins Rubber Company.

Gary O. Tegan, Vice President, Marketing, joined MedicalCV in April 2006. Most recently, Mr. Tegan
served as the Vice President of Sales & Marketing for PneumRx, Inc. from September 2005 through '
April 2006, where he developed and implemented the company’s sales and marketing strategy for its initial
product launch. From June 2004 to September 2005, he served as Vice President of Marketing at Curon
Medical, Inc., a radiofrequency energy based company focused on the treatment of gastrointestinal
disorders. Prior to that, Mr. Tegan was the Director of Marketing for Coalescent Surgical, Inc. from
June 2001 to June 2004, where he helped develop its anastomotic device business using technology-based
marketing techniques. Previously, Mr. Tegan held a series of senior sales and marketing positions at
United States Surgical and Starion Instruments.
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ITEM2 DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

. We lease a 55,000 square foot production and administrative facility located in Inver Grove Heights, a
suburb of Saint Paul, Minnesota. Our facility has approximately 8,000 square feet of general office space
and more than 41,000 square feet of manufacturing space. Our facility is subject to inspection by the FDA
and foreign regulatory agencies as part of their product marketing clearance and surveillance programs. In
April 2003, we sold and leased back this facility in a refinancing transaction with PKM Properties, LLC
(“PKM”), an entity controlled by Paul K. Miller, one of our directors and one of the largest beneficial
owners of our securities. We simultaneously leased back our facility pursuant to a ten-year lease, with
options to renew and an option to repurchase the facility. We continue to utilize the facility as we did prior
to the financing transaction. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation” and the
notes to our financial statemeants for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2006, for more information regarding
such lease.

ITEM3 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On March 9, 2006, ] Giordano Securities LLC (d/b/a J Giordano Securities Group) (“JGSG”) filed
suit against our company in U.S. District Court, District of Connecticut. JGSG claims that it is entitled to
damages due to an alleged breach of the engagement agreement, as amended, between us and JGSG. In
© particular, JGSG claims that the exercise of outstanding warrants for the purchase of common stock by
certain JGSG-identified investors and our purchase of outstanding shares of 5% Series A Redeemable
Convertible Preferred Stock from certain JGSG-identified investors in December 2005 and January 2006
entitle JGSG to damages no less than $1,431,769. In particular, JGSG seeks (a) $279,191 in cash
commissions, (b) warrants for the purchase of 85,905 shares at $3.25 per share, (¢) lost profits of $751,669
on the argument that JGSG would have exercised the foregoing warrant and sold 85,905 shares on
December 30, 2003, at a price of $12.00 per share, and (d) the $400,909 in cash commissions we paid C.E.
Unterberg, Towbin, LLC. JGSG also seeks reimbursement for reasonable expenses, interest, costs and
attorneys’ fees. In addition, JGSG notified us by letter dated May 26, 2006 that, pursuant to the agreement,
it may claim compensation arising out of alleged rights to serve as a co-managing underwriter or member
of the underwriting group of a proposed public offering set forth in the registration statement on
Form SB-2 we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 19, 2006. We believe that this
lawsuit is without merit and intend to vigorously defend ourselves against the lawsuit and any additional
claims brought by JGSG.

ITEM 4 SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
Not applicable.
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PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND SMALL
BUSINESS ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Previously, units of our securities, consisting of common stock and Class A Warrants, traded on the
OTC Bulletin Board; until the expiration of the Class A Warrant component of such units on
November 20, 2004. Due to lack of market makers, our common stock did not trade between
November 19, 2004 and December 20, 2004. Our common stock resumed trading on the OTC Bulletin
Board under the symbol “MDCV” on December 21, 2004. Our common stock currently trades on the OTC
Bulletin Board under the symbol “MCVI.”

The following table sets forth the high and l'ow bid prices as reported by the OTC Bulletin Board for
our units and common stock, as applicable, for the periods indicated. Such quotations reflect inter-dealer
prices, without retail mark-up, markdown or commission, and may not represent actual transactions.

Period High Low
Fiscal Year 2005 ' ,
First Quarter .............. R - $20.50 $13.00
Second QUATTET . .. o vt ettt e e e e e $25.00 $ 7.50
Third Quarter. .................... P $15.10 § 5.00
Fourth Quarter ............. e e $12.50 $ 5.70
Fiscal Year 2006 : 4
First Quarter ............ R $11.90 $ 6.50
Second QUATLET . .. vttt e . $10.00 $ 6.00
Third QUarter. ...t e . 851230 $ 5.30
FourthQuarter .................ivuve. [ $13.60 $ 7.00

As of June 26, 2006, we had 241 shareholders of record and approximately 648 beneficial owners..

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain -
future earnings, if any, to operate and expand our business, and we 'do not anticipate paying cash dividends
on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Any payment of cash dividends in the future will be at the .
discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon our results of operations, earnings, capital
requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors deemed relevant by our board.

See “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder
Matters” in Item 11 for information regarding securities authorized for issuance under our equity
compensation plans.

Sales of Unregistered Securities during the Fourth Quarter of Fiscal Year 2006

On March 22, 2006, Tower Finance, Ltd. (“Tower”) exercised a portion of its warrant to purchase
37,214 units on a net exercise basis, resulting in the issuance of (a) 11,270 shares of our common stock and
(b) a warrant to purchase 11,270 shares of our common stock, at an exercise price of $18.375 per share,
which expires on April 30, 2009. Following this partial exercise, Tower retained a unit warrant to purchase
14,989 units, at an exercise price of $4.70 per unit, which also expires on April 30, 2009. Each unit consists
of one share of common stock and one warrant to purchase one share of common stock at an exercise price
of $18.375 per share.

On April 19, 2006, Tower exercised its warrant to purchase 14,989 units on a net exercise basis,
resulting in the issuance of (a) 8,738 shares of our common stock and (b) a warrant to purchase 8,738
shares of our common stock, at an exercise price of $18.375 per share, which expires on April 30, 2009.

The foregoing issuances were made in reliance upon the exemption provided in Section 4(2) of the
Securities Act. Certificates representing such securities contain restrictive legends preventing sale, transfer
or other disposition, unless registered under the Securities Act. Except as set forth above, no discount or
commission was paid in connection with the foregoing issuances.
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ITEM6 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PLAN OF OPERATION

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction
with our historical financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this document. This discussion
contains forward-looking statements that involve significant risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors,
such as those set forth in our Cautionary Statement and elsewhere in this document, our actual results may
differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements. Also, see our Cautionary Statement
for a discussion of the material risks and uncertainties applicable to our business.

Overview

Our ATRILAZE system utilizes laser energy in cardiac tissue ablation procedures in open-heart
surgery. We acquired the initial technology in August 2003 and we have developed several generations of
products beyond the initial technology purchase. We received FDA 510(k) clearances for the first
generation product in November 2004 and the second generation product in October 2005. In addition, we
received a third 510(k) clearance in April 2006 which covered an additional laser wavelength.

The ATRILAZE system with its laser technology platform is currently being utilized to ablate cardiac
tissue concomitantly, or in conjunction, with open-heart surgical procedures. Our strategy is to leverage
our laser technology to develop a stand-alone, minimally invasive treatment for atrial fibrillation, or AF.
We define a minimally invasive treatment as being one in which the procedure is performed on a beating
heart in a closed-chest setting. We submitted an application for FDA 510(k) clearance of our minimally
invasive system in May 2006 and expect to introduce this system for commercial use in the second half of
2006.

We have begun supplying our current product, the ATRILAZE system, a hand-held wand, to select
centets for surgical ablation in concomitant open-heart procedures to increase surgeon exposure to our

products. We do not expect 51gn1f1cant revenue until we introduce our ATRILAZE minimally invasive
system,.

Our company was incorporated in Minnesota on March 30, 1992, under the name CV Dynamiics, Inc.
In April 1992, we acquired all of the tangible and intangible assets of Omnicor, Inc. Omnicor resulted from
the corporate and financial restructuring of a predecessor company called Medical Incorporated, which

was organized in 1971 to develop and market the Lillehei-Kaster heart valve, licensed from the University
of Minnesota.

Until November 2004, we developed and marketed mechanical heart valves known as the
Omnicarbon® 3000 and 4000 heart valves. In November 2004, after an exhaustive evaluation of the heart
valve business, we discontinued all heart valve related production. In April 2005, we announced that our
efforts to fmd a buyer for the heart valve business had been unsuccessful and that we would stop selling
heart Valves and were exiting the heart valve business. At that time, we also determined to direct all of our
resources to the development and introduction of products targeting the treatment of AF.,

Reverse Split

On May 31, 2006, we effected a reverse stock split pursuant ta which every ten shares of our common
stock and every ten shares of our preferred stock were combined into one share of common stock and one
share of preferred stock, respectively, without any change in the par value of the shares. Our authorized
capital stock was reduced in like manner. No fractional shares were issued as a result of the reverse split,
and any fractional share interests will be paid in cash. The reverse split was approved by our board of
directors without shareholder approval in accordance with the requirements of Minnesota law. Historical
share data presented herein gives retroactive effect to this reverse stock split.
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Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
financial statements and accompanying notes. We believe our estimates and assumptions are reasonable;
however, actual results and the timing of the recognition of such amounts could differ from those estimates. We
have identified the following critical accounting policies and estimates utilized by management in the
preparation of our financial statements: revenue recognition, inventory obsolescence, accounting for income
taxes, and accounting for stock-based compensation. Actual amounts could differ significantly from
management’s estimates.

Revenue Recognition.. We recognize revenue using guidance from SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 104 “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements.” Revenue from the sale of our products is
recognized provided that we have received a written order, the price is fixed, title has transferred, -
collection of the resulting receivable is probable and there are no remaining obligations. We did not
generate any revenues related to our ATRILAZE system through the fiscal year ended April 30, 2006. All
revenues for fiscal year 2006 and prior pertain only to our discontinued heart valve business and are
reported as part of discontinued operatlons

Inventory Obsolescence. In determining the appropriate carrymg value of our inventories,
management considers a number of factors, including the aging of our inventory, recent sales trends,
industry market conditions and economic conditions. Although adjustments to the carrying value-of our
inventories reflect our best estimates, the estimates require a large degree of judgment. At April 30, 2005,
the carrying value of our heart valve inventories reflected the cost of only the heart valves that we
subsequently sold in May 2005. These inventories are reported as a component of our current assets of
discontinued operations. All other inventories of the discontinued heart valve business have been reduced
to a carrying value of zero.

»

Deferred Income Tax Assets. In assessing the realizability of our deferred tax assets, management
considers whether it is more likely than not that our deferred income tax assets will be realized. The
ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets is dependent on the generation of future taxable i income,
which must occur prior to the expiration of our net operating loss and credit carryforwards, which comprise
the majority of the deferred tax assets. As of April 30, 2006, we had established a valuation allowance of
$13,565,631 to fully offset our deferred tax assets due to uncertainty about generating sufficient future
taxable income necessary to realize these deferred tax assets, particularly in light of our history of
significant operating losses. In addition, future utilization of available net operating loss carryforwards may
be limited under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 as a result of changes in ownership.

Stock-Based Compensation. We account fdr stock-based employee compensation arrangements in '
accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock

~* Issued to Employees,” and its interpretations whereby the difference between the exercise price and the

fair value on the date of grant is recognized as compensation expense. Under the intrinsic value method of
accounting, no compensation expense is recognized in our statement of operations when the exercise price
of our employee/director stock option grants equals or is greater than the market price of the underlying
common stock at the date of grant, and the measurement date of the option grant is certain. The
measurement date is certain when the date of grant is fixed and determinable. Compensation cost for
employee stack options is measured as the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of our stock at the
date of grant over the amount that the employee is required to pay for the stock. Options issued to non-
employees/non-directors are accounted for as required by Statement of Financial Accountlng Standards
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” '
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Recent Accounting Developments

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment—an amendment of
SFAS No. 123,” which requires companies to recognize in the statement of operations the grant-date fair
value of stock options and other equity-based compensation issued to employees. SFAS No. 123R is
effective for companies filing under SEC Regulation S-B as of the beginning of the first interim or annual
reporting period of the first fiscal year that begins after December 15, 2005, which for us will be the first
quarter of our fiscal year ending April 30, 2007. We will use the modified prospective application method.
Under the modified prospective application method, awards that are granted, modified or settled after the
date of adoption will be measured and accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 123R. Compensation
costs for awards granted prior to, but not vested, as of the date SFAS No. 123R is adopted would be based
on grant date attributes similar to those originally used to value those awards for the proforma purposes
under SFAS No. 123. We are in the process of evaluating the impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 123R.

In March 2005, the SEC released SAB'No. 107, “Share-Based Payments.” The interpretations in SAB
No. 107 express views of the SEC staff regarding the interaction between SFAS No. 123R and certain SEC
rules and regulations, and provide the staff’s views regarding the valuation of share-based payment
arrangements for public companies. In particular, SAB No. 107 provides guidance related to share-based
payment transactions with non-employees, valuation methods (included assumptions such as expected
volatility and expected term), the classification of compensation expense, non-GAAP financial measures,
first-time adoption of SFAS No. 123R in an interim period, capitalization of compensation costs related to
share-based payment arrangements, accounting for income tax effects of share-based payment
arrangements upon adoption of SFAS No. 123R, modification of employee share options prior to adoption
of SFAS No. 123R and disclosures in Management’s Discussion and Analysis subsequent to the adoption
of SFAS No. 123R. SAB No. 107 requires stock-based compensation to be classified in the same expense

lines as cash compensation is reported for the same employees. We will apply the interpretations of SAB
No. 107 in conjunction with our adoption of SFAS No. 123R.

Results of Gperations for the Fiscal Years Ended April 30, 2006 and 2005

Sales and Marketing, Continuing Operations.  Sales and marketing expenses for the fiscal year ended
April 30, 2006 were $525,384 compared to $317,386 in the prior fiscal year. Sales and marketing expenses
for both periods were comprised of expenses related to the marketing of our ATRILAZE system. The
major components in the increase in sales and marketing expense were an increase in salaries and related
costs of $108,256 and an increase in travel and related costs of $46,088,

General and Admiﬁistrative,‘ Continuing Operations. General and administrative expenses for the
fiscal year ended April 30, 2006, were $3,459,916 compared to $4,012,506 for the fiscal year ended April 30,
2005. The major components of the decrease in general and administrative expense were a reduction in

consulting fees of $1,027,470, offset in part by increases in personnel cost of $136,424 and professional fees
of $266,256.

Research and Development Services, Continuing Operations. Research and development services
include expenses we previously referred to as research and development expenses and engineering and
regulatory expenses. Expenses related to research and development services were $3,471,241 for the fiscal
year ended April 30, 2006 compared to $1,581,016 in the prior fiscal year. The increase in research and
development services expense was primarily attributable to increased consulting and advisory board fees
and expenses of $899,812, increased personnel costs of $405,783, increased material costs of $159,132, a
milestone payment of $125,000, and increased travel expenses of $97,109.

Other Income (Expense). Net other income was $16,770,731 for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2006
compared to net other expense of $11,310,583 for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2005. During the fiscal
year ended April 30, 2006, we amended the terms related to the exercise price and expiration date of the
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putable warrants we issued in April 2005. The changes resulted in the recording of other income in the
amount of $6,744,930 in the fiscal year ended April 30, 2006. In addition, due to the decrease in our stock
price between April 30, 2005 and the date the putable warrants were exercised, we recorded the reduction
to the fair value of the putable warrants of $9,804,527 in other income in the statement of operations
during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2006. The fair value of these warrants upon the closing of our
preferred stock sale on April 1, 2005 was $22,271,047. Because the fair value of these warrants at April 1,
2005 exceeded the proceeds received in the redeemable convertible preferred stock and warrant issuances,
the excess of the fair value of the warrants over the proceeds received of $4,266,047 was recognized as
other expense upon closing in fiscal year 2005. In addition, during the period between closing and April 30,
2005, the fair value of the warrants increased by $5,721,562 which amount was included in other expense in
the statement of operations for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2005. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources”
below for a more detailed discussion of our accounting for these warrants. Interest expense totaled
$177,401 in the fiscal year ended April 30, 2006, compared to $1,352,183 in the prior fiscal year. The
decrease in interest expense was due to the decreased amount of borrowings outstanding. Interest income
totaled $384,773 for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2006 compared to $22,994 in the prior fiscal year. The
increase was due to a greater amount of cash available in fiscal year 2006.

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations.  For fiscal year 2006, our income from continuing
operations totaled $9,314,190. For fiscal year 2005, our loss from continuing operations totaled
$17,221,491. The increase in income from continuing operations resulted from the other income discussed

above.

Discontinued Operations. Discontinued operations relate to the heart valve business. The loss from
discontinued operations of $81,800 for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2006 resulted from costs and
expenses of $557,780 being partially offset by sales of $338,333 and a gain on disposition of assets of
$137,647. The loss of $1,873,381 in the fiscal year ended April 30, 2005 related to costs and expenses of
$4,178,278, being, partially offset by sales of $2,304,897.

Dividends on Preferred Stock. During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2006, we offered to repurchase
certain outstanding shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock pursuant to our preferred stock
acquisition plan. Our acquisition of the redeemable convertible preferred stock in consideration of the
issuance of 3,077 shates of common stock per share of redeemable convertible preferred stock resulted in a
non-cash dividend on the redeemable convertible preferred stock of $13,579,979. In addition, cash
dividends of $588,542 were paid during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2006.

Income Tax Provision. In light of our history of operating losses, we have historically recorded a
valuation allowance to fully offset our deferred tax assets. We have continued to provide a full valuation
allowance throughout fiscal year 2006 due to the inherent uncertainty about our ability to generate
sufficient taxable income to realize these deferred tax assets. We have recorded no tax provision in fiscal -
years 2006 and 2005 due to net operating losses generated for income tax reporting purposes.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents were $10,351,570 at April 30; 2006 compared to $10,637,796 at April 30,
2005. The decrease in cash and cash equivalents was due-to the following:

Net cash used by operating activities .. ....:....oooee i an, $(5,859,025)
Net cash used by investing activities. .. .......0.....coviuvevenn.nn. (3,611)
Net cash provided by financing activities. ................ e 5,576,410

Netdecrease. ..o, e P $ (286,226)
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Net cash used by operating activities totaled $5,859,025 and $5,538,337 in fiscal years 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Net income of $9,232,390 in fiscal year 2006 was offset by net non-cash adjustments of
$16,095,655, relating primarily to the decrease in the fair value of putable warrants and gain from the sale
of property, plant and equipment. The net change in operating assets and liabilities of $1,004,240 related
primarily to the decrease in accounts receivable.

Net cash used by investing activities totaled $3,611 and $195,543 in fiscal years 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Purchases of property, plant and equipment of $350,418 and $218,666 in fiscal years 2006 and
2005, respectively, were offset by proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment of $346,807 and
$23,123 in fiscal years 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Net cash provided by financing activities totaled $5,576,410 and $15,711,820 in fiscal years 2006 and
2005, respectively. In fiscal year 2006, the cash provided by financing activities resulted primarily from net
. proceeds received from the exercise of warrants partially offset by preferred stock cash dividends and
principal payments under related party lease obligations. In fiscal year 2005, the cash provided by financing
activities resulted from net proceeds from the issuance of redeemable convertible preferred stock and
warrants, common stock and warrants and from borrowings on long-term debt partially offset by payments
of term debt and related party lease obligations.

Financing Activities

Throughout fiscal years 2006 and 2005, we entered into a number of transactions to provide funds

necessary to meet our working capital and capital expenditure needs and to meet other obligations. Details
of these activities are set forth below.

e 2004 Private Placement. During February, April and May, 2004, we conducted a private placement
to accredited investors of units, with each unit consisting of one share of common stock and one
common stock purchase warrant. In this placement, we sold 273,076 units for aggregate gross
proceeds of $4,014,222. During fiscal year 2005, we received gross proceeds from this placement of
$2,265,123. The five-year warrants sold with the common stock are exercisable to purchase an
aggregate of 273,076 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $16.00 per share. In connection
with the placement, we issued our placement agent a five-year warrant to purchase 12,327 units at
an exercise price of $18.375 per unit, paid our placement agent cash commissions of $181,210 and
paid our placement agent a non-accountable expense allowance of $67,954. In addition, we issued a
finder a five-year warrant to purchase 9,518 units at an exercise price of $18.375 per unit, paid a
finder’s fee of $140,928 and reimbursed a finder for expenses of $4,163. The warrants underlying
the unit warrants issued to the placement agent and the finder are exercisable for a period of five-
years at an exercise price of $18.375 per share. As a result of anti-dilution adjustments through
April 30, 2006, these unit warrants became exercisable in the aggregate for 85,401 units at $4.70 per
unit, with each unit consisting of one share of common stock and one warrant exercisable for one
share of common stock. In March and April 2006, warrants to purchase 37,214 units were exercised
on a net exercise basis. At April 30, 2006, warrants to purchase 48,187 units at $4.70 per unit
remained exercisable.

o Credit Agreements with PKM and Hauser. On November 17, 2004, we entered into a discretionary
credit agreement with PKM Properties, LLC (“PKM”), an entity controlled by Paul K. Miller, one
of our directors and one of the largest beneficial owners of our securities, pursuant to which we
borrowed $500,000. This discretionary credit agreement had a maturity date of February 28, 2005,
that was extended to June 30, 2005. It required the payment of interest at a rate of 10 percent per
year. It also contained various representations and loan covenants as are customary in banking and
finance transactions. We issued a credit note to PKM to evidence such indebtedness. In connection
with this discretionary credit agreement, we entered into an intellectual property security agreement
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with PKM, pursuant to which we granted PKM a security interest in all of our intellectual property.
We also acknowledged and accepted a third amendment to the first amended and restated
subordination.and intercreditor agreement by and between PKM and Peter L. Hauser, a beneficial
owner of our securities. Pursuant to this agreement, proceeds borrowed under this discretionary
credit agreement were deemed “senior debt.” Further, PKM, pursuant to a waiver agreement,
waived past defaults under the discretionary credit agreements from January 2003 and

November 2003. As additional consideration for the discretionary credit agreement we entered into
in November 2004, we issued to PKM a warrant with a ten-year term to purchase 3,401 shares of .
our common stock at $14.70 per share. As a result of anti-dilution adjustments through April 30,
2006, this warrant is exercisable for 11,363 shares at $4.40 per share. This debt was converted into
convertible preferred stock and warrants in April 2005, as described below.

Bridge Financing. On December 31, 2004, we issued $225,000 principal amount of convertible
bridge notes due May 31, 2003, to certain accredited investors. On January 13, 2005, we issued
$200,000 principal amount of convertible bridge notes due May 31, 2003, to an accredited investor.
The notes bore interest at the rate of 10 percent per vear and were convertible into securities to be
issued in our next equity financing. In April 2005, these notes were converted in connection with the
preferred stock financing described below, at 100 percent of the issuance price of such securities. In
consideration of converting at 100 percent rather than 80 percent of the issuance price of the
preferred stock, the note holders were permitted to retain the warrants issued to them in
connection with the convertible bridge financing.

In connection with the issuance of these notes, we issued five-year warrants to the investors for the
purchase of an aggregate of 8,500 shares of common stock. Such warrants are exercisable to
purchase common stock at a price per share of $5.00. The allocated fair value of the warrants was
$79,030 and was dccounted for as a discount on the borrowings. This discount, which was initially
presented as a reduction of the carrying value of the debt, was amortized as interest expense
through the April 2005 conversion date of the nates.

In connection with these i issuances, we paid Tower, a finder, a cash commission equal to 8 percent
of the gross proceeds raised from investors introduced to us by Tower and we agreed to issue a five-
year common stock purchase warrant to Tower for the purchase of a number of shares equal to 8
percent of the total possible shares issuable to Tower-introduced investors in this financing at an
exercise price of $6.25 per share.

These bridge notes were converted into preferred stock and warrants in April 2005 at 100 percent of
‘the issuance price of such securities, as described below. Because the convertible bridge notes
provided a contingent conversion option to the note holders which resulted in a beneficial
conversion price when converted, we recorded an interest charge of $68,000 upon conversion of
these notes in April 2005.

Sale of P}eferred Stock and Warrants.  On April 1, 2005, under the terms of a Securities Purchase
Agreement with accredited investors, we issued 1,803 shares of 5% Series A Redeemable
Convertible Preferred Stock (“preferred stock”) to such investors, five-year warrants for the
purchase of 2,705,250 shares of common stock to such investors exercisable at $5.00 per share, and
five-year warrants for the purchase in the aggregate of 163,596 shares of common stock to the
placement agent and finder exercisable at $5.00 per share. Each share of preferred stock, which was
non-voting, had a stated value of $10,000 per share and accrued dividends at a rate of 5% of the
stated value annually, was convertible into the number of shares of common stock equal to the
"$10,000 stated value divided by $5.00, subject to anti-dilution adjustments. We obtained gross cash
proceeds of $13,603,000 at the closing (net of $30,000 in legal fees which were withheld by the lead
investor). We also converted $4,402,000 of indebtedness into the above-referenced securities. We
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incurred cash offering costs of $817,980, including agent commissions, a finder’s fee and out-of-
pocket expense reimbursements. We also paid legal and administrative expenses of $18,086
incurred by PKM in this transaction.

In certain circumstances, we could have required the preferred shareholders to convert their shares
into common stock. In the event of a fundamental transaction, as defined, the preferred
shareholders had the right to require us to redeem the preferred shares at their stated value,
including any accrued but unpaid dividends. In the event of certain defaults, the preferred
shareholders had the right to require us to redeem the preferred shares at 110 percent their stated
value, including any accrued but unpaid dividends. As a result of these redemption provisions, the
carrying value of these preferred shares was considered to be redeemable and was reported as a
“mezzanine” instrument on our balance sheet beginning on April 30, 2005. The aggregate
liquidation value of these redeemable preferred shares at April 30, 2005, was $18,109,116. However,
the carrying.value of this redeemable preferred stock at April 30, 2005, was zero, net of a discount
associated with the warrants issued to the shareholders, the placement agent and the finder, as
described below. No redeemable convertible preferred stock was outstanding at April 30, 2006.

We were required to register the common shares underlying the preferred stock and the common
shares underlying the warrants. If we did not meet certain registration deadlines, the holders of
preferred stock were entitled to liquidated damages, as defined. In the event of a fundamental
transaction, as defined, the warrants issued tothe preferred shareholders, the placement agent and
the finder, all provided the warrant holders with the right to put the warrants'to us for cash in an
amount equal to the fair value of the warrants, as determined using the Black Scholes option pricing
model. As a result of this put right, the warrants were reported at their fair value as a liability on our
balance sheet and changes in the fair value of the warrant resulted in charges or benefits to our
results of operations. The fair value of these warrants upon closing of the preferred stock sale was
$22,271,047. Because the fair value of these warrants at April 1, 2005 exceeded the proceeds
received in the preferred stock and warrant issuances, the excess of the fair value of the warrants
over the proceeds received (including the converted debt) was recognized as other expense of
$4,266,047 upon closing. During the period between closing and April 30, 2005, the fair value of
these warrants increased to $27,992,609. We reported the $5,721,562 increase in fair value of
putable warrants in other expense in the statement of operations for the fiscal year ended April 30,
2005. The fair value of the warrants, after the changes in terms noted below, was $11,443,152 at the
date the warrants were exercised or the put option was removed. We reported the $16,549,457
decrease in fair value of putable warrants in other income in the statement of operations for the
year ended April 30, 2006. '

Purchase of Preferred Stock and Exercise of Warrants. Holders of a majority of the outstanding
shares of preferred stock authorized us to proceed with a preferred stock acquisition plan. Pursuant
to such plan, on December 21, 2005, we entered into preferred stock acquisition agreements with
the holders of an aggregate of 1,499 shares of preferred stock. Under the agreements, we acquired
the preferred stock of each such holder in consideration of the issuance 3,077 shares of common
stock for each share of preferred stock being acquired. On January 6, 2006, under the same form of
preferred stock acquisition agreements, we acquired an additional 271 shares of preferred stock,
representing all of the remaining then-outstanding shares of our preferred stock, for the same per
share consideration. In the aggregate, we issued 5,447,814 shares of common stock in consideration
of the acquisition of 1,770 shares of preferred stock. We originally sold 1,803 shares of preferred
stock. The 33 shares of preferred stock not purchased in December 2005 or January 2006 were
converted between June 2005 and October 2005 into shares of common stock at a conversion ratio-
of 2,000 shares of common stock for each share of preferred stock.
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Also on December 21, 2005, we and holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of preferred
stock and related common stock purchase warrants entered into-an amendment to the securities
purchase agreement as of April 1, 2005, to revise certain definitions contained therein. Following
such amendment, on December 21, 2005, we and each of the holders who originally agreed to sell
preferred stock to our company entered into amendments to such holders’ warrants issued under
the securities purchase agreement. Pursuant to these amendments, we (1) reduced the exercise
price on outstanding warrants for the purchase of an aggregate of 2,296,950 shares of common stock
held by such persons from $5.00 per share to $3.25 per share, and (2) accelerated the expiration
date of such warrants from April 1, 2010, to January 6, 2006. Concurrent with such warrant
amendments, investors delivered warrant exercise notices to our company. We authorized one of
such warrants, namely the warrant for the purchase of 445,200 shares held by PKM, to be exercised
on a net exercise basis (using a market price of $6.60 per share).

On January 6, 2006, under the same form of amended warrant agreements, investors exercised
warrants for the purchase of 423,050 shares of common stock. We authorized one of such warrants,
namely the warrant for the purchase of 151,200 shares held by Mr. Hauser, to be exercised on a net
exercise basis (using a market price of $6.60 per share).

In the aggregate, we issued 2,411,567 shares of common stock in connection with the exercises by

investors of investor warrants issued in our April 2005 private placement. We also issued an

additional 14,750 shares of common stock in connection with exercises of warrants originally issued
+ to our agent and finder in our April 2005 private placement.

Also on January 6, 2006, pursuant to exercise notices dated January 5, 2006, we issued shares of
common stock upon the exercise of certain other warrants. In particular, holders of warrants for the
purchase of an aggregate of 107,850 shares of common stock, which were originally issued to our
placement agent in our April 2005 financing, were exercised. Of such number, warrants for the
purchase of 1,500 shares were exercised for cash and warrants for the purchase of 106,350 shares
were exercised on a net exercise basis, resulting in the issuance of 75,974 shares of common stock.
Also effective January 6, 2006, we amended the outstanding finder warrant for the purchase of
40,996 shares of common stock to adjust the exercise price to $3.25 per share and eliminate the
right to put the warrant to us for cash in an amount equal to the fair value of the warrants in the
event of a fundamental transaction.

The net effect of the December 2005 and January 2006 transactions was to increase cash by
$6,435,140 (net of expenses of $471,435), decrease the warrant liability associated with the warrants
containing a put feature by $18,188,082, increase common stock and additional paid-in capital by
$31,458,271, increase non-cash dividends on preferred stock by $13,579,979 because of the change
in the number of common shares issued upon acquisition of the preferred stock and increase other
“income by $6,744,930. The outstanding shares of common stock were increased by 7,951,605 shares.

e Filing of Registration Statement for Public Offering.  On May 19, 2006, we filed a registration
statement on Form SB-2 with the Securities and Exchange Commission related to a proposed public
offering of common stock, Recent market conditions have delayed such proposed public offering.
We cannot assure you that we will complete such offering on favorable terms, or at all.

Analysis

We anticipate that our sales and marketing, general and administrative and research and development
services expenses will continue to constitute a material use of our cash resources. The actual amounts and
timing of our expenses will vary significantly depending upon progress on our product development
projects and the availability of financing. Given our cash balance of $10,351,570 at April 30, 2006, we
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anticipate that we will require additional financing to enable us to build inventory, launch and market our
ATRILAZE minimally invasive system and provide working capital to support our operations,

Our capital requ1rements may vary depending upon the timing and the success of the implementation
of our busmess plan, regulatory, technological and competitive developments orif:

o Sales of our products are not achieved;

o Operating losses exceed our projections;

o Our manufacturing and development costs or estimates prove to be inaccurate; or
o We determine to acquire, license or develop additional technologies.

We cannot, however, assure you that our efforts to enter the market-for treating atrial fibrillation
through laser ablation will: -

Be attainable;

=]

]

Be profitable; -

o

Reduce our reliance upon financing transactions; or

®

Enable us to continue operations.

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities at April 30, 2006

Product Liability Contingency. - In March 2005, we became aware that a patient who had been
implanted with our heart valve had died. We have not received any claims related to this matter but believe
that any such claim would be covered by our existing liability insurance. Based upon the expectation that
insurance would cover the cost of any claims after our payment of the deductible, we do not expect the
ultimate resolution of this matter to have a material effect on our business, financial condition, operating .
results and cash flows.

Related Party Lease Obligation. On April 4, 2003, we sold our corporate headquarters, manufacturing
facility and surrounding land in Inver Grove Heights, Minnesota, to PKM. In connection with the
transaction, we received total consideration of $3.84 million consisting of (1) $1.0 million in cash, ,
(2) PKM’s assumptlon of our $2.5 million outstanding indebtedness to Associated Bank which eliminated
our indebtedness to Associated Bank, and (3) PKM’s assumption of our promissory note with Dakota
Electric Association and land special assessments payable to Dakota County aggregating $336,105.

-We simultaneously leased back our facility pursuant.to a ten-year lease, with options to renew and an
option to repurchase the facility. We continue to utilize the facility as we did prior to the financing
transaction.

Severance Contingencies. At April 30, 2006, employment agreements with seven executive officers
contained a provision for lump sum payments of up to twelve months severance if the employment of the
officer is terminated without cause by us or for good reason by the officer as defined in the contracts.

Cn April 6, 2006, we entered into an amendment to the executive employment agreement with
John H. Jungbauer, our principal financial officer and principal accounting officer, to reflect the mutual
decision reached concerning his departure from our company. Pursuant to the amendment,
Mr. Jungbauer’s employment will terminate on the date we advise him that we have engaged a new chief
financial officer and/or principal accounting officer. The actual termination date will be no earlier than
July 31, 2006. We also have the right, at our option, to extend Mr. Jungbauer’s employment (as a non-
officer) for a transition period. Such transition period will not, without Mr. Jungbauer’s consent, continue
beyond December 31, 2006. Mr. Jungbauer’s compensation and benefits will continue to be paid under the
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employment agreement at their current rates through the termination date and any transition period.
Under terms of the employment agreement, Mr. Jungbauer has the right to terminate his employment
upon 60 days’ prior notice and is entitled to a severance payment equal to six months of base
compensation. Under the employment agreement, Mr. Jungbauer will receive a severance payment of
$100,000 on his termination date. To facilitate a smooth transition, we have also agreed to make an
additional severance payment to Mr. Jungbauer. Under the amendment, Mr, Jungbauer will receive an
additional severance payment of $100,000 on January 2, 2007. In addition to these severance payments, we
have agreed to pay or reimburse Mr. Jungbauer for medical (COBRA) benefits for the periods covered by
the severance payments. A liability of $131,793 for the severance payments, related payroll taxes, and
medical benefits is included in accrued expenses on our balance sheet at April 30, 2006 and the expense is
included in general and administrative expenses in the statement of operations for the fiscal year then
ended. Mr. Jungbauer holds stock options for the purchase of 144,012 shares of our common stock.

Mr. Jungbauer’s stock option agreements provide that he has three months following termination of
employment to exercise the vested portions thereof. Options to purchase 44,065 shares of our common
stock will be vested on July 1, 2006. Pursuant to the amendment, we agreed to amend Mr. Jungbauer’s
stock option agreements to provide that his options, to the extent vested on the termination date, will be
‘exercisable for a period of twelve months following the termination of Mr. Jungbauer’s employment. In
July 2006, we agreed to retroactively rescind the provision in the amendment that provided Mr. Jungbauer
twelve months following termination of employment to exercise the vested portions thereof and revert to
the original terms of the stock option agreements that provide Mr. Jungbauer three months following
termination of employment to exercise the vested portions thereof.

Technology Purchase Agreement. In August 2003, we entered into a technology purchase agreement
with LightWave Ablation Systems, Inc. (“LightWave”) and its principals, one of whom became a current
employee of our company, relating to the acquisition of LightWave’s interests in technology consisting of a
catheter/probe containing elements of optical fiber, coolant passages-and other features for the purpose of
delivering laser energy to the epicardial surface of the heart for treatment of atrial fibrillation. We paid
LightWave an initial standstill payment consisting of 1,500 shares of our common stock, $10,000 upon
closing and an additional $30,000 to LightWave in installments in 2004 and 2005. In addition, at closing,
during fiscal year 2004, we issued to LightWave a warrant for the purchase of 2,500 shares of common
stock at $14.60 per share and, during fiscal year 2005, a warrant for the purchase of 2,500 shares of
common stock at $14.60 per share upon receiving FDA 510(k) clearance. Il addition, we are obligated to
issue a warrant for the purchase of 2,500 shares of common stock upon receipt of a U.S. utility patent
covering the product and a warrant for the purchase of 2,500 shares of common stock upon the first
commercial sale of our product. '

A milestone payment of $125,000 was made to LightWave in January 2006. We will be obligated to
pay an additional $385,000 within 45 days following our achievement of $1,500,000 of cumulative gross
sales of disposable products.
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In addition, following the first commercial sale, we have agreed to pay LightWave payments equal to
6 percent of net sales of the LightWave product in countries in which we obtain patent protection and
‘4 percent of net sales of the LightWave product in territories in which there is no patent protection.
Commencing with the second year following our first commercial sale, we have agreed to pay minimum
annual payments as follows:

Year Following . Minimum Annual
Commercialization Payment
e e e e $ 50,000
1 PP $ 75,000
S A $100,000
. JP S P $200,000
B e e e $300,000
T e e e $350,000
A $350,000
O e $400,000
B0 e e e $500,000

We are obligated to make payments for a period of ten years following the first commercial sale. Our
technology purchase agreement with LightWave contains other customary conditions, including mutual
indemnification obligations. LightWave and two of its principals have agreed to certain noncompetition
obligations, nondisclosure obligations, and certain obligations to assign new developments or inventions
relating to the acquired technology to our company. We have agreed to use our reasonable commercial
efforts to commercialize the technology within three years following the acquisition of the technology from
LightWave. If we fail in any year to pay minimum annual payments, we may be obligated to grant
LightWave a nonexclusive right to use the technology acquired from LightWave, or pay nghtWave the
difference between payments actually made and minimum payments due for a given year.

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of April 30, 2006, excluding product
liability contingencies, severance contingencies, and payments that are - contingent upon achievement of
future development and sales milestones, as described above:

Payments Due By Period
Two to Four or
Summary of Less than Three More
Contractual Obligations | ) TOTAL One Year Years Years
Related Party Lease Obligation(1).................. $2,014,034 $432344 $877,468 $1,604,222
Accrued Severance. . ... 131,793 131,793 —_ —_
OperatingLease. ... i ann. 22,580 5,530 11,060 5,990
Total Contractual Obligations. ..................... $3,068,407 $569,667 $888,528 $1,610,212

(1) Includes interest

- Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We have discontinued sales of heart valves and are focusing all of our resources on the development
and introduction of our ATRILAZE system. Sales in fiscal year 2007 are not expected to be material, and
we expect that any sales will be in the United States denominated in U.S. dolars. Our interest income and
expenses are sensitive to changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates, particularly since our
investments are in short-term instruments. At April 30, 2006, we held a majority of our cash in a money
market account. Based on the current nature and levels of our investments we believe that we currently
have no material market risk exposure.

Our general investing policy is to limit market and credit risk and the risk of principal loss. All liquid
investments with maturities of three months or less are considered to be cash equivalents.
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Cautieonary Statement

Ivesting in our common stock involves a hzgh degree of risk. You should consider carefully the risks ‘
described below and the other information in this document, mcludzng our financial statements and the related
notes included elsewhere in this document, before deciding to invest in our common stock. If any of the
following risks actually occur, they may materially harm our business and our financial condition and results of
operations. In this event, the market price of our common stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of
your investment.

The development and commercialization of our ATRILAZE minimally invasive system, which has not
yet been cleared by the FDA, is critical for our success. In May 2006, we filed an application with the
FDA to obtain FDA 510(k) clearance for our ATRILAZE minimally invasive system. We cannot assure
you that we will receive such clearance in a timely manner, if at all. Failure to receive clearance would have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows. Even if we
do receive FDA 510(k) clearance, we will not initially be able to market the system as an effective means of
treating AF until we can demonstrate. its clinical efficacy to the FDA.

If we do receive FDA 510(k) clearance on our ATRILAZE minimally invasive system, we intend to
initiate a human clinical study in fiscal year 2008. This study will be designed to pursue expanded labeling
for the specific indication of AF. We cannot assure you that the system will prove to be a safe and effective
treatment option or that the FDA will expand the ]abelmg for the specific indication of AF. If the labeling

_is not expanded, it would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating
results and cash flows.

Even if our ATRILAZE minimaily invasive system receives FDA 510(k) clearance, we can give no
assurance the system wil! be equal to or superior to other systems for the ablation of cardiac tissue.
Although laser energy has been used widely in various-cardiac procedures, the use is relatively novel in
minimally invasive procedures to ablate cardiac tissue and potentially treat AF. While our ATRILAZE
minimally invasive system has demonstrated success in ablating cardiac tissue in animals, we have not yet
conducted studies in a human chmcal setting. Accordmg]y, there can be no assurance that this system will
be clinically effective. In addition, our competitors have developed alternative surgical treatments to ablate
cardiac tissue and potentially treat AF. Furthermore, our competitors may be in the process of creating
similar or superior treatments or procedures to our ATRILAZE minimally invasive system of which we are
not aware. If our ATRILAZE minimally invasive system does not prove to be equal to or superior to other
systems for the ablation of cardiac tissue, it would have a materlal adverse effect on our busmess flnanCJal
condition, operating results and cash ﬂows

Even if we obtain regulatory c}]earance, we cannot assure you that our ATRILAZE minimally i invasive
system will gain physician acceptance. A’limited number of cardiovascular surgeons and cardiologists
can influence medical device selection and purchase decisions for a large portion of the target '
cardiovascular surgery patient population. Even if we obtain FDA 510(k) clearance for our ATRILAZE
minimally invasive system, we cannot assure you that it will gain any significant degree of physician
acceptance, or that users will accept our minimally invasive system as preferable to alternative products or; -
methods of treatment of AF. Physician acceptance of this system depends upon a number of addmonal
factors, many of which are beyond our, control, mcludmg -

- » Our success in extending our labehng to the treatment of AF
s The perceived safety and effect1veness of the system;
 Education and training of physicians of the system;

The prevalence and severity of any 51de effects

The procedure time associated with the use of the system
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¢ Potential advantages over alternative treatments;
¢ The strength of marketing and distribution support; and
e Third party coverage of reimbursement.

If our minimally invasive system does not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians,
patients or healthcare payers, we may not generate significant revenue and we may not become profitable.

If we are unable to manage our expected growth, our future revenue and operating results may be
adversely affected. If we receive FDA clearance for our ATRILAZE minimally invasive system, we will
need to rapidly expand our sales and marketing operations and grow our research and development,
product development and administrative operations. This expansion is expected to place a significant strain
on our management and operational and financial resources. Our current and planned personnel, systems,
procedures and controls may not be adequate to support our anticipated growth. To manage our growth,
to commercialize our ATRILAZE minimally invasive system and to fund clinical studies, we will be
required to improve existing and implement new operational and financial systems, procedures and
controls and expand, train and manage our growing employee base. If we are unable to manage our growth
effectively, our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows could be harmed.

Our efforts to develop and commercialize new products beyond our ATRILAZE system and accessory
products are at an early stage and are subject to a high risk of failure. A key element of our strategy is to
develop and commercialize new products for the treatment of AF as extensions of, or in addition to, our
ATRILAZE system. We are seeking to do so through our internal research programs and we may explore
strategic collaborations for the development of new products utilizing our core technology. Research
programs to develop and commercialize new products require substantial technical, financial and human
resources, whether or not any products are ultimately developed. 1f we fail to develop and commercialize
new products, including our ATRILAZE minimally invasive system, our business will suffer.

We may need to fund ongoing clinical studies throughout the lifecycle of each of our products,
providing statistically significant sciertific data to regulatory agencies and cost effectiveness data to third
party healthcare payers. The FDA, foreign regulatory agencies and third party health care payers may
require scientific clinical outcomes data and cost effectiveness data. We will need to provide this data
throughout our products’ lifecycles. Payers and governmental agencies may change the frequency and
breadth of clinical research required, potentially significantly increasing our costs. Without adequate
positive outcomes data that demonstrate advantages from the use of our ATRILAZE minimally invasive
system, we may not achieve any significant market penetration. We cannot assure you that our outcomes
data will be adequate to meet present or future medical device utility requirements. If our outcomes data
does not meet such requirements, we may be unable to sell our products or obtain third party
reimbursement for the costs of our products.

Substantial government regulation abroad may restrict our ability to sell our ATRILAZE minimally
invasive system or other products. If we choose to market our products in foreign countries, they must
also comply with laws and regulations of foreign countries in which we market such products. In general,
the extent and complexity of medical device regulation is increasing worldwide. This trend may continue,
and the cost and time required to obtain marketing clearance in any given country may increase as a result.
We cannot assure you that our products will obtain any necessary foreign clearances on a timely basis, or
at all.

Our products face competition from these of well established companies with greater financial and
marketing resources, as well as alternative therapies or treatment options. Qur industry is highly
competitive, subject to change, and significantly affected by new product introductions and other activities
of industry participants. Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial and human resources
than we do and have established reputations with our target customers, as well as worldwide distribution
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channels that are more established and developed than ours. Cur primary competitors include

AtriCure, Inc., Boston Scientific Corp., CryoCath Technologies, Inc., Edwards Lifesciences Corp.,
ESTECH, Inc., Medtronic, Inc. and St. Jude Medical, Inc. As of May 2006, no company had received FDA
approval or clearance to market an ablation system for use as a treatment of AF in the United States.
However, our competitors provide products that have been adopted by physicians for the off- label
treatment of AF.

We and many of our competitors have developed surglcal ablation devices that have been used to
treat AF concomltant with an opén-heart surgical procedure. We and our competitors utilize different
technologies' as energy sources for ablation devices, including cryothermy, radiofrequency, microwave,
high-intensity focused ultrasound and laser. Each of these companies is also currently working with its core
technology to develop devices ‘that can be used as a stand-alone, mmlmally invésive AF treatment.

Some of our competitors, including Boston Scientific Corp., Cardima, Inc., CryoCath
Technologies, Inc., CryoCor, Inc., Johnson and Johnson, Inc., Medtronic, Inc., and St. Jude Medical, Inc
offer catheter-based treatments. These companies sell products that are used by physicians to treat the
population of patients that have AF, but are not candidates for open-heart surgery, which is the. same
group of patients that we believe would most benefit from stand-alone, minimally invasive AF treatments
using our minimally invasive system. Some of these catheter-based treatments already have FDA clearance
or approval for cardiac use, including the treatment of certain arrhythmias, although none has approval for
the treatment of AF.

Because of the large number of competitors and treatment options in the AF market, we cannot
assure you that even if we introduce our ATRILAZE minimally invasive system that we will be able to

compete effectively.

" Wehavea history of losses 'and no assurance of future profitability. We have incurred losses in each
of the last nine fiscal years. We had a net loss to common shareholders of $4,936,131 for the fiscal year
ended April 30, 2006 and a net loss to common shareholders of $19,094,872 for the fiscal year ended
April 30, 2005. We expect to continue to incur substantial losses through fiscal year 2007 and into fiscal
year 2008 as we continue development of new products. As of April 30, 2006, we had an accumulated
deficit-of $47,343,088. We will incur additional losses until we are able to successfully introduce new
products and generate substantial revenues. Due to our recent entry into the cardiac tissue ablation
market, we do not expect to generate material revenue until fiscal year 2008, at the earliest. Even if we
begin torecognize revenues from our ATRILAZE minimally invasive system, it may be several years, if .
ever, before we achieve profitability and positive cash flow. If we do achieve profitability, we cannot assure
you that we would be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis in the future. In
addition, the report of our independent registered public accounting firm for each of fiscal years 2006 and
2005 includes an explanatory paragraph expressing doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.

"- We will require additional financing in the future, which may be difficuit to obtain. We anticipate
that we will require additional financing to enable us to launch and market our ATRILAZE minimally
invasive system and provide working capital to support our operations. Our failure to obtain necessary
financing by January 2007, or doing so on unfavorable terms, could adversely affect our product
development program and marketing efforts. Our future capital requirements will depend on a number of
factors, many of which are beyond our control, including:

. The cost of development or enhancement of existing or new products, including outsourced de51gn
~ - rand engmeermg services, and product prototypmg,

* The timing of and the costs involved in, obtaznmg regulatory approvals;

¢ The cost of enhancing and protecting our intellectual property portfolio;




¢ The cost of internal and outsourced manufacturing sérvices;

e The cost of commercialization, including product demonstration, promotion and marketing;
¢ The need to upgrade corporate systems and hardware;

¢ The cost of building inventory to support sales;

» The costs involved in any patent infringement actions that we initiate or that are brought againsf us
by third parties;

o Our ability to establish and maintain collaborative arrangements;

e Our advancement of other product candidates into developmeht;

¢ The cost of maintaining MedicalCV as a public company; and

¢ Potential acquisition or licensing of other products or technologies.

Additional financing may not be available to us when we need it or it may not be available to us on
favorable terms. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing on a timely basis, we may be required to
significantly curtail or cease product development. We could be required to seek funds through
arrangements with collaborators or others that may require us to relinquish rights to some of our
technologies, product candidates or products which we would otherwise pursue on our own. If we raise
additional funds by issuing equity securities, our then-existing shareholders will experience ownership
and/or share price dilution and the terms of any new equity securities may have preferences over our
common stock. ‘ ‘

We may be unabie to establish and protect our proprietary rights which are critical to our success in
developing products for cardiac tissue ablation and the potential treatment of AF. We have no patents
issued to us covering our soft tissue ablation products. We have filed 14 U.S. non-provisional patent
‘applications, one provisional U.S. patent application, one international patent-application and one
European patent application, relating to products we have designed for use in treating AF. We expect to
seek patent protection for additional products that we may develop in the future. Our success will depend,
in part, on our ability to protect our products and to manufacture and sell them without infringing the
rights of third parties. The validity and breadth of claims covered in medical technology patents involve -
complex legal and factual questions and, therefore, are highly uncertain. In addition, the laws of many
countries may not afford protection for our proprietary rights to the same extent as U.S. laws. We cannot
assure you that;

e Any pending patent applications or any future patent applications will result in the issuance of
patents; ‘

¢ The scope of any patent protection will be effective to exclude competitors or to provide
competitive advantages to us;

* We will be able to commercially exploit any issued patents before they expire;
e Any of our patents will be held valid if subsequently challenged, _
¢ Others will not claim rights in, or ownership of, the patents and other proprietary rights we hold;

¢ Our products and processes will not infringe, or be alleged to infringe, the proprietary rights of
others; or

o We will be able to protect meaningful rights in proprietary technology over which we do not hold
patents.
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Furthermore, we cannot assure you that others have not developed or will not develop products that
may duplicate our products or manufacturing processes, or that others will not design around our patents.
Other parties may independently develop or otherwise acquire substantially equivalent techniques, gain
access to our proprietary technology or disclose such technology. In addition; whether or not we obtain
additional patents, others may hold or receive patents covering components of products we independently
develop in the future.

We may be subject to claims that we infringe the intellectual property rights of third parties, which
could adversely affect the sale of our products and our financial condition. The medical device industry
has been characterized by extensive litigation regarding patents and other intellectual property rights.
Litigation, which would likely result in substantial cost to us, may be necessary to enforce any patents
issued or licensed to us and/or to determine the scope and validity of others’ proprietary rights. Our
competitors hold issued patents which may result in claims of infringement against us or other patent
litigation. We also may have to participate in interference proceedings declared by the United States
Patent and Trademark Office, which could result in substantial cost to determine the priority of inventions.

We are aware of patents issued to our competitors and are aware that these competitors have patent
applications pending. These patents and applications could become the basis for infringement claims
against us. In April 2005, we received a letter from Edwards Lifesciences, LLC (“Edwards”) concerning
our ATRILAZE system, which is the subject of some of our patent applications. Edwards did not claim
that our products infringe any of its patents. Edwards’ letter called to our attention six of its patents and
requested us to comment on how our products differ from the claimed methods and apparatus of the six
specified Edwards patents. Edwards did not claim in its letter that our products infringe its patents. We
reviewed the specified Edwards’ patents and discussed them with our patent counsel, and believe that our
cardiac ablation systems do not infringe any of these patents. In response to a further inquiry from
Edwards on May 25, 2006, we responded through patent counsel outlining our position on at least one of |
the Edwards’ patents. While Edwards did not claim in its letter that our products infringe its patents, it is
likely that in the future, Edwards or others will continue to inquire regarding our products and patents and
possibly make intellectual property claims relating to our tissue ablation devices. Legal proceedings
brought against us alleging that our products infringe existing patents, whether with or without merit, could
be time-consuming for our management and employees, result in costly litigation, cause product shipment
delays, require us to pay damages or settlement amounts, or require us to:

e Cease manufacturing and selling the product in question, which could seriously harm our business;
e Enter into royalty-bearing licensing agreements; or
¢ Design commercially acceptable non-infringing alternative products,

We cannot assure you that we would be able to obtain licensing agreements, if required, on terms
acceptable to us or at all, or that we would be able to develop commercially acceptable non-infringing
alternative products. Our failure to do so could have a material adverse effect upon our business, financial
condition, operating results and cash flows.

We depend upon smgle and limited source third-party suppliers, makmg us vulnerable to supply
problems and price fluctuations, which could harm our business. We expect to rely on single and limited
source third-party vendors for the manufacture of many of the components used in our ATRILAZE
minimally invasive system. For example, we expect to rely on one vendor to manufacture our ATRILAZE
laser and one vendor to manufacture our ATRILAZE controller. In addition, in some cases there are
relatively few alternative sources of supply for certain other components that are critical to our
ATRILAZE minimally invasive system.




Our reliance on these outside manufacturers and suppliers also subjects us to risks that could harm
our business, including:

~ » we may not be able to obtain adequate supply in a timely manner or on commercially reasonable
terms;

* we mvay have difficulty locating and qualifying alternative suppliers;
¢ switching components may require product redesign;

e our suppliers manufacture products for a range of customers, and fluctuations in demand for the

products those suppliers manufacture for others may affect their ability to deliver components to us
in a timely manner; and

s our suppliers may encounter financial hardships unrelated to our demand for components which
could inhibit their ability to fulfill our orders and meet our requirements.

Any interruption or delay in the supply of components or materials, or our inability to obtain
components or materials from alternate sources at acceptable prices in a timely manner, could impair our
ability to meet the demand of our customers and cause them to cancel orders or switch to competitive
products, and could therefore have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating
results and cash flows. :

If patients allege that the use of our cardiovascular devices injured them, we may face substantial
product liability claims. Substantial product liability litigation exists within the medical device industry.
QOur products are used in cardiovascular surgery, and their failure may result in patient injury or death. We
have had product liability claims asserted against us in the past, which were resolved under our insurance
coverage without significant financial cost to us. We cannot assure you, however, that future product
liability claims will not exceed the limits of our insurance coverage or that such insurance will continue to
be available to us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Consequently, a product liability claim or
other claim with respect to uninsured liabilities, or in excess of insured liabilities, could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows. In addition, adverse
publicity resulting from product hiability litigation may materially adversely affect us regardless of whether
the claims are valid or whether we are liable. Furthermore, these claims would likely divert our financial

and management resources that would otherwise be used to benefit the future performance of our
operations.

We sold more than 50,000 mechanical heart valves between 1992 and 2005. We assume that a majority
of the patients who received our heart valves are still alive. If any of these patients were to have a problem
with a heart valve, they could assert claims for damages against us. In April 2005, we placed our product
liability insurance with a new insurance carrier. Our new policy provides us with potential coverage for
claims of up to $5,000,000 per occurrence and in the aggregate per policy year. Concurrently, we purchased
a three-year extended reporting coverage endorsement from our former carrier which was unwilling to
renew our coverage on the previous terms. The extended reporting period coverage, which expires in 2008,
will allow us to seek coverage under the prior policy for products claims arising from occurrences which

took place during such policy period but which were not asserted against us during the previous policy
period. .

In March 2005, we became aware that a patient who had been implanted with our heart valve had
died. We have not received any claims related to this matter but believe that any such claim would be
covered by our existing liability insurance. Based upon the expectation that insurance would cover the cost
of any claims after our payment of the deductible, we do not expect the ultimate resolution of this matter
to have a material effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.
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Key employees could leave our company at any time, thereby adversely affecting cur product
development and profitability. We depend heavily on the technical knowledge and industry expertise of
our management team. The development and execution of our business plan depends upon these
individuals. The departure of key people could materially and adversely affect our business, financial -
condition, operating results and cash flows.

We may be unable to recruit, motivate and retain qualified empﬂoyées, Our success depends in part
upon our ability to attract, motivate and retain a sufficient. number of qualified employees, including those
who concentrate in research and development, sales, marketing and manufacturing, to keep pace with our
product development schedules. Even though we have not experienced shortages of qualified people to
date, qualified individuals needed to fill these positions could be in short supply in our market. Our
inability to recruit, motivate and retain such individuals may delay the planned {aunch of new products, or
result in high employee turnover; either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, operating results and cash flows. Additionaily, competition for qualified employees
could require us to pay higher wages and provide additional benefits to attract sufficient employees.

Once medical devices are cleared for sale, regulatory authorities may still limit the use of such
products, prevent the sale or manufacture of such products or require a recall or withdrawal of such
products from the marketplace. Following initial clearance from regulatory authorities, we continue to
be subject to extensive regulatory requirements. Government authorities can withdraw marketing
clearance due to our failure to comply with regulatory standards or due to the occurrence of unforeseen
problems following initial clearance. Ongoing regulatory requirements are wide- rangmg and govern,
among other things:

* Product manufacturing;

o Supplier substitution;

Product changes;

Process moydifications;

o Medical device reporting;

» Product sales and distribution; and

e Annual inspections to retain CE mark for sale of products in the European Union.

The FDA and various government agencies inspect our facilities from time to time to detérmine
whether we are in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. If we fail to comply or maintain
compliance with medical device laws or regulations, regulatory authorities may fine us and bar us.from
selling our products. If the FDA or comparable foreign authorities believes we are not in comphance with
such laws or regulations, it can: :

L. Seize our products;
¢ Require a recall;
¢ Withdraw pre\./’ious'ly,gfante‘d market clearances;
¢ Implement procedures to stop future violations; and/or
» Seek civil and criminadl pehalties against us.

" In addition, suppliers of components of, and products used to manufacture, our products must also
comply with the FDA and foreign regulatory requirements, which often require significant resources and
subject us and our supphers to potential regulatory 1nspect10ns and stoppages. If our suppliers do not




achieve and maintain required regulatory approval, our commercialization efforts could be delayed, which
would impair our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

We may be subject to fines, penalties or injunctions if we are deterniined to be promoting our
products for unapproved, “off-label,” or new uses, or making false, misleading or unsubstantiated claims,
which would harm our operating results and reduce the value of your investment. QOur promotional
materials and training methods for physicians must be in compliance with FDA and other applicable
_ regulations. FDA regulations prohibit us from promoting or advertising our products for uses not within
the scope of our clearances and from making unsupported safety or effectiveness claims. These
determinations can be subjective and the FDA may disagree with our promotional claims. If the FDA
determines that our promotional materials or training constitutes promotion of an unapproved use, or
makes false or misleading claims or claims not supported by adequate scientific data, the agency could
subject us to serious enforcement sanctions and/or limit the promotional claims that we are permitted to
make for our products. The FDA typically does not permit promotional claims for a device based upon
physician reports and other anecdotal data. There can be no assurance, therefore, that the FDA would
agree that any independent peer-reviewed studies are scientifically adequate to support the claims we
make for our products. The FDA also may limit or prohibit claims based on comparison of our products
with other surgical cardiac tissue ablation technologies and devices in the absence of a scientifically valid
head-to-head clinical trial or other adequate supporting data. Any legal limitations on the promotional
claims we may make for our products could adversely affect our sales.

As a medical device manufacturer, we are subject to federal and state laws p‘rohibiting “kickbacks”
and false or fraudulent claims which, if violated, could subject us to substantial penalties. A federal law
commonly known as the Medicare/Medicaid anti-kickback law, and several similar state laws, prohibit
payments that are intended to induce physicians or others either to refer patients or to acquire or arrange
for or recommend the acquisition of healthcare products or services. These laws limit the kinds of financial
arrangements, including sales programs, we are allowed to have with physicians, surgery centers, hospitals
or other potential purchasers of our products. Other federal and state laws generally prohibit individuals or
entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment from Medicare,
Medicaid or other third-party payers that are false or fraudulent, or for items or services that were not
provided as claimed. Anti-kickback and false claims laws prescribe potentially substantial civil and criminal
penalties for noncompliance. A challenge to or investigation into our practices under these laws could
cause adverse publicity, be costly to respond to, and harm our business, financial condition, operating
results and cash flows. Even an unsuccessful challenge or investigation into our practices could cause
adverse publicity and be costly to respond to, and thus could harm our business, financial condition,
operating results and cash flows. s '

Compliance with environmental laws and regulations may be expensive. Failure to comply with
environmental laws and regulations could subject us to significant lability. Our manufacturing
operations and research and development activities involve the use of biological materials and hazardous
substances and are subject to a variety of federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations
relating to the storage, use, discharge, disposal, remediation of, and human exposure to, hazardous
substances. Our research and development and manufacturing operations may produce biological waste
materials, such as animal tissues, and certain chemical waste. These operations are permitted by regulatory
authorities, and the resultant waste materials are disposed of in material compliance with environmental
laws and regulations. Compliance with these laws and regulations may be expensive and non-compliance
could result in substantial liabilities. In addition, we cannot completely eliminate the risk of accidental
contamination or injury to third parties from the use, storage, handling or disposal of these materials. In
the event of contamination or injury, we could be held liable for any resulting damages, and any liability
could exceed any applicable insurance coverage we may have. In addition, our manufacturing operations
may result in the release, discharge, emission or disposal of hazardous substances that could cause us to
incur substantial liabilities, including costs for investigation and remediation.
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The uncertainty of third party reimbursements and possible healthcare reforms may adversely affect
us. Our ability to market products successfully in the U.S. depends in part on the extent to which
reimbursement for the cost of such products and related treatment will be availabie from government
health administration authorities, private health insurers, health maintenance organizations and other
third party payers. Payers may challenge the need for, and prices of, medical products and services. Third
party payers may deny reimbursement for procedures that they deem experimental or for devices used in
ways other than as cleared by the FDA or stated in their indications for use. With respect to our products,
some payers could deny coverage until the medical profession generally accepts devices and new
procedures. The inability of hospitals and other providers to obtain reimbursement from third party payers
for our products would have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condltlon operating
results and cash flows. Healthcare reform may also impact sales of new products. In the U.S. reforms may
include:

e Mandated basic health care benefits;

¢ Controls on health care spending through limiting the growth of private health insurance premiums
and Medicare and-Medicaid spending; and ..

 Fundamental changes to the health care dehvery system.

We anticipate that the U.S. Congress and state legislatures will continue to review and assess
alternative health care delivery systems and payment methodologies, and that public debate of these issues
will likely continue in the future. Dueé to uncertainties regarding the ultimate features of reform initiatives
and their enactment and implementation, we cannot predict which, if any, of such reform proposals will be
adopted, when they may be adopted or what impact they may have on our ability to market our products.
Laws resulting from such reform mlt]aUVBS could advérsely Jmpact our business, financial condition,
operating results and cash flows.

If we are unable to successfully address the material weakness in our internal controls, our ability to
report our financial results on a timely and accurate basis may be adversely affected.  As of April 30,
2006 and 2005, we did not maintain effective controls over the preparation, review, presentation and
disclosure of our statement of operations. Specifically, we incorrectly reported certain expenses as part of
continuing operations rather than as part of discontinued operations in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles. This control deficiency resulted in the restatement of our financial’
statements for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2005 and the three and six-month periods ended October 31,
2004. Accordingly, management determined that this control deficiency constitutes a: matenal weakness in
our internal control over financial reporting.

A material weakness is-a control deficiency or a combination of contro) deficiencies that results in
more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim consolidated financial
statements will not be prevented or detected. We have taken steps to remediate the material weakness that
include a thorough review of the classification requirements of each component line item and the
individual elements that comprise each line item of the statement of operations, in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. Although we have taken these steps, we cannot.assure you that
this or other control deficiencies will not result in a misstatement in the future. ’

We have developed a plan to address this material weakness that includes adding additional
professional accounting personnel. We engaged a senior financial consultant in March 2006 as an interim
controller to provide an‘immediate expansion in dur technical’ finance and accounting resources In
April 2006, we hired a full-time controller with national public accounting firm experience. We will
continue to assess the adequacy and appropriateness of our financial staff and adjust accordingly as
changes in our business warrant. Management believes that our plan to address this material weakness,
when fully implemented, will remediate it. Although we are not certain when the material weakness will be
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remediated, we will need a period of time over which to demonstrate that these controls are functioning
appropriately to conclude that we have adequately remediated it.

We cannot be certain that additional material weaknesses in our internal control over financial
reporting will not be discovered in the future. Any failure to remediate the unremediated material
weakness described above or any future material weaknesses or to implement required new or improved
controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could harm our operating results, cause us to
fail to meet our reporting obligations or result in material misstatements in our financial statements.

We may be exposed to potential risks relating to our internal controls over financial reporting and
our ability to have those controls attested to by our independent registered public accounting firm. As
directed by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the SEC adopted rules requiring public companies to
include a report of management on internal control over financial reporting in their annual reports,
including Annual Reports on Form 10-KSB, which we file. In addition, the independent registered public
accounting firm auditing a public company’s financial statements must attest to and report on
management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting as
well as the operating effectiveness of the company’s internal controls over financial reporting. We expect
to be subject to these requirements for the fiscal year ending April 30, 2008.

While we expect to expend significant resources in developing the necessary documentation and
testing procedures required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, there is a risk that we will not
comply with all of the requirements imposed thereby. At present, there is no precedent available with
which to measure compliance adequacy. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that we will not receive an
adverse report on our assessment of our internal controls over financial reporting and/or the operating
effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting from our independent registered public
accounting firm.

In the event we fail to remediate the material weakness described above, we identify significant
deficiencies or other material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting that we cannot
remediate in a timely manner or we receive an adverse report from our independent registered public
accounting firm with respect to our internal controls over financial reporting, investors and others may lose
confidence in the reliability of our financial statements and our ability to obtain equity or debt financing
could be adversely affected.

In addition to the above, in the event that our independent registered public accounting firm is unable
to rely on our internal controls over financial reporting in connection with their audit of our financial
statements, and in the further event that they are unable to devise alternative procedures in order to satisfy
themselves as to the material accuracy of our financial statements and related disclosures, it is possible that
we could receive a qualified or adverse audit opinion on those financial statements. In that event, the
market for our common stock could be adversely affected. In addition, investors and others may lose
confidence in the reliability of our financial statements and our ability to obtain equity or debt financing
could be adversely affected.

We will be required to record compensation expense related to employee compensation awards in our
financial statements beginning in our fiscal year 2007, which could harm our future reported operating
results and cause unexpected fluctuations in our expenses. Our ability to attract and retain our
management team, research, development, clinical, medical device sales personnel and others depends to
some extent on our continued ability to issue stock options or other forms of equity compensation awards.
Among other option issuances we have made, in April 2005 we issued options to key members of our
management team for the purchase of an aggregate of 666,565 shares of common stock. These options will
vest over a four-year period commencing April 1, 2006 (to the extent of 25 percent on such date and
6.25 percent quarterly thereafter). We have granted and expect to grant additional stock options to current
and future management personnel and other key employees to provide additional incentives to join or
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remain with us. The Financial Accounting Standards Board has issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment.” We are required to adopt the provisions of this
standard effective May 1, 2006. We will adopt this standard using the modified prospective method. We
expect adoption to result in an increase in our operating expenses. SFAS No. 123R eliminates the ability to
account for share-based compensation transactions using Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 23,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and requires such transactions be accounted for using a
fair-value-based method and the resulting cost to be recognized in the financial statements over the option
vesting periods. Recording compensation expense in the statement of operations for employee stock
options using the fair value method could have a significant negative effect on our reported financial
results, particularly if we grant a significant number of options to our employees in future periods.

We cannot predict the outcome of legal proceedings and an adverse determination could negatively
impact our financial results. In March 2006, J Giordano Securities LLC (d/b/a J Giordano Securities
Group) (“JGSG”) filed suit against our company claiming that it is entitled to damages due to an alleged
breach of the engagement agreement, as amended, between us and JGSG. In particular, JGSG claims that
the exercise of outstanding warrants for the purchase of common stock by certain JGSG-identified
investors and our purchase of outstanding shares of 5% Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
from certain JGSG-identified investors in December 2005 and January 2006 entitle JGSG to damages no
less than $1,431,769. In addition, JGSG notified us by letter dated May 26, 2006 that, pursuant to the
agreement, it may claim compensation arising out of alleged rights to serve as a co-managing underwriter -
or member of the underwriting group of a proposed public offering set forth in the registration statement
on Form SB-2 we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 19, 2006. Although we
intend to vigorously defend ourselves against the lawsuit and any additional claims brought by JGSG, an
adverse resolution of this claim could negatively impact our financial condition.

QOur stock price is volatile; purchasers of our common stock could sustain substantial losses. The
stock market in general and the market for small medical device companies in particular have experienced
extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. As
a result of this volatility, investors may not be able to sell their common stock at or above the price paid for
the stock. The price of our common stock will be determined in the marketplace and may be influenced by
many factors, including: ‘ '

» Physician and patient acceptance of our products;

s Developments, disputes or litigation concerning patents or other proprietary rights and our ability
to obtain patent protection for our technologies;

¢ Regulatory restrictions in the United States and foreign countries;

¢ The ability to manufacture our products to commercial sténdards;'

s Public concern over our products;

» The loss of key personnel;

. Additidnal future sales of our common stock;

¢ Comparisons of our financial results with those of companies that are perceived to be similar tous;
o The pricing of our products; |

o Changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems;

» Investors’ perceptions of us; and |

¢ General economic, industry and market conditions.
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A decline in the market price of our common stock could cause you to lose some or all of your
investment and may adversely impact our ability to attract and retain employees and raise capital. In
addition, shareholders may initiate securities class action lawsuits if the market price of our stock drops
significantly, which may cause us to incur substantial costs and could divert the time and attention of our
management.

Fluctuations in our operating results may result in decreases in the price of our securities, We
expect our operating results to fluctuate significantly because of several factors, including the timing of
FDA clearance, government policies regarding payment for our products and the development of new
technologies. Consequently, our operating results may fall below the expectations of public market analysts
and investors. In that event, the price of our securities would likely decrease.

If there are substantial sales of our common stock by existing shareholders, the price of our common
stock may decline. If our existing common shareholders sell substantial amounts of common stock in the
public market, or the market perceives that such sales may occur, the market price of our common stock
could fall. Existing shareholders may sell 8,563,929 shares in the public market pursuant to SB registration
statements filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. In addition, we anticipate that we will need
to raise additional capital in the future to fund operations or for capital expenditures. If we raise additional
funds by issuing equity securities, our stock price may decline and our existing shareholders may
experience significant dilution. Furthermore, we may enter into financing transactions at prices that
represent a substantial discount to market price. A negative reaction by investors and securities analysts to
any sale of our equity securities could result in a decline in the trading price of our common stock.

You may have difficulty reselling our commeon stock. We cannot assure you of an active public
market for our common stock. Selling our securities also may be difficult because of the quantity of
securities that may be bought and sold, the possibility that transactions may be delayed, and a low level of
security analyst and news media coverage. These factors could contribute to lower prices and larger
spreads in the bid and ask prices for our securities.

If we fail to maintain the registration statements for the common stock issued upon conversion of
preferred stock and the related warrant exercises, we could face substantial monetary charges. In
connection with our April 2005 private placement and our December 2005 and January 2006 preferred
stock purchases, we entered into registration rights agreements in which we agreed to prepare and file with
the SEC by certain filing dates, registration statements to register certain shares of common stock, which
registration statements must be maintained effective throughout a period of up to five years. If we fail to
file any registration statement by a required filing date, or a registration statement is not declared effective
by a specified effectiveness date, or after an effective date, the registration statement ceases to be effective
and available to the holders of the securities that were registered for more than an aggregate of 40 trading
days in any consecutive 12 month period, then in addition to other rights which such holders may have
against us under applicable law, we are obligated to pay as liquidated damages to such holders for each
calendar month or portion thereof an amount equal to 1.5 percent of the aggregate amount invested by the
investors until we satisfy the requirements of the registration rights agreement. If we are required to pay
such liquidated damages or other amounts to these holders, our business, financial condition, operating
results and cash flows would be materially adversely affected.

The issuance of additional equity securities in a future financing could trigger the anti-dilution
provisions of our outstanding warrants. If we were to issue additional equity securities at a per share
price lower than the exercise price of our outstanding warrants, then the exercise price of such warrants
would automatically adjust downward on either a weighted-average or full-ratchet basis. While we have no
plans to issue securities in a manner that would trigger these anti-dilution provisions, we could elect to do-
so in the future or be required to do so in order to finance the company. Such adjustments would dilute the
holdings of existing common shareholders.
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Our affiliated shareholders have significant control over cur company, which could reduce your
ability to receive a premium for your securities through a change in control. As of June 26, 2006, officers
and directors of our company beneficially owned approximately 21.4 percent of our outstanding common
stock. As a result, they may be able to control our company and direct our affairs, including the election of
directors and approval of significant corporate transactions. This concentration of ownership could also
delay, defer or prevent a change in control of our company, and make some transactions more difficult or
impossible without their support. These transactions might include proxy contests, tender offers, open
market purchase programs or other share purchases that could give our shareholders the opportunity to
realize a premium over the then prevailing market price of our securities, Asa result this concentration of
ownership could depress the price of our securities.

Our acquisition of preferred stock and related warrant exercises have resulted in a concentration of
ownership. In December 2005 and January 2006, investors who purchased preferred stock and warrants
in our April 2005 private placement sold back their preferred stock to our company and exercised their
related warrants. The common stock issued in connection with such transaction represented over
85 percent of our outstanding common stock at the completion of the transaction. A major portion of such
securities were acquired by PKM Properties, LLC (“PKM™), an entity controlled by Paul K. Miller, one of
our directors, and, with 18.3 percent beneficial ownership, one of the largest beneficial owners of our
securities. Should a few of these investors agree to vote in concert, they would control our company. To
our knowledge, these investors have not acted as a group in seeking, negotiating or making their
investments in our company and consider thémselves independent investors.

Minnesota law and our ability to issue preferred stock could deter a take-over or acquisition of our
company. Our articles of incorporation authorize the issuance of shares of preferred stock. Our board of
directors, without any action by our shareholders, is authorized to designate and issue preferred stock in
such classes or series, as it deems appropriate and establish the rights and privileges of such shares,
including liquidation and voting rights. Our ability to designate and issue preferred stock having
preferential rights over our common stock could adversely affect the voting power and other rights of
holders of common stock. We are also subject to the Minnesota Business Corporation Act, which includes
provisions that limit the voting rights of persons acquiring specified percentages of shares of an issuing
public corporation in a “control share acquisition” and restrict “business combinations” between issuing
public corporations and specified persons acquiring their securities. Our ability to issue preferred stock and
the application of the provisions of Minnesota law discussed above could impede or deter another party
from making a tender offer or other proposal to acquire our company.

We do not intend to pay cash dividends on ocur common steck in the foreseeable future. We have not
paid dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable
future.

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This document contains forward-looking statements, which generally include the plans and objectives
of management for future operations, including plans and objectives relating to our future economic
performance and our current beliefs regarding revenues we might earn if we are successful in
implementing our business strategies. :

The forward-looking statements and associated risks may include, relate to or be qualified by other
important factors. You can identify forward-looking statements generally by the use of forward-looking
terminology such as “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “intends,” “plans,” “should,” “could,” “seeks,”
“pro forma,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “continues,” or other variations of those terms, including their use
in the negative, or by discussions of strategies, opportunities, plans or intentions. You may find these
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forward-looking statements under the captions “Business” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis or
Plan of Operation.” These forward-looking statements include, among other things, statements about:

e The rate and degree of market acceptance of our products;

e The timing of and our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory clearances for our products;
¢ Our sales and marketing strategy; -

¢ QOur manufacturing strategy;

e Our ability to develop and market new and enhanced products;

e Our intellectual property portfolio;

¢ The timing of and ability to obtain reimbursement for procedures utilizing our products;

e Qur competitors; ' | | i

e Our estimates regarding future revenues, expenses and capital requirements; and

¢ The unpredictability of our quarterly results of operations.

These forward-looking statements necessarily depend upon assumptions and estimates that may prove
to be incorrect. Although we believe that the assumptions and estimates reflected in the forward-looking
statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee that we will achieve our plans, intentions or expectations.
The forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that
may cause actual results to differ i in significant ways from any future results expressed or tmphed by the
forward-looking statements.

Any of the factors described above or in our Cautionary Statement could cause our financial results,
inctuding our net income (loss) or growth in net income (loss), to differ materially from prior results, which
~ in turn could, among other things, cause the price of our common stock to fluctuate substantially. ‘

ITEM7 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

See Index to Financial Statements on Page F-1.

HTEM 8 CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

As previously reported, on June 9, 2005, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) informed the audit
committee of our board of directors that it would decline to stand for re-election as our independent
registered public accounting firm and would cease to serve as our independent registered public
accounting firm upon completion of PwC procedures regarding the following: (1) our financial statements
as of and for the year ended April 30, 2005 and (2) the Form 10-KSB in wh1ch such financial statements
would be included.

The reports of PwC on our financial statements as of and for the years ended April 30, 2005 and 2004
contained an explanatory paragraph expressing significant doubt about our ability to continue as a going
concern, but did not contain an adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion, ‘and were not further qualified or
modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting pr1nc1ple

During the years ended April 30, 2005 and 2004 and through June 6, 2006, there have been no
disagreements.with PwC on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement
disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of Pw(,
would have caused PwC to make reference thereto in its reports on our financial statements for such years,
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During the years ended April 30, 2005 and 2004 and through June 6, 2006, there has been one
reportable event of the type described in Item 304(a)(1)(iv)(B) of Regulation S-B. The reportable event
occurred in March 2004 when PwC informed our audit committee that there was a material weakness in
internal controls over financial reporting. Specifically, PwC identified a material weakness in the design
and operation of internal controls relating to documenting and reporting international distribution
marketing expenditures and related reimbursement. Following this communication from PwC, we
implemented procedures and reporting to document and support customer marketing expenses which
remedied this material weakness.

On August 8, 2005, we engaged Lurie Besikof Lapidus & Company, LLP (“LBL”) as our independent
registered public accounting firm commencing with work to be performed in relation to our fiscal quarter
ended July 31, 2005 and in connection with the audit of our financial statements for the fiscal year ending
April 30, 2006. In the past two years we have had no occasion to consult with LBL on any matters. Our
audit committee has appointed LBL as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year
2006.

ITEM 8A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized, and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and
Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to
our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. ‘

v Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
evaluated the effectiveness of our company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period -
covered in this Annual Report on Form 10-KSB. Based on this evaluation and because of the material
weakness described below, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of the end of the period covered in this
Annual Report on Form 10-KSB. To address the material weakness described below, we have expanded
our disclosure controls and procedures to include additional analysis and other procedures over the
preparation of the financial statements included in this report. Accordingly, our management has
concluded that the financial statements included in this report fairly present in all material respects our
financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles.

Material Weakness in Internai Control Over Financial Reporting

A material weakness is a control deficiency or a combination of control deficiencies that result in
more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements
will not be prevented or detected. Our management has concluded that, as of April 30, 2006 and 2005, we
did not maintain effective controls over the preparation, review, presentation and disclosure of our
statement of operations. Specifically, our controls did not prevent or detect the incorrect presentation of
certain expenses as part of continuing operations rather than as part of discontinued operations, in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. This control deficiency resulted in the
restatement of our financial statements for the three and six month periods ended October 31, 2004 and
the year ended April 30, 2005. Additionally, this control deficiency could result in a misstatement of the
presentation and disclosure of our statement of operations that would result in a material misstatement in




our annual or interim financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly,
management determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness in our internal control
over financial reporting as of April 30, 2006 and 2005.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting, other than those noted below,
that occurred during our quarter ended April 30, 2006 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Plan for Remediation of Material Weakness

We have developed a plan to address the above-referenced material weakness that includes adding
additional professional accounting personnel. We engaged a senior financial consultant in March 2006 as
an interim controller to provide an immediate expansion in our technical finance and accounting
resources. In April 2006, we hired a full-time controller with national public accounting firm experience.
We will continue to assess the adequacy and appropriateness of our financial staff and adjust accordingly
as changes in our business warrant. Management believes that our plan to address this material weakness,
when fully implemented, will remediate it. Although we are not certain when the material weakness will be
remediated, we will need a period of time over which to demonstrate that these controls are functioning
appropriately to conclude that we have adequately remediated it.

ITEM 8B OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable..
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ITEM 9 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, PROMOTERS AN D CONTROL PERSONS;’

PART I

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(2) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT

The following table provides information with respect to our directors and executive officers as of
June 26, 2006. Our directors hold office until our next annual meeting of shareholders and until their
successors have been elected and qualified. Each executive officer has been’ appointed to serve until his
successor is duly appointed by the board or his eatlier removal or resignatiori from office. There are no
family relationships among our directors and executive officers.

Executive Officers and Directors

Name
Susan L. Critzer ......

Marc P. Flores ....... _

Adam L. Berman .. ...
Eapen Chacko*.......

Robert W. Clapp ... ..
Larry G. Haimovitch . .
Lawrence L. Horsch. ..
James E. Jeter........
John H. Jungbauer®. ..
David B. Kaysen ......
Paul K. Miller........
J. Robert Paulson, Jr. .

Dennis E. Steger. .. ...

Gary O. Tegan .......

Marketing

Age Principal Occupation Position with MedicalCV Dg;f\cct: i
50 Retired Chief Executive Officer and Chairperson of the 2002
. Chief Financial Officer of Restore - Board '
Medical, Inc.
41  President, Chief Executive Officer ~ President, Chief 2004
and Director of MedicalCV, Inc. Executive Officer and
o Director
31 Vice President, Research and' Vice President, N/A
Development Research and
Development
58  Vice President, Finance and Chief ~ Vice President, Finance N/A
Financial Officer and Chief Financial
Officer
56  Vice President, Operations Vice President, N/A
Operations ‘
59  President of Haimovitch Medical Director 2005
Technology Consultants
71 Chairman of Eagle Management & Director 2003
Financial Corp. ‘
43 Vice President, Sales Vice President, Sales N/A
57  Principal Financial Officer and Principal Financial N/A
Principal Accounting Officer Officer and Principal
Accounting Offlcer
56 President and Chief Executive Director 2002
Officer of Uroplasty, Inc.
83  Private Investor Director 1994
49  President, Chief Executive Officer  Director 2005
and Director of Restore
Medical, Inc.
59  Vice President, Regulatory Affairs ~ Vice President, N/A
and Quality Assurance Regulatory Affairs and
Quality Assurance
39  Vice President, Marketing Vice President, N/A

*  In May 2006, we entered into a written, at-will employment agreement with Eapen Chacko, who

joined our company on June 21, 2006, as Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer.

Mr. Chacko is expected to assume the roles of principal financial officer and principal accounting
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officer upon Mr. Jungbauer’s resignation. Mr. Jungbauer currently serves in the roles of principal
financial officer and principal accounting officer.

Susan L. Critzer, Chairperson of the Board since September 2005 and one of our directors since
August 2002, has over 25 years of industry experience in general management, operations and product
development. Ms. Critzer served as Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Restore
Medical, Inc., a company focused on developing and marketing products for the ear, nose and throat field,
from June 2002 to April 2005. From January 2001 to June 2002, Ms. Critzer served as Chief Operating
Officer of Venturi Development Group, the business incubator focused on seed level medical device
opportunities which founded Restore Medical. Prior to joining Venturi, Ms. Critzer served as President
and Chief Executive Officer and Acting Chief Financial Officer of Integ Incorporated, a publicly held
development stage glucose monitoring company from 1998 until it was acquired by Inverness Medical in
early 2001. She joined Integ in 1995 as Vice President, Operations. Before joining Integ, Ms. Critzer served
in various management roles at the Davis + Geck Division of American Cyanamid Corp., and the Deseret
Medical Division of Becton-Dickinson Corp. Ms. Critzer began her career with General Motors
Corporation where she spent thirteen years in a variety of engineering and management positions,
including managing a $200 million truck front suspension plant in Detroit. Ms. Critzer serves on the Board
of Governors and is a 3M Fellow at the University of St. Thomas School of Engineering in St. Paul
Minnesota.

Marc P. Flores became our President, Chief Executive Officer and one of our directors in August 2004.
Mr. Flores served as Vice President of Sales & Marketing of Coalescent Surgical, Inc., a company focused
on developing advanced technology for blood vessel anastomoses, from March 2000 to August 2004, Prior
to joining Coalescent, Mr. Flores was Western Regional Manager of Sales for CardioThoracic
Systems, Inc. from June 1997 to March 2000. Before joining CardioThoracic Systems, he held a Varlety of
management and sales positions with Boston Scientific Corporation, GE Medical Systems and Xerox
Corporation.

Adam L. Berman joined MedicalCV in September 2004 as Vice President, Research and
Development. Mr. Berman has extensive experience and relationships within the cardiac surgery industry.
From July 2001 to August 2004, he was a regional sales manager for Coalescent Surgical, Inc. From
August 1998 to June 2001, he was a regional development manager for Computer Motion, a company
focused on robotic-assisted, minimally invasive approaches for surgery. Before joining Computer Motion,
Mr. Berman held various clinical research positions within the field of cardiac surgery.

Eapen Chacko joined MedicalCV effective June 21, 2006, as Vice President, Finance and Chief
Financial Officer. Mr. Chacko will assume the roles of principal financial officer and principal accounting
officer upon the resignation of John H. Jungbauer. Mr. Chacko has over 30 years.of experience in strategic
planning, investor relations, equity research and economics. From September 2000 to May 2005, he was
Chief Financial Officer of Possis Medical, Inc., a developer, marketer and manufacturer of medical devices
for the endovascular treatment market. Mr. Chacko was Vice President for Investor and Public Relations,
Corporate Communication at Possis from September 1999 to August 2000. From 1995 to 1999, he was
Director of Investor Relations at Fingerhut Companies, a direct marketer and financial services company.
Mzr. Chacko is a director of Hawkins, Inc., a company that formulates, blends and distributes bulk and
specialty chemicals. Mr. Chacko has been named, along with his former employer Possis Medical, Inc. and
another officer of that company, as a defendant in a securities class action case entitled Crowell, et al. v.
Possis Medical, Inc. et al., No. 05-CV-01084-TMR-FLN, originally filed on June 3, 2005 in the United
States District Court for the District of Minnesota. The consolidated amended class action complaint
alleges violations of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act against all defendants and claims
under Section 20(a) against the officer defendants, all arising out of alleged misstatements and omissions
about that company’s AngioJet product and clinical trials for that product.
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Robert W. Clapp joined MedicalCV in August 2004 as Vice President, Operations. From March 1993
to August 2004, Mr. Clapp was Vice President of Manufacturing, Quality, and Research/Development for
EMPI, where he developed and introduced many new products, improved manufacturing efficiencies and
lowered manufacturing costs. From February 1987 to March 1993, he was Vice President of Manufacturing
for Dacomed Corporation, where he helped introduce five new products into the marketplace in
18 months. Prior to that, Mr. Clapp held engineering and operations positions at Xerxes Corporation,
Medtronic, Inc., Control Data Corporation and AMF Paragon Electric.

Larry G. Haimovitch, one of our directors since August 2005, serves as President of Haimovitch
Medical Technology Consultants, a San Francisco-based health care consulting firm he formed in 1990.
His firm, whose current area of emphasis includes minimally invasive surgical technologies, specializes in
the analysis of the medical device industry with emphasm on the current trends and future outlook for
emerging medical techno]ogy

Lawrence L. Horsch, who served as our Acting Chief Executive Officer from April 2004 to
August 2004 and Chairman of the Board from August 2003 to September 2005, became one of our
directors in August 2003. He served as a director of Boston Scientific Corporation from February 1995 to
May 2003. He was one of the founding directors of SciMed Life Systems, Inc. and served as Chairman of
the Board from 1977 to 1994, and Acting Chief Financial Officer from 1994 to 1995. Since 1990,
Mr. Horsch has served as Chairman of Eagle Management & Financial Corp., a management consultmg
firm. Mr. Horsch has been involved as a director or consultant to numerous early-stage companies in the
Twin Cities area and was a member of the University of St. Thomas MBA adjunct faculty from 1979 to
2004. Mr. Horsch currently serves as a director of Leuthold Funds, Inc., a registered investment company.

James E. Jeter joined MedicalCV in November 2005 as Vice President, Sales. Mr. Jeter most recently
served as a Central States Region Manager for Medtronic, Inc. from August 2004 to November 2003,
where he led a team charged with revenue growth across three product platforms: cardiac
revascularization, atrial fibrillation and Coalescent anastomotic devices. From January 2001 to
August 2004, Mr. Jeter was a Regional Sales Manager, then a Divisional Sales Manager, with Coalescent
Surgical, Inc. tasked with starting and building the anastomotic device business for cardiac and vascular
surgeons in the company’s Central States Division. From July 1999 to January 2001, Mr. Jeter was a
co-managing partner of Innovative Surgical Products. Previously, he held a series of positions, including
Director of Sales, Cardiac Division, with the Genzyme Corporation.

. John H. Jungbauer joined MedicalCV in February 2004 as Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial
Officer. Mr. Jungbauer came to our company with more than 26 years of experience in financial
management and long-range planning, international financial/treasury operations, information technology
systems. From 1990 to 2002, Mr. Jungbauer was Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer
with ATS Medical, Inc. During 1988 and 1989, he was Executive Vice President of Titan Medical, Inc.
From 1977 to 1987, he held several financial management positions at St. Jude Medical, Inc., including
Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer from 1981 to 1987. On April 6, 2006, Mr. Jungbauer
announced his intention to resign from his executive officer position at our company. On June 21, 2006,
Mr. Jungbauer’s roles transitioned from Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer to principal
financial officer and principal accounting officer. Mr. Chacko will assume the roles of principal financial
officer and principal accounting officer upon the resignation of Mr. Jungbauer. Further details regarding
the anticipated effective date of Mr. Jungbauer’s resignation are set forth below under “Executive
Compensanon—Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment, and Change-in- Control
Arrangements.”

David B. Kaysen has been one of our directors since August 2002. Mr. Kaysen serves as President,
Chief Executive Officer and a director of Uroplasty, Inc., a developer, manufacturer and marketer of
products primarily for the treatment of urinary and fecal incontinence and overactive bladder symptoms.
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Mr. Kaysen served as President and Chief Executive Officer.of Advanced Duplication Services LLC, a
privately held duplicator/replicator of CDs and DVDs, from July 2005 until May 2006. From

December 2002 through July 2005, Mr. Kaysen served as President, Chief Executive Officer and a director
of Diametrics Medical, Inc., a company that develops, manufactures and commercializes blood and tissue
analysis systems that provide diagnostic results at the point of patient care. Mr. Kaysen has more than 25
years of executive management and sales and marketing experience in the medical products and services
industry, most recently serving 10 years as President, Chief Executive Officer and a director of
Rehabilicare Inc. (now Compex Technologies, Inc.), a manufacturer and marketer of home electrotherapy
equipment for the physical therapy, rehabilitation, occupational and sports medicine markets. From 1988
to 1989, Mr. Kaysen served as President, Chief Executive Cfficer and a director of Surgidyne, Inc. (now
Sterion, Inc.). Mr. Kaysen has also held senior management positions in sales and marketing at several
medical product and services companies, including Redline Healthcare, American Hospital Supply
Corporation, Emeritus Corporation and Lectec/NDM Corporation. Mr. Kaysen currently serves as a
director of Zevex International, Inc., a publicly held company engaged in the business of designing,
manufacturing and distributing medlcal devices.

Paul K. Miller has been one our directors since August 1994. Mr. Miller served as President of Acton
Construction Management Company, a real estate management company, from 1980 to 2004. Mr. Miller
has, over the course of his business career, been the President and majority shareholder of various
companies with offices in Minnesota and Texas which have been engaged in the construction of municipal
wastewater projects throughout the central United States and in the acquisition and management of real
estate investments. He is a significant investor and director of a number of development stage companies
and has served as a bondholders representative on the creditors’ committees of several publicly held
companies.

J. Robert Paulson, Jr., who became one of our directors in August 2005, was appointed President, Chief
Executive Officer and a director of Restore Medical, Inc., a company focused on developing and
marketing products for the ear, nose and throat field, in April 2005. Prior to joining Restore Medical,
Mr. Paulson served as Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Marketing for Endocardial
Solutions, Inc. from August 2002 until March 2005, From 2001 to June of 2002, Mr. Paulson was the
Sr. Vice President and General Manager of the Auditory Division of Advanced Bionics Corporation, and
between 1995 and 2001, Mr. Paulson served in various capacities at Medtronic, Inc., including Vice
President and General Manager of the Surgical Navigation Technologies business unit; Vice President of
Corporate Strategy and Planning; and Director of Corporate Development. From 1988 to 1995,

Mr, Paulson held various marketing, business development and in-house counsel positions at General
Mills, Inc., and prior to that practiced law at the Minneapolis firm of Lindquist & Vennum. Mr. Paulson
has served on the board of directors of Vascular Solutions, Inc. since May 2005.

Dennis E. Steger, Vice President, Regulatory Affairs and Quality Assurance, joined MedicalCV in
September 2001 as Vice President, Quality Assurance. From August 1998 to August 2001, Mr. Steger was
Director Design Quality Assurance for Medtronic Perfusion Systems, where he was responsible for
controlling the development and transfer of new/modified products from research and development to
manufacturing. He also held the position of Director Regulatory Affairs/Quality Assurance & Clinical for
AVECOR Cardiovascular, Inc. from July 1991 to August 1998, where he was responsible for quality
systems, technical support, risk analysis, documentation, and regulatory affairs. He has also held senior
level management positions with Johnson & Johnson Cardiovascular, Extracorporeal Medical Specialties
and Tompkins Rubber Company.

Gary O. Tegan, Vice President, Marketing, joined MedicalCV in April 2006. Most recently, Mr. Tegan
served as the Vice President of Sales & Marketing for PneumRx, Inc. from September 2005 through
April 2006, where he developed and implemented the company’s sales and marketing strategy for its initial
product launch. From June 2004 to September 2005, he served as Vice President of Marketing at Curon
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Medical, Inc., a radiofrequency energy based company focused on the treatment of gastrointestinal
disorders. Prior to that, Mr. Tegan was the Director of Marketing for Coalescent Surgical, Inc. from

June 2001 to June 2004, where he helped develop its anastomotic device business using technology-based .
marketing techniques. Previously, Mr. Tegan held a series of senior sales and marketing positions at
United States Surgical and Starion Instruments.

Audit Committee Matters

We have a separately designated standing audit committee established in accordance with
Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Exchange Act. Susan L. Critzer, David B. Kaysen and J. Robert Paulson, Jr. are
the members of our audit committee. :

Under Nasdaq Marketplace Rules that would apply if our common stock were listed on Nasdaq, each
member of our audit committee would be required to (i) be independent as defined under Nasdaq
Marketplace Rule 4200(a)(15); (ii) meet the criteria for independence set forth in Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under
the Exchange Act; (iif) not have participated in the preparation of the financial statements of the company
or any current subsidiary of the company at any time during the past three years; and (iv) be able to read
and understand fundamental financial statements, including a company’s balance sheet, income statément,
and cash flow statement. Our board of directors has determined that Ms. Critzer and Messrs. Kaysen and
Paulson would meet these requirements. In addition, at least one member of our audit committee would
be required to have past employment experience in finance or accounting, requisite professional
certification in accounting, or other comparable experience or background which results in the individual’s
financial sophistication, including being or having been a chief executive officer, chief financial officer or
other senior officer with financial oversight responsibilities. Our board of directors has determined that at
least Ms. Critzer would meet this requirement.

Audit Committee Financial Expert

Our board of directors has determined that each of Susan L. Critzer and J. Robert Paulson, Jr. is an
“audit committee financial expert” as defined in Item 401(e) of Regulation S-B.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that is applicable to all of our employees,
officers (including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or
controller, and persons performing similar functions) and directors. Our Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics satisfies the requirements of Item 406(b) of Regulation S-B and the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules that
would apply if our common stock were listed on Nasdaq. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is
posted on our internet website at www.medcvinc.com and is available free of charge, upon written request
to our Chief Financial Officer at MedicalCV, Inc., 9725 South Robert Trail, Inver Grove Heights,

MN 55077. We intend to disclose any amendments to or waivers from a provision of our Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics that require disclosure on our website at www.medcvinc.com.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our officers, directors and persons who own more than
10 percent of a registered class of our equity securities to file reports of ownership and changes in
ownership with the SEC. Such officers, directors and shareholders are required by the SEC to furnish us
with copies of all such reports. To our knowledge, based solely on a review of copies of reports filed with
the SEC during the last fiscal year, all applicable Section 16(a) filing requirements were met, except that
(1) one report on Form 4 setting forth the December 22, 2005 exercise of outstanding warrants for the
purchase of common stock and our purchase of outstanding shares of 5% Series A Redeemable
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Convertible Preferred Stock from PKM Properties, LLC, an entity controlled by Paul K. Miller, one of our
directors, and one of the largest beneficial owners of our securities, (2) one report on Form 4 setting forth
the December 30, 2005 exercise of outstanding warrants for the purchase of common stock and our
purchase of outstanding shares of 5% Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock from Peter L.
Hauser, a principal shareholder, (3) one report on Form 3 setting forth the initial ownership on

December 28, 2005 of MedCap Partners, LP, one of our principal shareholders, (4) one report on Form 5
setting forth the December 27, 2005, December 28, 2005 and December 29, 2005 exercise of outstanding
warrants for the purchase of common stock and our purchase of outstanding shares of 5% Series A
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock from MedCap Partners, LP, one of our principal shareholders,
(5) one report on Form 4 setting forth the March 21, 2006 and March 22, 2006 purchases of common stock
by MedCap Partners; LP, one of our principal shareholders, and (6) one report on Form 3 setting forth the
initial ownership on January 17, 2006 of the Paul K. Miller Irrevocable Trust of 2005, were not filed on a
timely basis. With the exception of the Form 3 for the Paul K. Miller Irrevocable Trust of 2005, all such
forms for fiscal year 2006 were filed as of June 26, 2006. ‘

ITEM 10 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table sets forth information with respect to compensation paid by us to our highest paid
executive officers (the “Named Executive Officers”) for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2006.

Summary Compensation Table

Long-Term
) Compensation
Annugal Compensation Awards
Other Securities All Other
Fiscal Annual Underlying Compensation

Name and Principal Position(1) Year  Salary ($)(2) Bonus ($)  Compensation ($) Options £16)]

MarcP. Flores ........... 2006 - 223,696  66,750(4) 0 28,669 32,834(5)
President and Chief 2005 144,623 25,000 0 363,381 322
Executive Officer '

John H. Jungbauer. ....... 2006 199,992 0 0 0 132,871(6)
Vice President, Finance 2005 157,597 0 ‘ 0 144,012 1,188
and Chief Financial 2004 32,789 0 ‘ 0 0 95
Officer '

Adam L. Berman ......... 2006 175,798 25,000 0 7,167 44,417(7)
Vice President, Research 2005 104,321 0 0 74,506 1,200
and Development - ,

Robert W. Clapp ......... 2006 175,530 10,000 0 7,167 5,296
Vice President, 2005 107,690 0 0 75,659 1,689
Operations ‘

Dennis E. Steger.......... 2006 150,547 10,000 0 2,867 4,414
‘Vice President, 2005 121,732 0 0 21,502 3,124

0 4,048 3,773

Regulatory Affairs and - 2004 119,995 -0
Quality Assurance ‘

(1) Mr. Flores became our President and Chief Executive Officer in September 2004. Mr. Jungbauer
became our Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer in February 2004 and, in April 2006,
announced his intention to resign from our company. Mr. Jungbauer currently serves as our principal
financial officer and principal accounting officer. Mr. Berman became our Vice President, Research
and Development in September 2004. Mr. Clapp became our Vice President, Operations in
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(3)

4)

)

(6)

August 2004. Mr. Steger became our Vice Presndent Regulatory Affairs and Quality Assurance in
September 2001. .

We have entered into employment agreement with each of our Named Executive Officers. Annual
base salaries currently in effect under such employment agreements are as follows: Mr. Flores
($238,075), Mr. Jungbauer ($200,000), Mr. Berman ($185,500), Mr. Clapp (8182,000) and Mr. Steger
(8156,000).

Unless otherwise noted, these entries represent our payment of term life insurance premiums, long-
term disability insurance premiums and 401(k) savings and retirement plan company match
contributions in the amounts set forth below: :

401(k)

Term Long-term Savings and

N Life Disability Retirement

. Fiscal Insurance Insurance Plan Company
Name Year Premiums  Premiums  Match Contributions

MarcP. Flores ................. 2006 349 — 1,027
2005 322 C— —
John H. Jungbauer ............. 2006 145 1,083 2,769
2005 279 909 ‘ -
2004 22 73 ‘ —
Adam L. Berman............... 2006 258 - 4305
2005 258 — - 942
Robert W. Clapp............... 2006 131 976 4,189
2005 151 511 1,027
DennisE. Steger ............ N 2006 — 824 3,590
: ‘ 2005, — 732 . 2,392

2004 641 732 2,400

Under his employment agreement, Mr. Flores has an annual bonus potential of up to 30 percent of his
annual base salary based upon achievement of certain goals. ‘

In October 2005, we entered into a letter agreement with Mr. Flores that sets forth details regarding
our company’s agreement to reimburse Mr. Flores for certain expenses in connection with the sale of
his Nevada home, relocation expenses and expenses in connection with the establishment of a
Minnesota residence. Such agreement is described in “Employment Contracts and Termination of
Employment, and Change-in-Control Arrangements” below. Pursuant to such agreement, we paid
$16,458 of moving expenses and $15,000 of temporary housing expenses on behalf of Mr. Flores
during fiscal year 2006. These amounts are included in “All Other Compensation” above. To the
extent that such expense reimbursements are taxable to Mr. Flores, we have agreed to gross up the
amounts paid.

Previously, we reimbursed Mr. Flores for travel, meals and lodging associated with his commute from
his Incline Village, Nevada residence to our company’s headquarters in Inver Grover Heights,
Minnesota. A significant portion of Mr. Flores’ time was spent traveling on company business and we
would have incurrred business travel expenses regardless of the location of Mr. Flores’ home. The
reimbursements for Mr. Flores’ travel, meals and lodging expenses are not included in compensation.

In April 2006, we entered into an amendment to Mr. Jungbauer’s employment agreement pursuant to
which Mr. Jungbauer will receive severance payments totaling $200,000 and continuation of COBRA.
Severance of $125,000 and COBRA of $3,874 was earned and accrued i in fiscal year 2006. These
amounts are included in “All Other Compensation” above. Pursuant to the amendment, we agreed to
amend Mr. Jungbauer’s stock option agreements to provide that his options, to the extent vested on




the termination date, will be exercisable for a period of twelve months following the termination of
Mr. Jungbauer’s employment. In July 2006, we agreed to retroactively rescind the provision in the
amendment that provided Mr. Jungbauer twelve months following termination of employment to
exercise the vested portions thereof and revert to the original terms of the stock option agreements
that provide Mr. Jungbauer three months following termination of employment to exercise the vested
portions thereof. '

(7) In October 2005, our board of directors authorized the payment of Mr. Berman’s relocation expenses.
During fiscal year 2006, we paid $39,854 of such expenses for Mr. Berman. This amount is 1ncluded in
“All Other Compensation” above.

The following table sets forth information concerning grants of stock nptions during the fiscal year
ended April 30, 2006 to each Named Executive Officer. We granted no stock appreciation rlghts during
our last fiscal year.

Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year

Individual Grants

Number of Percent of

Securities Total Options .

Underlying Granted to Exercise

Options Employees in Price Expiration

Name Granted(l)  Fiscal Year(2)  ($/share) . Date
Marc P . FlOres . ..o 28,669 20.2 12.00 04/03/2013
John H. Jungbauer. ....... e 0 0 N/A N/A
AdamL.Berman ....... ..o - 7,167 5.0 12.00.  04/03/2013
Robert W.Clapp .....oovii i 7,167 - 50 12.00  04/03/2013
DPennisE.Steger. ... 2,867 2.0 12.00 . 04/03/2013

(1) Each such option vests to the extent of 25% on the first anniversary of the date of grant and 6.25%
quarterly thereafter.

(2) Based on an aggregate of 142,216 shares subject to options granted to our employees during the fiscal
year ended April 30, 2006.

The following table sets forth information concerning the options exercised by each Named Executive
Officer during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2006. It also sets forth information concerning wnexercised
options held by such persons as of April 30, 2006. No stock appreciation rights were exercised by such
persons during the last fiscal year or were outstanding at the end of that year.

Aggregated Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year End Option Values

Number of Securities

Shares } Underlying Unexercised " Value of Unexercised

Acquired Options at . In the Money Options
on Value Fiscal Year End -at Fiscal Year End ($)(1)

Name ) Exercise Realized ($) Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable

MarcP. Flores ........... 0 N/A 90,846 301,204 180,619 541,853
John H. Jungbaver........ -0 N/A 36,005 ‘ 108,007 67,733 203,194
AdamL.Berman......... 0 N/A 18,627 63,046 37,617 112,846
Robert W. Clapp ......... 0 N/A 18,916 63,910 - 33,867 101,596
Dennis E. Steger. ......... 0 N/A 12,624 19,793 11,290 33,865

(1) Represents the closing price of one share of common stock on the last trading day of the fiscal year
ended April 30, 2006, minus the per share exercise price of the option to purchase shares of common
stock.
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Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment, and Change-in-Control Arrangements

In August 2004, we entered into a letter agreement with Marc P. Flores. Under this agreement,
Mr. Flores agreed to serve as our President and Chief Executive Officer at an annual salary of $222,500
per yedr plus a bonus potential of $10,000 per quarter based upon achievement of certain goals. The
agreement provided that, subject to development and adoption of such plan by our board of directors and
approval of such award by our compensation committee, we would grant Mr. Flores a 20 percent interest
in a pool of 80,000 shares of restricted common stock. We also granted Mr. Flores a stock option to
purchase 19,347 shares of our common stock at a price of $11.50 per share. Such option vests over four
years and expires on August 30, 2014. In addition, we agreed to pay certain relecation expenses for
Mr. Flores. Effective April 1, 2005, in lieu of the above-referenced restricted stock award, the
compensation committee of our board of dlrectors awarded a non-qualified stock option for the purchase
of 344,034 shares of common stock to Mr Flores. This option was issued outside our employee benefit
plans. Such option vests to the extent of 25 percent on the first anniversary of the date of grant and
6.25 percent quarterly thereafter. It is exercisable at $8.90 per share. This option expires on April 1, 2012. .

On July 11, 2005, our board of directors approved certain compensation arrangements for two
executive officers, Marc P. Flores, our President and Chief Executive Officer, and John H. J ungbauer, then
our Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer. We have entered into written, at-will employment
agreements pursuant to which we continued the existing employment of these officers at their then current
base salary levels, $222,500 for Mr. Flores and $200,000 for Mr. Jungbauer. The employment agreement
with Mr. Flores supersedes the above-described letter agreement from August 2004. Under the
employment agreement, Mr. Flores now has a bonus potential of up to 30 percent of base salary ($66,750)
per year based upon achievement of certain goals. Each employment agreement provides that a severance
payment will be made if the employment of the officer is terminated by our company without cause, or by
the officer for good reason, including, but not limited to, a reduction of the officer’s compensation; a
reduction of authority and responsibility; a relocation of place of employment; or a breach of the
employment arrangement by our company. The severance payment to Mr. Flores would equal one year of
base salary, and the severance payment to Mr. Jungbauer would be six months of base salary; and, if at the
end of such six-month period, Mr. Jungbauer was not employed or engaged as an independent contractor,
we would pay him up to an additional six months of base salary until he is employed or engaged as an
independent contractor. In addition to payments of base salary, we have agreed to pay or reimburse these
officers for medical (COBRA) benefits for the péeriods covered by the severance payments. In addition, the
officers have agreed.to cerfain nondisclosure and inventions provisions and certain noncompetition and
nonrecruitment provisions during the term of employment and for a perlod of one year after termination
of employment. :

‘On October 24, 2005, we entered into a letter agreement with our Pr651dent and Chief Executive
Officer Marc P. Flores. The agreement set forth details regarding our company’s agreement to reimburse
Mr. Flores for certain expenses in connection with the sale of his Nevada home, relocation expenses and
expenses in connection with the establishment of a Minnesota residence. We entered into this letter
agreement because we determined that our outlay for reimbursement of travel and lodging expenses would
decline when Mr. Flores completes his move to Minnesota, but-Mr. Flores advised us that October was an
inopportune time to put his Nevada home on the market. To assist Mr. Flores with the financial burden of
maintaining a temporary Twin Cities residence, we have agreed to pay Mr. Flores, for a period of up to one
year, a supplemental payment of $2,500 per month (such payments to end November 1, 2006, or upon
Mr. Flores’ sale of his Nevada residence). We also agreed to reimburse Mr. Flores for the cost of
transporting his vehicles and household goods to the temporary Minnesota residence. In addition, if

- Mr. Flores sells his Nevada home on or before November 1, 2006, we agreed to pay for (1) packing,
transportation and delivery of household goods by a national freight carrier, (2) reasonable and customary
real estate closing costs of the sale of his Nevada home, and (3) reasonable and customary closing costs for




the purchase of his Minnesota residence. If the foregoing benefits result in additional taxable income to
Mr. Flores, we also agreed to gross up the benefits payable to Mr. Flores to cover such taxes. The
understanding set forth in the letter agreement supersedes all prior understandings and agreements
covering Mr. Flores’ relocation. The provisions set forth in the letter agreement will terminate upon

Mr. Flores’ termination, except to the extent that Mr. Flores has incurred or submitted a reimbursement
expense prior to such termination.

In April 2006, the compensation committee of our board of directors increased Mr. Flores’ annual
base salary to $238,075. Under his employment agreement, Mr. Flores has an annual bonus potential of up
to 30 percent of annual base salary based upon achievement of certain goals.

In August 2005, we entered into written, at-will employment agreements with Adam L. Berman,
Robert W. Clapp and Dennis E. Steger, each of whom was designated an “executive officer” by our board
of directors in September 2005. In November 2005, we entered into a written, at-will employment
agreement with James E. Jeter, who was designated an “executive officer” by our board of directors in
November 2005. In April 2006, we entered into a written, at-will employment agreement with Gary O.
Tegan, who was designated an “executive officer” by our board of directors in May 2006. Pursuant to the
employment agreements with Messrs. Berman, Clapp, Steger, Jeter and‘ Tegan, these employees have
current annual base salary levels of $175,000 for each of Messrs. Berman, Clapp and Tegan, $150,000 for
Mr. Steger and $125,000 for Mr. Jeter. Our executive officers are eligible to receive performance-based
cash bonuses. In addition, Mr. Jeter is eligible to receive bonuses, when our business plan objectives are
met, capped at 100 percent of his annual base salary. For the first three months of his employment, we
agreed to pay Mr. Jeter based on annual compensation of $175,000 per year (base and bonus). In each of
February 2006 and May 2006, we agreed to continue paying Mr. Jeter at the same fixed rate for an
additional three months. In May 2006, we entered into a written, at-will employment agreement with
Eapen Chacko, who joined our company on June 21, 2006, as Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial
Officer. Mr. Chacko will receive an annual base salary of $200,000 and is eligible to receive performance-
based cash bonuses. Each employment agreement provides that a severance payment will be made if the
employment of the employee is terminated by our company without cause, or by the employee for good
reason, including, but not limited to, a reduction of the employee’s compensation; a reduction of authority
and responsibility; a relocation of place of employment; or a breach of the employment agreement by our
company. The severance payment would be six months of base salary; and, if at the end of such six-month
period, the individual was not employed or engaged as an independent contractor, we would pay him up to
an additional six months of base salary until he is employed or engaged as an independent contractor. In
addition to payments of base salary, we have agreed to pay or reimburse these individuals for medical
(COBRA) benefits for the periods covered by the severance payments. In addition, these employees have
agreed to certain nondisclosure and inventions provisions and certain noncompetition and nonrecruitment
provisions during the term of employment and for a period of one year after termination of employment.

In October 2005, our board of directors authorized the payment of Mr. Berman’s relocation expenses.
During fiscal year 2006, we paid $39,854 of such expenses for Mr. Berman.

~ In April 2006, the compensation committee of our board of directors increased Mr. Berman’s annual
base salary to $185,500; increased Mr. Clapp’s annual base salary to $182,000; and increased Mr. Steger’s
annual base salary to $156,000.

In connection with the commencement of his employment, we granted Mr. Jeter a ten-year stock
option under our Amended and Restated 2001 Equity Incentive Plan to purchase 23,250 shares of
common stock at $8.40 per share with vesting of 25 percent on the first anniversary of the date of grant and
6.25 percent quarterly thereafter. In connection with the commencement of his employment, we granted
Mr. Tegan a ten-year stock option under our Amended and Restated 2001 Equity Incentive Plan to
purchase 25,000 shares of common stock at $10.50 per share with vesting of 25 percent on the first
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anniversary of the date of grant and 6.25 percent quarterly thereafter. In connection with the
commencement of his employment, we granted Mr. Chacko a ten-year stock option under our Amended
and Restated 2001 Equity Incentive Plan to purchase 91,229 shares of common stock at $5.95 per share
with vesting of 25 percent on the first anmversary of the date of grant and 6.25 percent quarterly
thereafter: - ‘

In April 2006, we entered into an amendment to our employment agreement with Mr. Jungbauer to
reflect the mutual decision reached concerning Mr. Jungbauer’s departure from our company. Pursuant to
the amendment, Mr. Jungbauer’s employment will terminate on the date we advise him that we have
engaged a new chief financial officer and/or principal accounting officer. We agreed, however, that the
actual date of termination of Mr. Jungbauer’s employment will be no earlier than July 31, 2006. We also
have the right, at our option, to extend Mr. Jungbauer’s‘employment (as a non- -officer) for a transition
period. Such transition period will not, without Mr. Jungbauer’s consent, continue beyond
December 31, 2006. Mr. Jungbauer’s compensation and benefits will continue to be paid under the’
employment agreement at their current rates through the termination date and any transition period.
Except for the severance payments described below, Mr. Jungbauer will no longer be eligible for bonus or
other incentive compensation. Under the terms of the employment agreement, Mr. Jungbauer has the
right to terminate his employment upon 60 days’ prior notice and is entitled to a severance payment equal
to six months of base compensation. Under the employment agreement, Mr. Jungbauer will receive a
severance payment of $100,000 on his termination date. To facilitate a smooth transition, we have agreed
to make an additional severance payment to Mr. Jungbauer. Under the amendment, Mr. Jungbauer will
receive an additional severance payment of $100,000 on January 2, 2007. In addition to these severance
payments, we have agreed to pay or reimburse Mr. Jungbauer for medical (COBRA) benefits for the
periods covered by the severance payments. Mr. Jungbauer holds stock options for the purchase of 144,012
shares of our common stock. His stock option agreements provide that he has three months following
termination of employment to exercise the vested portions thereof. Options to purchase 44,065 shares of
our common stock will be vested as of July 1, 2006. Pursuant to the amendment, we agreed to amend
Mr. Jungbauer’s stock option agreements to provide that his options, to the extent vested on the
termination date, will be exercisable for a period of twelve months following the termination of
Mr. Jungbauer’s employment. In July 2006, we agreed to retroactively rescind the provision in the
amendment that provided Mr. Jungbauer twelve months following termination of employment to exercise
the vested portions thereof and revert to the original terms of the stock option agreements that provide
Mr. Jungbauer three months following termination of employment to exercise the vested portions thereof.

Non-Employee Director Compensation

Through November 2003, our non-employee directors were entitled to receive automatic annual stock
option grants for the purchase of 700 shares under our 1993 Director Stock Option Plan. Between the
expiration of such plan and August 2004, automatic annual stock option grants for the purchase of
700 shares were made to our non-employee directors under our 2001 Equity Incentive Plan.

On March 21, 2005, we granted a stock option for the purchase of 5,000 shares of common stock to
each of David B. Kaysen and Susan L. Critzer for their service as non-employee directors. These options
were granted outside our shareholder-approved plans, were fully vested at the date of grant, and are
exercisable at $10.00 per share. These options expire on March 21, 2015.

On June 8§, 2005, our compensation committee adopted cash and equity-based compensatory
arrangements for non-employee directors. On August 3, 2005, our compensation committee made certain
revisions to the equity-based compensatory arrangements, which revisions are reflected in the following
discussion.
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Effective May 1, 2005, each non-employee director receives the followmg cash compensation for a full
year of service to our company (paid quarterly):

) Annual
Pesition . Retainer
Board Member (other than Board Chalrperson) ......................... $ 6,000
Board Chairperson . ... . L e e e ~.o. o $12,000
Audit Committee Member (other than Commlttee Chalrperson) .......... $ 500
Audit Committee ChairPerson . . ... ovvnut it it $ 2,000
Compensation Committee Member (other than Commlttee Chairperson).. § 500

Compensation Committee Chairperson ................oooveiiieno, .. $ 1,000

- Our directors are also reimbursed for certain reasonable expenses incurred in attending board
meetings.

In addition, each year, as of the date of the annual meeting of shareholders of our company,
commencing with the 2005 annual meeting of the shareholders, each eligible director who has been elected
or reelected or who is continuing as a member of the board as of the adjournment of the annual meeting,
automatically receives an option award in the amount of 5,000 shares (the “Annual Grant”) under our
2005 Director Stock Option Plan. In addition, each eligible director who is elected to the board other than
at an annual meeting of shareholders shall automatically receive an option award (the “Initial Award”)
under such plan. The number of shares to be covered by an Initial Award shall equal the nearest whole
number, rounded down, equal to (a) 5,000 shares multiplied by (b) the quotient obtained by dividing
(1) the number of whole weeks between the date of such person’s election of the board and the scheduled
date of the next annual meeting of shareholders and (2) 52 weeks. The date of an Initial Award shall be the
date of election of such person to the board. Pursuant to our 2005 Director Stock Option Plan, we granted
options for the purchase of 673 shares of common stock to each of Larry G. Haimovitch and J. Robert
Paulson, Jr. on August 3, 2005, and options for the purchase of 5,000 shares of common stock to each of
Susan L. Critzer, Larry G. Haimovitch, Lawrence L. Horsch, David B. Kaysen, Paul K. Miller and
J. Robert Paulson, Jr. on September 22, 2005.

In May 2006, our Board of Directors awarded non-qualified stock options for the purchase of 5,000
shares of common stock to each of Susan L. Critzer, Larry G. Haimovitch, Lawrence L. Horsch, David B.
Kaysen, Paul K. Miller and J. Robert Paulson, Jr. The foregoing options were issued to each of our non-
employee directors under our Amended and Restated 2001 Equity Incentive Plan. Such options vested
immediately. They are exercisable at $10.50 per share. These options expire on May 10, 2016.

Each non-employee director shall also automatically be granted the right to elect to receive additional
options in lieu of the amount of the director’s cash compensation (“Annual Retainer”), or a portion
thereof, for the year following election or reelection to, or continuation on, the board.

The Initial Awards, the Annual Grants and any options issued in lieu of the Annual Retainer have
ten-year terms and vest 100 percent on the first anniversary of the date of grant. The vesting of such
options accelerates in the event of a change of control of our company.

Directors who are also employees receive no remuneration for services as members of the board or
any board committee.
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"ITEM 11 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth certain information known to us regarding beneficial ownership of our
common stock as of June 26, 2006, by (a) each person who is known to us to own beneficially more than
five percent of our common stock, (b) each director, (c) each executive officer, and (d) all executive
officers and directors as a group. The percentage of beneficial ownership is based on 9,122,938 shares
outstanding as of June 26, 2006. As indicated in the footnotes, shares issuable pursuant to warrants and
options are deemed outstanding for computing the percentage of the person holding such warrants or
options but are not deemed outstanding for computing the percentage of any other person. Unless
otherwise noted, each person identified below has sole voting and investment power with respect to such
shares. Except as otherwise noted below, we know of no agreements among our shareholders which relate
to voting or investment power with respect to our common stock. Unless otherwise indicated, the address
for each listed shareholder is c/o MedicalCV, Inc., 9725 South Robert Trail, Inver Grove Heights,
Minnesota 55077.

Amount and
Nature of
Beneficial Percent

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner(1) Ownership(l) of Class(1)
MedCap Management and Research LLC .. .. ..o oo i . 1,856,050(2) 20.3%

500 Third St., Ste 535 '

San Francisco, CA 94107-6809 .
Paul K. Miller. ... ..oo et F D DR 1,754,362(3) 18.3%
SF Capital Partners, Led. . .. ... oo e, S 1,373,100(4) 151%

c/o Stark Offshore Man agement, LLC

3600 S Lake Dr.

St. Francis, W1 53235-3716 ‘
Paul K. Miller Irrevocable Trust of 2005. ... .. ..o oot L P 1,139,226 12.5%

606 24th Avenue South, Suite B12

Minneapolis, MN 55454 . .
WhItebox AdVisors, LLC. ...\ttt et e e et et 1,126,654(5) 12.3%

3033 Excelsior Blvd., Ste 300

Minneapolis, MN 55416 ] )
MedCap Partners, L.P. .. ... oot e 1,101,007(2) 12.1%

500 Third St., Ste 535

San Francisco, CA 94107-6809
Millennium Partners, LP. . .. oL o e e 903,430(6) 9.9%

¢fo Millennium Management, L.L.C.

666 Fifth Ave., 8th FI

New York, NY 10103-0899 :
MedCapMaster Fund, LP........... . oo R R 755,043(2) 8.3%

500 Third St., Ste 535

San Francisco, CA 94107-6809
Perkins Capital Management, INC. . .« ... o uor it e 548,333(7) 5.9%

730 East Lake Street Lo

Wayzata, MN 55391 } . .
Peter Lo HAUSET. « . .\ i e ettt e 535,477(8) 5.8%

16913 Kings Court '

Lakeville, Minnesota 55044 .
Marc PLFIOTES © o\t v et e e e 115,346(9) 1.2%
Lawrence L HOISCh ..ot o i e e - 52,791(10) *
John HoJUngbauer . ..o e e 49,065(11) *
Larry G. Haimovitch . . ... ..o oo P 39,735(12) *
RODETE W. CHPD. « - o e et oot ettt e et e e 26,734(13) *
Adam L. Berman . ........ .. PN PP 23,908(14) *
SUSAN Lo CIMZET . . ottt ettt et et e e e e e e 15,100(15) *
Dennis E. SIEEeT. . o oo oot e 14,967(16) *
David B. Kaysen ... ..o e 12,100(17) *
J U RObErt Paulson, Jo. . oottt e e e e 5,000(17) *
JaAMIES B JEtET. « o oo e e e e e e e e 1,290 *
Eapen Chacko . ... .o e 0 0
Gary O. TCRAN .. oottt e e e 0 0
All current directors and executive officers as a group (14 persons) . .. ... i o 2,110,398(18) 21.4%
* Less than one percent.
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Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and includes voting or investment power with respect to securities.
Securities “beneficially owned” by a person may include securities owned by or for, among others, the spouse, children, or certain other relatives
of such person as well as other securities as to which the person has or shares voting or investment power or has the option or right to acquire
within 60 days of June 26, 2006. Shares beneficially owned reflect the one-for-ten reverse stock split of our common stock and preferred stock
effective May 31, 2006. C

Based solely upon the Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on April 7, 2006. As set forth in the Schedule 13G, as supplemented by the Form 4 filed
with the SEC on May 2, 2006, Medcap Management & Research LLC (“MMR™) as general partner and investment manager of MedCap
Partners L.P. and MedCap Master Fund L.P. and C. Fred Toney as managing member of MMR may be deemed to beneficially own the shares
owned by MedCap Partners and MedCap Master Fund in that they may be deemed to have the power to direct the voting or disposition of the
shares. Neither the filing of the Schedule 13G nor any of its contents is deemed to constitute an admission that either MMR or Mr. Toney is, for
any purpose, the beneficial owner of any securities to which the Schedule 13G relates, and MMR and Mr. Toney disclaim beneficial ownership as
to the securities reported in the Schedule 13G, except to the extent of their respective pecuniary interests therein.

Represents (a) 146,758 shares, (b) 12,000 shares owned by Gracon Contracting Co., an entity over which Mr. Miller exercises control, (c) 7,800
shares purchasable upon the exercise of options, (d) 448,128 shares purchasable upon the exercise of warrants held by PKM Properties, LLC, an
entity over which Mr. Miller exercises control, (¢) 1,139,226 shares held by the Paul K. Miller Irrevocable Trust of 2005, of which Mr. Miller is the
sole beneficiary, and (f) 450 shares owned by Mr. Miller’s spouse.

Based solely upon the Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on April 8, 2005. As set forth in the Schedule 13G, Michael A. Roth and Brian'J. Stark are
the Managing Members of Stark Offshore Management, LLC (“Stark Offshore™), which acts as investment manager and has sole power to direct
the management of SF Capital Partners Ltd. Through Stark Offshore, Messrs. Roth and Stark possess voting and dispositive power over all of the
shares to which the Schedule 13G relates. Messrs. Roth and Stark disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares.

Represents (a) 345,985 shares held by Whitebox Hedged High Yield Partners, L.P. (“WHHYP”), (b) 320,922 shares held by Whitebox
Intermarket Partners, L.P. (“WIP”), (c) 201,724 shares held by Pandora Select Partners (“PSP”), (d) 185,837 shares held by Whitebox Convertibie
Arbitrage Partners, L.P. ("WCAP”), () 56,590 shares held by GPC LIX, LLC, and (f) 15,596 shares held by Guggenheim Portfolio

Company XXXI, LLC. Whitebox Advisors, LLC (“WA”) is the investment advisor for GPC LIX, LLC and Guggenheim Portfolio

Company XXXI, LLC. WA, the managing member of each of (i) Whitebox Hedged High Yield Advisors, LLC (“WHHYA™), (ii) Whitebox
Intermarket Advisors, LLC (“WIA™), (iii) Pandora Select Advisors, LLC (“PSA”) and (iv) Whitebox Convertible Arbitrage Advisors, LLC
(“WCAA™), has the power to direct the affairs of each of WHHYA, WIA, PSA and WCAA. WHHYA, WIA, PSA and WCAA manage accounts
for the benefit of its respective clients WHHYP, WIP, PSP and WCAP. As a result of these relationships, WA may be deemed to have indirect
beneficial ownership of the shares of common stock beneficially owned by each of WHHYP, WIP, PSP, WCAP, GPC LIX, LLC and Guggenheim
Portfolio Company XXXI, LLC.

The managing partner of Millennium Partners, L.P., a Cayman Islands exempted limited parlhership (“Millennium Partners™), is Millennium
Management, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company (“Millennium Management”), and consequently may be deemed to have voting control
and investment discretion over securities owned by Millennium Partners. Israel A. Englander is the managing member of Millennium
Management. As a result, Mr. Englander may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of any shares deemed to be beneficially owned by Millennium
Management. The foregoing should not be construed in and of itself as an admission by either of Millennium Management or Mr. Englander as to
beneficial ownership of the shares owned by Millennium Partners. Millennium Partners is a limited partner of Millenco, L.P., a Delaware limited
partnership and a registered broker-dealer, and is affiliated with two other broker-dealer entities.

Includes 98,550 shares purchasable upon the exercise of warrants.
Represents (a) 386,907 shares, (b) 16,740 shares held by Mr. Hauser’s IRA, and (c) 131,830 shares purchasable upon the exercise of warrants.
Represents (a) 3,000 shares and (b) 112,346 shares purchasable upon the exercise of options.

Represents (a) 11,571 shares, (b) 3,000 shares purchasable upon the exercise of warrants, and (c) 38,220 shares purchasable upon the exercise of
options.

Represents (a) 2,500 shares, (b) 2,500 shares purchasable upon the exercise of warrants, and (c) 44,065 shares purchasable upon the exercise of
options.

Represents (a) 34,735 shares held by The Haimovitch 2000 Separate Property Revocable Trust and (b) 5,000 shares purchasable upon the exercise
of options.

Represents (a) 1,000 shares and (b) 25,734 shares purchasable upon the exercise of options.
Represents (a) 1,250 shares and (b) 22,658 shares purchasable upon the exercise of options.
Represents (a) 3,000 shares and (b) 12,100 shares purchasable upon the exercise of options.
Represents (a) 1,000 shares and (b) 13,967 shares purchasable upon the exercise of options.
Represents shares purchasable upon the exercise of options.

Represents (a) 1,357,780 shares, (b) 453,628 shares purchasable upon the exercise of warrants, and (c) 298,990 shares purchasable upon the
exercise of options. ‘
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Equlty Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal year with
respect to compensation plans under which our equity securities are authorized for issuance.

Number of securities
remaining available
o o for future issuance
Number of securities Weighted-average under equity

to be issued upon exercise price of compensation
" exercise of © - outstanding plans (excluding
outstanding options,- options, warrants - securities reflected in
) warrants and rights and nghts column (a))

Plan category ' @ - b) (©)
Equity compensation plans approved by o L ‘ '

security holders ........................ S 257,192 . $11.69 497,883(1)
Equity compensatien plans not approved by ‘ ‘

security holders ........................ 1,482,983(2). - § 757 —
Total........ e 1,740,175 . % 817 . 497,883

(1) Represents 6,359 shares remaining available for future issuance under our 1997 Stock Option Plan
422,870 shares remaining available for future issuance under our Amended and Restated 2001 Equity
Incentive Plan, and 68,654 shares remaining available for future issuance under our 2005 Director
Stock Optlon Plan ‘

(2) Represents (a) 59,600 shares of common stock underlymg a ten- year warrant exercisable at $3.50 per
share issued to Paul K. Miller in connection with the January 2003 Discretionary Credit Agreement
with PKM, which warrant expires on January 17, 2013, (b) 60,763 shares of common stock underlying
a ten-year warrant exercisable at $3.60 per share issued to Paul K. Miller'in connection with a sale-
leaseback transaction entered into on April 4, 2003, which warrant expires on April 4, 2013, (c) 5,000
shares of common stock underlying a seven-year warrant exercisable at $29.50 per share issued to
Segmed Inc. in connection with a purchase of technology, which warrants expire on August 7, 2009,
(d) 15,000 shares of common stock underlying a five-year warrant exercisable at $67.50 per share
issued to Equity Securities Investments, Inc. in connection with its services as underwriter of our
initial public offering, which warrant expires-on November 20, 2006, (e) 73,958 shares of common
stock underlying a ten-year warrant exercisable at $3.60 per share issued to Peter L. Hauser in
connection with a July 2003 financing, which warrant expires on July 1, 2013, (f) 73,957 shares of.
common stock underlying a ten-year warrant exercisable at $3.60 per share issued to PKM in

‘connection with the May 2003 Discretionary Credit Agreement, which warrant expires to the extent of
62,256 shares on July 1, 2013 and 11,701 shares on August 20, 2013, (g) 5,000 shares of common stock
underlying seven-year warrants exercisable at $14.60 per share issued to LightWave Ablation
Systems, Inc. in connection with a purchase of technology, which warrants expire to the extent of 2,500
shares on August 27, 2010 and 2,500 shares on December 1, 2011, (h) 28,888 shares of common stock
underlying a ten-year warrant exercisable at $4.50 per share issued to PKM in connection with the
November 2003 Credit Agreement, which warrant expires on November 13, 2013, (i).30,230 shares of
common stock underlying a ten-year warrant exercisable at $4.30 per share issued to Draft Co. in
consideration of a loan agreement with Draft Co., which warrant expires on November 24, 2013,

(j) 140,822 shares of common stock underlying a ten-year warrant exercisable at $4.70 per share issued
to PKM in connection with a November 2003 extension of the maturity date of an existing
discretionary credit agreement, which warrant expires on February 3, 2014, (k) 57,872 shares of
common stock underlying a ten-year warrant exercisable at $4.70 per share issued to Peter L. Hauser
in connection with the extension of the maturity date of the $1.0 million financing provided by

Mr. Hauser, which warrant expires February 3, 2014, (1) 11,363 shares of common stock underlying a
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ten-year warrant exercisable at $4.40 per share issued to PKM in connection with the October 2004
Discretionary Credit Agreement, which warrant expires on November 17, 2014, (m) 10,000 shares of
common stock underlying a ten-year stock option exercisable at §7.00 per share granted to

Lawrence L. Horsch in August 2003, which option expires on August 19, 2013, (n) 2,500 shares of
common stock underlying a five-year stock option exercisable at $13.00 per share granted to Blair P.
Mowery in August 2004, which option expires on August 26, 2009, (0) 5,000 shares of common stock
underlying a ten-year stock option exercisable at $10.00 per share granted to each of Susan L. Critzer
and David B. Kaysen in March 2003, which options expires on March 21, 2015, (p) 623,561 shares of
common stock underlying seven-year stock options exercisable at $8.90 per share granted outside our
stock option plans to members of management, which options expire on April 1, 2015, (q) 48,187 units
underlying a five-year warrant exercisable at $4.70 per unit issued to Feltl & Company in connection
with its services as our agent in our 2004 private placement, each unit consisting of one share of
common stock and a warrant to purchase a share of our common stock at $18.375 per share, which
warrant expires on May 21, 2009, (r) 110,291 shares of common stock underlying a ten-year warrant
exercisable at $3.40 per share originally issued to PKM in consideration of a February 2005 Credit
Agreement, which warrant expires on March 3, 2015, (s) 40,996 shares of common stock underlying a
five-year warrant exercisable at $3.25 per share issued to Tower Finance Ltd. in connection with its
services as a finder in our 2005 private placement, which warrant expires on April 1, 2010, (t) 6,800
shares of common stock underlying a five-year warrant exercisable at $6.25 per share issued to Tower
Finance Ltd. in connection with its services as a finder in our January 2005 bridge financing, which
warrant expires on January 13, 2010, and (u) an aggregate of 20,008 shares of common stock
underlying warrants exercisable at $18.375 per share issued to Tower Finance Ltd., which warrants
expire on April 30, 2009.

ITEM 12 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
Agreements with Lawrence L. Horsch

Effective August 19, 2003, we entered into a letter agreement with Lawrence L. Horsch, who became
one of our directors in August 2003, who served as Chairman of the Board from August 2003 to
September 2005, and who served as our Acting Chief Executive Officer from April 2004 to August 2004.
Pursuant to this agreement, Mr. Horsch agreed to provide 32 hours of service per month as Chairman for a
retainer of $60,000 per year. Pursuant to the agreement, Mr. Horsch agreed to purchase 8,571 shares of
common stock from our company at a price of $7.00 per share. As additional consideration, we issued a -
ten-year option to Mr. Horsch for the purchase of 10,000 shares of common stock exercisable at $7.00 per
share. This option vests in full upon the fourth anniversary of the date of grant. However, this vesting was
accelerated to the extent of two-thirds of the shares purchasable under the option because of certain
advances in product development and achievement of certain stock performance. Mr. Horsch has orally
agreed to relinquish options for the purchase of 3,333 shares of common stock because one milestone
under the applicable option agreement, which would have accelerated the vesting of such option to the
extent of 3,333 shares of common stock had it been achieved, was not achieved. Our board of directors
ceased paying the $60,000 per year retainer effective March 31, 2005.

On April 16, 2004, we entered into an arrangement with Mr. Horsch to compensate him for the extra
hours he worked beyond the 32 hours per month agreed upon in the August 19, 2003 letter agreement.
Pursuant to this arrangement, Mr. Horsch has been granted (1) a ten-year option to purchase 4,464 shares
of common stock at $16.80 per share, (2) a ten-year option to purchase 14,985 shares of common stock at
$16.70 per share, and (3) a ten-year option to purchase 6,205 shares of common stock at $20.00 per share.
The number of shares of common stock purchasable pursuant to such options is the value of the hours (at
$150 per hour) divided by 0.3 with the result divided by the exercise price. These options represent
payment for the additional hours of service rendered to our company from February 19, 2004, to
December 31, 2004. :
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Mr. Horsch resigned from the position of Chairman of the Board at the commencement of the 2005
annual meeting of shareholders, but remains a director of our company.

Arrangements and Transactions with PKM Properties, LL.C

Credit Agreements. ‘To meet critical working capital shortages in recent fiscal years, we
established the following credit agreements with PKM Properties, LLC (“PKM?”}, an entity controlled by
Paul K. Miller, one of our directors, and one of the largest beneficial owners of our securities. While
outstanding, the amounts borrowed from PKM were collateralized by substantially alf of our assets.

X Interest Amount
Date - . Nature of Financing Rate Borrowed Disposition
January2003................. Discretionary Credit Agreement  10.0%  $943,666  Converted
May2003.................... Discretionary Credit Agreement  10.0%  $935,000(1) Converted
November 2003............... Credit Agreement . 10.0% . $500,000  Converted
April2004 ... ...l Short-Term Note 10.0%  $140,250(1) Repaid
October 2004. . ............... Discretionary Credit Agreement  10.0% $500,000  Converted
February2005................ .. Credit Agreement 10.0% $500,000  Repaid

(1) Represents amount borrowed less a placement fee of 6.5 percent of such amount.
During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2005, we made interest payments to PKM of $164,104.

We entered into debt conversion agreements as of April 1, 2003, with certain debt holders for the
conversion of an aggregate of $4,402,000 of debt into equity securities. Pursuant to one such agreement,
PKM converted $2,968,678 of outstanding indebtedness into 297 shares of 5% Series A Redeemable
Convertible Preferred Stock at a stated value of $10,000 per share. Each share of preferred stock was
convertible into the number of shares of common stock equal to the stated value divided by $5.00, subject
to anti-dilution adjustments. The terms of the preferred stock included dividend, protective, liquidation
and conversion rights. In December 2005, we purchased such preferred stock from PKM in consideration
of the issuance of 913,253 shares of common stock. For further information, please review “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation—Liquidity and Capital Resources.” The preferred stock sold
to PKM was issued along with a warrant to purchase 445,200 shares of common stock. The warrant had a
term of five years and was originally exercisable at $5.00 per share, subject to anti-dilution adjustments. In
December 2005, PKM exercised such warrant on a net exercise basis, using an exercise price of $3.25 per
share and a market price of $6.60 per share, resulting in the issuance of 225,972 shares of common stock.
For further information, please review “Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation—
Liquidity and Capital Resources.” In April 2004, we repaid in full the April 2004 Short-Term Note. In
April 2005, we repaid in full the February 2005 Credit Agreement. As a result, we fully repaid our
indebtedness to PKM. .




As additional consideration for the foregoing credit agreements, we issued the following warrants to
PKM with terms and conditions that included weighted-average anti-dilution rights and certain rights to
require registration of the common stock underlying the warrants under federal and state securities laws.
The exercise prices and the number of shares purchasable under such warrants have adjusted pursuant to
the anti-dilution provisions thereof. Such adjusted numbers are also presented below There were no
warrants issued to PKM in connection with the April 2004 Short-Term Note.

Original Original Adjusted Adjusted

Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
Date Term Shares Price Shares Price
January 2003 ... ... Ten-Year 35,000 $ 596 59,600 $3.50
May2003 ... .o o Ten-Year 38,034 $ 7.00 73,957 $3.60
November2003. .. ... coveiiieniren.nn, Ten-Year 7,738 -+ $16.80 28,888 $4.50
November 2003 (extension) . .............. Ten-Year 33,093 - $20.00 140,822 $4.70
October 2004............. S Ten-Year 3,401 $14.70 11,363 $4.40
February2005........ ...l Ten-Year 49,459 $ 5.00 72,734(1)  $3.40

(1) Represents the adjusted number of shares purchasable by PKM under such warrant following PKM’s
reallocation of warrants for the purchase of 37,557 shares to third parties.

In addition to the foregoing warrants we made the following payments to PKM in connection with the
credit agreements:

e Placement fee of 6.5 percent of the amount borrowed under the May 2003 Discretionary Credit
Agreement

¢ $56,404 in fees and expenses incurred on n behalf of PKM in connection with the May 2003
Discretionary Credit Agreement

¢ Placement fee of 6.5 percent of the amount borrowed under the April 2004 Short-Term Note

e $32,113 in fees.and expenses incurred on behalf of PKM in connection with the October 2004
Discretionary Credit Agreement

e $19,143 in legal and administrative expenses incurred by PKM in connection with the February 2005
Credit Agreement ‘

s $18,086 in fees and expenses incurred on behalf of PKM in cbnnectio‘n with the Debt Conversion
Agreement

Financing Transaction and Lease. On April 4, 2003, we sold our real estate, including real property
and office-warehouse-manufacturing facility, together with certain personal property related thereto, to
PKM. The purchase price for the property was $3.84 million, paid with (1) $1.0 million in cash (subject to
certain reductions, prorations and credits), (2) PKM’s assumption of a mortgage note against the property
in the amount of $2.5 million in favor of Associated Bank Minnesota, dated November 23, 1999, and
(3) PKM’s assumption of our promissory note with Dakota Electric Association and land special
assessments payable to Dakota County aggregating $336,105. As additional consideration, we issued to
PKM a ten-year warrant for the purchase of 35,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of
$6.25 per share. As a result of anti-dilution adjustments through April 30, 2006, this warrant is exercisable
for 60,763 shares at $3.60 per share.

Concurrent with the sale of the property, we entered into a ten-year lease for the property with a base
annual rent of $360,000 for the first and second year; $370,800 per year for the third, fourth and fifth year,
and $389,340 for the remaining years of the lease subject to an increase for additional interest payable by
PKM on its long-term permanent financing of the property, which may increase base monthly rents by up
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to one-twelfth of the additional annual interest payable by PKM. Assuming we are not in default under the
terms of the lease, we have two options to extend the lease for five-year periods upon expiration of the
initial ten-year term at a market rate. We also pay under the lease operating costs and real estate taxes.

Under certain conditions, we also have an option to purchase the building at the end of the initial
ten-year term at the fair value at that time. The purpose of the transaction was to retire our bank debt and
provide us with additional required working capital.

On June 29, 2005, we entered into alease termination agreement with PKM. In order to induce PKM,
the landlord of our corporate headquarters, to attempt to sell or lease the property to a third party and to
terminate the lease with our company, we agreed, among other things, to reimburse PKM for all costs and
expenses relating to the lease or the sale of the property, and to termination of the lease on not less than
120 days’ notice. We also agreed that, if we request the landlord to accept less than its minimum required
net sale proceeds, we would pay a lease termination fee equal to the difference between the landlord’s
minimum net sale proceeds and the actual net sale proceeds. We also agreed to pay a lease termination fee
if the landlord re-leases the property on economic terms and conditions less desirable than those of the
existing lease. :

During the fiscal years ended April 30, 2006 and 2005, we made lease payments to PKM of $496,136
and $451,013, respectively.

Transactions with Other Five Percent Owners

In July 2003, we entered into a loan agreement and borrowed $1.0 million from Peter L. Hauser, an
existing shareholder, pursuant to a subordinated note with an interest rate of 10 percent per year. While
outstanding, the amount borrowed from Mr. Hauser was collateralized by substantially all of our assets.
We issued to Mr. Hauser a ten-year warrant for the purchase of 38,035 shares of our common stock on
terms comparable to the warrants issued to PKM in connection with the May 2003 Discretionary Credit
Agreement. As a result of anti-dilution adjustments through April 30, 2006, this warrant is exercisable for
73,958 shares at $3.60 per share. In February 2004, the maturity date of this loan was extended to June 30,
2005. In connection with the extension, we issued a warrant with a ten-year term to purchase up to
13,600 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $20.00 per share. As a result of antj-dilution
adjustments through April 30, 2006, this warrant is exercisable for 57,872 shares at $4.70 per share.

We entered into debt conversion agreements as of April 1, 2005, with certain existing debt holders for
the conversion of an aggregate of $4,402,000 of debt into equity securities. Pursuant to one such
agreement, Mr, Hauser converted $1,008,611 of outstanding indebtedness into 100 shares of 5% Series A
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock at a stated value of $10,000 per share. Each share of preferred
stock was convertible into the number of shares of common stock equal to the stated value divided by
$5.00, subject to anti-dilution adjustments. The terms of the preferred stock included dividend, protective,
liquidation and conversion rights. In December 2005 and January 2006, we repurchased all of our
outstanding preferred stock, including shares held by Mr. Hauser and shares held by SF Capital Partners
Ltd., MedCap Partners, L.P., Millennium Partners, L.P. and MedCap Master Fund, L.P., other beneficial
owrners of more than five percent of our common stock. For further information, please review
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation—Liquidity and Capital Resources.” The
preferred stock sold to these investors was issued along with warrants to purchase a number of shares of
common stock equal to 75% of the number of shares originally issuable upon conversion of their preferred

stock. These warrants had a term of five years and were originally exercisable at $5.00 per share, subject to
anti-dilution adjustments. In December 2005 and January 2006, all of the common stock purchase warrants
issued with the preferred stock, including those held by the above-referenced shareholders, were exercised
at $3.25 per share. Mr. Hauser exercised his warrant on a net exercise basis, using an exercise price of




$3.25 per shdre and a market price of $6.60 per share. For further information, please review
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation—Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

Employment Agreements

We have employment agreements with Marc P. Flores, our President, Chief Executive Officer and
one of our directors, John H. Jungbauer, our principal financial officer and principal accounting officer,
Adam L. Berman, our Vice President, Research and Development, Robert W. Clapp, our Vice President,
Operations, Dennis E. Steger, our Vice President, Regulatory Affairs and Quality Assurance, James E.
Jeter, our Vice President, Sales, Gary O. Tegan, our Vice President, Marketing, and Eapen Chacko, who
joined our company as Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer. You should review “Executive
Compensation—Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment, and Change-in-Control
Arrangements” for more information about such agreements.

Director Options

In March 2005, we granted a stock option for the purchase of 5,000 shares of common stock to
David B. Kaysen and we granted a stock option for the purchase of 5,000 shares of common stock to
Susan L. Critzer. Mr. Kaysen and Ms. Critzer are two of our non-employee directors. These options were
granted outside our shareholder-approved plans, they were 100 percent vested at the date of grant, and
they are exercisable at $10.00 per share. These options-expire on March 21, 2015,

Pursuant to our 2005 Director Stock Option Plan, we granted“ options for the purchase of 673 shares,
of common stock, exercisable at $8.00 per share, to each of Larry G. Haimovitch and J. Robert Paulson, Jr.
on August 3, 2005, and options for the purchase of 5,000 shares of common stock, exercisable at $7.40 per
share, to each of Susan L. Critzer, Larry G. Haimovitch, Lawrence L. Horsch, David B. Kaysen,

Paul K. Miller and J. Robert Paulson, Jr. on September 22, 2005. These awards have ten-year terms and
vest 100 percent on the first anniversary of the date of grant. The vesting of such options accelerates in the
event of a change of control of our company.

In May 2006, we awarded non-qualified stock options for the purchase of 5,000 shares of common
stock to each of Susan L. Critzer, Larry G. Haimovitch, Lawrence L. Horsch, David B. Kaysen, Paul K.
Miller and J. Robert Paulson, Jr. The foregoing options were issued to each of our non-employee directors
under our Amended and Restated 2001 Equity Incentive Plan. Such options vested immediately. They are
exercisable at $10.50 per share. These options expire on May 10, 2016.

Management Options

Effective April 1, 2005, we awarded (1) a non-qualified stock option for the purchase of
344,034 shares of common stock to Marc P. Flores, our President and Chief Executive Officer, (2) a
non-qualified stock option for the purchase of 129,013 shares of common stock to John H. Jungbauer, our
principal financial officer and principal accounting officer, (3) a non-qualified stock option for the
purchase of 64,506 shares of common stock to Adam L. Berman, our Vice President, Research and
Development, (4) a non-qualified stock option for the purchase of 64,506 shares of common stock to
Robert W. Clapp, our Vice President, Operations, (5) a non-qualified stock option for the purchase of
21,502 shares of common stock to Dennis E. Steger, our Vice President, Regulatory Affairs and Quality
Assurance, and (6) a non-qualified stock option for the purchase of 43,004 shares of common stock to a
former employee. The foregoing options were issued outside our employee benefit plans. Such options vest
to the extent of 25 percent on the first anniversary of the date of grant and 6.25 percent quarterly
thereafter. They are exercisable at $8.90 per share. These options expire on April 1, 2012.

In April 2006, we awarded (1) a non-qualified stock option for the purchase of 28,669 shares of
common stock to Mr. Flores, (2) a non-qualified stock option for the purchase of 7,167 shares of common
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stock to Adam L. Berman, our Vice President, Research and Development, (3) a non-qualified stock
option for the purchase of 7,167 shargs of common stock to Robert W. Clapp, our Vice President,
Operations, and (4) a non-qualified stock option for the purchase of 2,867 shares of common stock to
Dennis E. Steger, our Vice President, Regulatory Affairs and Quality Assurance. The foregoing options
were issued under our Amended and Restated 2001 Equity Incentive Plan. Such options vest to the extent
of 25 percent on the first anniversary of the date of grant and 6.25 percent quarterly thereafter. They are
exercisable at $12.00 per share and expire on Apﬁl 3,2013.

- We have also awarded options to James E. Jeter, our Vice President, Sales, Gary O. Tegan, our Vice
President, Marketing, and Eapen Chacko, our Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer. You
should review “Executive Compensation—Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment, and
Change-in-Control Arrangements” for more information about such options.

Related Party Distributor

Prior to our exit from the heart valve business, we sold heart valves through a distribution network of
37 exclusive distributors, including Mercé v. Electromedicina, S.L.. The Managing and General Director of
Mercé v. Electromedicina, Salvador Mercé Cervelld, is one of our former board members. During the
fiscal year ended April 30, 2005, such distributor made net purchases of product from our company equal
to approximately 42.4 percent of our net sales, respectively. Our accounts receivable with this distributor
.accounted for approximately 54.4 percent of our accounts receivable at April 30, 2005. Obligations to us
from this distributor are unsecured. Durmg the quarter ended January 31, 2005, in an effort to raise
$250,000 in cash to continue operatlons ‘we sold 400 heart valves at a fifty-five percent discount to
Mercé v. Electromedicina.

General

The transactions set forth herein were approved by a majority of our independent, disinterested
directors who had access, at our expense, to our legal counsel or independent legal counsel. We believe
that all such transactions were made on terms no less favorable to us than we could have obtained from
unaffiliated third parties. In the future, all material affiliated transactions will be approved by a majority of
our independent, disinterested directors who will have access, at our expense, to our legal counsel or
independent legal counsel and w111 be on terms no less favorab]e to us than we could obtain from
unaffiliated third parties.

ITEM 13 'EXHIBITS
See “Index to Exhibits.”




ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Audit and Non-Audit Fees

The following table presents fees for audit and other services provided by PwC in fiscal year 2005 and
LBL in fiscal year 2006. Fees for audit and other services provided by PwC in fiscal year 2006 as a ‘
non-principal accountant of $156,184 are excluded from the following table.

Year Ended
April 30,2005 April 30, 2006
Auditfees(l) ... oot $145,395 $170,509
Audit-related fees(2). ............ ..o 14,062 16,940
Taxfees(3) ..o 0 4,200
Allotherfees ..o e e 0 0
Total Fees... .. A SO $159,457 $191,649

(1) Audit fees consist of fees for services provided-in connection with the audit of our financial
statements, reviews of our quarterly financial statements, and services that are normally provided in
connection with statutory and regulatory filings.

(2) Audit-related fees consist of assurance and related services that include, but are not limited to,
consultation concerning financial accounting and reporting standards.

(3) Tax fees consist of fees for services provided in connection with the preparation of tax returns.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

All services provided by our independent auditors are subject to pre-approval by the audit committee
of our board of directors. The audit committee has authorized each of its members to approve services by
our independent auditors in the event there is a need for such approval prior to the next full audit
committee meeting. Any interim approval given by an audit committee member must be reported to the
audit committee no later than its next scheduled meeting. Before granting any approval, the audit
committee (or a committee member if applicable) gives due consideration to whether approval of the
proposed service will have a detrimental impact on our auditor’s independence. The audit committee
pre-approved all services provided by PwC in the fiscal year ended April 30, 2005, and all services provided
by LBL in the fiscal year ended April 30, 2006.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the registrant caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Inver Grove Heights,
State of Minnesota, on July 20, 2006 C .

MEDICALCV, INC.

By /s/ MARCP. FLORES

Marc P. Flores, President, Chief Executzve Officer
and Director (Principal Executive Officer)

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENT, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes
and appoints Marc P. Flores and Eapen Chacko as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent,
with full powers of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead,
in any and all eapacities, to sign any or all amendments to this report, and to file the same, with all exhibits
thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the SEC, granting unto said attorney-in-fact
and agent, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite or necessary
to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in
person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his or her substitute or
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

In accordance with the Exchange Act, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant, and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

" Signature | :_l‘gli Date
/s/ MARC P. FLORES ' President, Chief Executive Officer and July 20, 2006

Marc P. Flores Director (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ JOBN H. JUNGBAUER B |

John H. Jungbauer.

/s/ SUsaN L. CRITZER

Susan L. Critzer

/s/ LARRY G. HAIMOVITCH

Larry G. Haimovitch

/s/ LAWRENCE L. HORSCH

Lawrence L. Horsch

/s/ DAVID B. KAYSEN

David B. Kaysen

/s/ PAUL K. MILLER

Paul K. Milleg

/s/ J. ROBERT PAULSON, JR.

J. Robert Paulson, Jr.

Principal Financial Officer and

Principal Accounting Officer

Chairperson of the Boiaird
Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

July 20, 2006
July 20, 2006
July 20, 2006
July 20, 2006
July 20, 2006

July 20, 2006

July 20, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
MedicalCV, Inc.
Inver Grove Heights, Minnesota

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of MedicalCV, Inc. as of April 30, 2006, and the
related statements of operations, shareholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for the year then ended.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over
financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis
for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of MedicalCV, Inc. as of April 30, 2006, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue
as a going concern. As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Company has incurred operating
losses and negative cash flows from operations in recent years and will require additional funds to finance
its working capital and capital expenditure needs. These factors raise substantial doubt about the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans regarding these matters are also
discussed in Note 2. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the
outcome of this uncertainty.

/s/ LURIE BESIKOF LAPIDUS & COMPANY, LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
June 27, 2006




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of MedicalCV, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheet and the related statements of operations,
shareholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
MedicalCV, Inc. at April 30, 2005, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit of these statements
in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether

. the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 15 to the financial statements included in the Company’s Form 10-KSB for the
year ended April 30, 2005, the Company has restated its financial statements for the year ended April 30,
2005. '

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue
as a going concern. As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Company has sustained losses
and negative cash flows from operations in recent years and will require additional funds to finance its
working capital and capital expenditure needs. These factors raise substantial doubt about the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in
Note 2. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this
uncertainty.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota

July 8, 2005, except as to Notes 3, 12 and 15 (not presented herein) for which the date is March 10,
2006 and Note 15 for Wthh the date is June §, 2006
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MEDICALCY, INC.

BALANCE SHEETS
April 30,
Lo 2006 2005
ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS :

Cashandcashequivalents ........ ... .. i, $ 10,351,570 § 10,637,796
Prepaid expenses and otherassets ............ ... .o oo 242975 199,978
Current assets of discontinued operations............................ 89,782 875,648

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS .. ...t 10,684,327 11,713,422

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, net ...........c.vevvn.... 740,010 827,791

DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS, D€t ..o ivoieveieieeieiieeeaaennn 50,942 58,226

OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS............ T P .. 23,400 30,798

NON-CURRENT ASSETS OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ... ... 87,323 367,799

TOTALASSETS..... ..o s e $ 11,586,002 $ 12,998,036
LIABILITIES, CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

CURRENT LIABILITIES :
Accounts payable..................... e $ 605313 $§ 399,588
Current portion of related party lease obhgatlon ...................... 322,586 311,155
AcCrued EXPENSES. . .. vv vt e - 377,507 179,095
Current liabilities of discontinued operations. ........................ — 202,595

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES .............. ... ... 1,305,406 1,092,433
FAIR VALUE OF PUTABLE WARRANTS .......................... — 27,992,609
RELATED PARTY LEASE OBLIGATION, less current portion........ 2,542233 2,824,977

TOTALLIABILITIES. .. ..t e 3,847,639 31,910,019

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

5% SERIES A REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED
STOCK; $.01 par value; stated value $10,000 per share; 1,900 shares
authorized; 0 and 1,803 shares issued and outstanding; aggregate
liquidation value $18,109,116 at April 30,2005 ....................... — —

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Preferred stock; $.01 par value; 998,100 and 498,100 shares authorized;

no shares issued and outstanding .. ............ i — —
Common stock; $.01 par value; 24,000,000 and 9,500,000 shares ‘

authorized; 9,122,946 and 1,084,958 shares issued and outstanding. . . . 91,229 10,850
Additional paid-incapital. ........... ... 55,088,734 23,484,124
Deferred stock-based compensation ............ ... ... ... (98,512) —
Accumulated deficit. .. ..o r i (47,343,088)  (42,406,957)
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) ...t 7,738,363  (18,911,983)

TOTAL LIABILITIES, CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) ................ $ 11,586,002 $ 12,998,036

See notes to financial statements.
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MEDICALCY, INC.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

OPERATING EXPENSES, CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Salesand marketing. .. ... .. ..
General and administrative . ...
Research and developmentservices. ...,
Total operating eXpenses .. ... ovuuiin i
LOSSFROMOPERATIONS. .. ...

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Interest iNCOME. . ... ..o e
Interest eXpense . .. ..ottt e
Other income (expense) (primarily changes in fair value of putable
WAITAIIES) . ¢ o v e vt v et e et e et e s e et et et e
Total other income (EXPENSE) .. ..o v n it ariienn s
INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS. ............

LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ............oovvuns
NETINCOME (LOSS) .. oot e

BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS TO COMMON SHAREHOLDERS
Netincome (10SS) . . ..ottt e e i
Inducement to acquire redeemable convertible preferred stock........
Redeemable convertible preferred stock cash dividends .......... cie

NET LOSS TO COMMON SHAREHOLDERS ......................

NET LOSS PER COMMON SHARE—CONTINUING OPERATIONS,
AFTER PREFERRED DIVIDENDS

See notes to financial statements.
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Year Ended April 30,

2006 2005
$ 525384 $  317.386
3459916 4,012,506
3.471.241 1,581,016
7,456,541 5.910,908
(7,456,541)  (5,910,908)
384,773 22,994
(177,401)  (1,352,183)
16,563,359  (9,981,394)
16,770,731 (11,310,583)
9314,190  (17,221,491)
(81,800)  (1,873,381)
§ 9232390 $(19,094,872)
$ 9232300 $(19,094,872)
(13,579,979) _
(588,542) _
$ (4,936,131) $(19,094,872)
$ (128) §  (16.16)
(3.75) (16.16)
(0.02) (1.76)
(0.01) (1.76)
(1.30) (17.92)
(3.76) (17.92)
3,806,112 1,065,349
5.711,893 1,065,349




_ MEDICALCY, INC.
STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Additional Deferred
Common Stock Paid-In Stock-Based  Accumulated

’ Shares Amount _ - Capital Compensation _ Deficit Total
BALANCE AT APRIL 30,

2004 ... 918,993 $ 9,190 $20250,842 § (1,933) $(23,312,085) $ (3,053,986)
Netloss . ooovveiiiie e, — — — — (19,094,872) (19,094,872)
Issuance of common stock ’

and warrants, net of offering :

COSES . oo v 154,090 1,541 1,999,067 -— — 2,000,608
Warrants issued in connection with: o : .

Short term financing. . ......... — — 711,337 — ‘ — 711,337

Convertibledebt.............. — — 58,253 — — 58,253

Technology purchase .......... - — 18,373 - L— 18,373
Beneficial conversion feature I o 4

associated with convertible debt . — — 68,000 — — 68,000
Common stock issued for services . 11,250 113 127,962 _ — 128,075
Stock compensation expense. . . ... — — . 247,796 —_ L = 247,796
Stock options exercised .......... ' 625 6 2,494 , -— — 2,500
Amortization of stock- ‘ ,

based compensation........... — — = 1,933 — ~ 1933
BALANCE AT APRIL 30, i S ' -

2005 . 1,084,958 10,850 - 23,484,124 — (42,406,957) (18,911,983)
Netincome ........... [P ' — .- — L — 9,232,390 9,232,390
Warrants exercised, net of ) -

" costs: _ L ’ ’ R

Putable warrants. ............. 2,503,791 25,038 17,477,736 — — 17,502,774

 Other—cashless .............. 20,008 - 200 (200) = ' — —
Acquisition of redeemable wt . ‘ :

convertible preferred stock . . ... 5447814 = 54,478 13,525,501 — —_ 13,579,979
Conversion of redeemable ,

convertible preferred stock . . . .. ' 66,000 660 (660) — — —
Inducement to acquire S C '

redeemable convertible ' '

preferredstock ............... . — — — —_ (13,579,979)  (13,579,979)
Preferred stock cash . . .

dividends.................... — —_ — » — (588,542) .(588,542)
Warrant valuation after removal '

ofputoption................. — —_ 375,518 —_ — 375,518
Stock options exercised . ......... 375 3 1,122 — — 1,125
Stock options issued for technical ' L S R :

advisory services .............. — — 124802 (124,802) — —
Modification of stock optionsin

connection with severance...... — . — 100,791 (100,791) — —_
Amortization of stock-

based compensation........... — — — 127,081 — 127,081
BALANCE AT APRIL 30,

2006 ... .. 9,122,946 $91,229 $55,088,734 § (98,512) $(47,343,088) $ 7,738,363

See notes to financial statements.
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MEDICALCY, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Netincome (I0ss) .. .o FE D

Adjustments to recorncile net income (loss) to net cash used by operating activities: .
(Decrease) increase in fair value of putable warrants ... .................. ... ... e
Depreciation and amortization . . ............ .. oo e
Impairment of fixed assets. . .. ...
Provision for doubtful accounts. . ... .
Gain from the sale of property, plant and equipment . .. ...t ...
Provision for inventory 0bSOlESCENCE. . . .ot v vt i i i i i i e s
Common stock issued forservices. . ... v i
Stock-based compensation EXPENSE. . . oo oottt
Interest and other expense related to issued warrants and amortization of loan origination

Warrant expense related to purchase of technology . ...................... ... .. ...
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
ACCOUNtS TeCeIVADIE. . . oottt e
TAVENTOTIES. « o o vttt e e
Prepaid expenses and other assets. ... ... ... o
Accountspayable. . ...
ACCTUEH EXPRIISES . . vttt
Net cash used by operating activities . . . . . e e e T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment. . ........ ... . ... o i,
Proceeds from the sales of property, plant and equipment . .. ........... ... ... ...
Net cash used by investing activities. . .. .. ... i .
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ]
Borrowings on long-termdebt. .. .. ... o oo e
Principal paymentsof termdebt . .. .. ..
Principal payments under related party lease obligations . .. ................. ..l

Proceeds from exercise of warrants, net 0f COSES . . . ..o u it e N

Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertible preferred stock and warrants ............
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warrants, net of offering costs. . ..............
Proceeds from exercise of stock options . .. ... o o o e
Preferred stock cash dividends . ... .. .. .. e
Net cash provided by financing activities. . .. .. ... .. oo i i
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS .................
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ‘
Beginning ofyear .~ ........... e e
End Of Year . ..ot e P

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cashpaid forinterest ......... .o i i

Non-cash financing activities:
Inducement to acquire redeemable convertible preferred stock ... ... oo oo
Fair value of putable warrants at date of exercise and removal of putoption..............
Stock options issued for technical advisory services. .. ........ ... ... o o
Modification of stock options in connection with severance . . ............... ... ... .. ..
Cashless exercise of otherwarrants. .. ... .. ... .. . .. i
Related party and other debt converted to redeemable convertible preferred stock. ........
Accrued interest converted to redeemable convertible preferredstock ... ... . L

See notes to financial statements.
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Year Ended April 30,
2006 2005

$ 9,232,390  $(19,094,872)
(16,549,457} 9,987,609
286,919 315,225
154,341 —_—
23,935 220,281
(138,474) —
— 2,573,656

- 128,075
127,081 249,729
— 851,882

— 18,373
533,356 717,829
228,665 (283,622)
40,677 (271,928)
13,430 (906,964)
188,112 (43,610)
(5,859,025) (5,538,337
(350,418) (218,666)
346,807 23,123
(3,611) (195,543)

— 1,425,000
— 1,000,000)
(271,313) (319,288)
6,435,140 —
— 13,603,000

— 2,000,608

1,125 2,500
(588,542) —
5,576,410 15,711,820
(286,226) 9,977,940
10,637,796 659,856

$ 10,351,570

$ 10,637,796

$ 177,401

13,579,979
11,443,152
124,802
100,791
200

$ 457342

4,368,333
33,667




Medical€V, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements -

1. BaSﬁs of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Busmess

The core technology of MedicalCV, Inc. (the “Company”) is the ATRILAZE system which utilizes
laser energy in cardiac tissue ablation procedures. The Company acquired the initial technology in
August 2003 and has developed several generations of products beyond the initial technology purchase.
The Company received FDA 510(k) clearances for the first generation product in November 2004 and the
second generation product in October 2005. In addition, the Company received a third 510(k) clearance in
April 2006 which covered an additional laser wavelength. The Company’s strategy is to leverage its laser
technology to develop a stand-alone, minimally invasive treatment for atrial fibrillation.

Previously, the Company’s primary focus was on heart valve disease and the Company was engaged in
the manufacture and marketing of cardiovascular surgery devices. In April 2005, the Company elected to
discontinue the sale of mechanical heart valves which had been the Company’s primary product and its
sole source of revenues (see Note 3).

Fiscal Year

References in this report to a particular fiscal year are to the year ended April 30 of that calendar
year. The Company’s interim periods end on the last day of the month.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue using guidance from SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 104
“Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements.” Revenue from the sale of its products is recognized
provided that the Company has received a written order, the price is fixed, title has transferred, collection
of the resulting receivable is probable and there are no remaining obligations. The Company did not
generate any revenues related to its ATRILAZE system during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2006. All
revenues for fiscal years 2006 and prior were related to the heart valve business and are reported as part of
discontinued operations.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
impact the reported amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual
results could differ from those estimates. Significant management estimates relate to the valuation
allowance on deferred tax assets and the estimated fair value of the putable warrants.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into cash.
The Company considers securities purchased with maturities of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.




Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, trade
accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses, putable warrants and related party lease
.obligations which approximate their fair values.

i

Inventories

At April 30, 2005, inventories were reported as current assets of discontinued operations and
consisted of various mechanical heart valves that were stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost
determined utilizing standard costs, which approximated the first-in, first-out method of inventory
valuation.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization is computed using
the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. The building is depreciated
over a 30-year life. Machinery and equipment, furniture and fixtures, and computers are depreciated and
amortized over their two-year to five-year lives. At April 30, 2005, equipment held for sale was carried at
the lower of its cost or estimated market value. The Company ceased depreciation of equipment held for
sale upon determination that such equipment will no longer be used in operations. Maintenance and
repairs are charged to current operations when incurred. The cost and related accumulated depreciation or
amortization of assets disposed of are removed from the related accounts and any resulting gains or losses
are included in the statement of operations.

Long-Lived Assets

All long-lived assets are reviewed when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amounts of such assets may not be recoverable. This evaluation is performed at least annually. An
impairment loss is recognized when estimated undiscounted cash flows to be generated by those assets are.
less than the carrying value of the assets. When an impairment loss is recognized, the carrying amount is
reduced to its estimated fair value, based on appraisals or other reasonable methods to estimate value.

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based employee compensation arrangements in accordance with the
provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion (APB) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees,” and its interpretations whereby the difference between the exercise price and the fair value
on the date of grant is recognized as compensation expense. Under the intrinsic value method of
accounting, no compensation expense is recognized in the Company’s statement of operations when the
exercise price of the Company’s employee/director stock option grants equals or is greater than the market
price of the underlying common stock at the date of grant, and the measurement date of the option grant is
certain. The measurement date is certain when the date of grant is fixed and determinable. Compensation
cost for employee stock options is measured as the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of the
Company’s stock at the date of grant over the amount that the employee is required to pay for the stock.
Compensation expense of $87,353 was recorded in fiscal year 2006 as the exercise date through which
certain options granted in fiscal year 2005 was extended in fiscal year 2006 and the market price of the
Company’s stock at that time exceeded the exercise price of the stock options. Options issued to
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non-employees/non-directors are accounted for as required by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”

SFAS No. 123 established a fair value method of accounting for stock-based compensation plans.
Companies that elected to account for stock-based compensation plans in accordance with APB No. 25 are .
required to disclose the pro forma net loss that would have resulted from the use of the fair value method
as follows: ' ,

Year Ended April 30,

2006 2005
Net loss to common shareholders: ‘
ASTEPOTtEd. . /ot $(4,936,131) $(19,094,872)
Pro forma stock-based employee compensation cost ......... (1,280,323) (554,463)
Proforma «...ovvvvenit e $(6,216,454) $(19,649,335)
Basic net loss per common share:
ASTEPOTTEd. . ot ittt e e $ (1.30) $ (17.92)
Proforma ..........co i (1.63) (18.44)
Diluted net loss per common share:
AsTeported. . ... (3.76) (17.92)
Proforma .......... ... e (3.99) (18.44)

Income Taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of
events that have been included in the financial statements or tax returns. Deferred income tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and
liabilities using currently enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which the differences are expected to
reverse. Deferred tax assets are evaluated and a valuation allowance is established if it is more likely than
not that all or a portion of the tax asset will not be utilized.

" Credit Risk

The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents in bank accounts which may exceed federally
insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses on such accounts and believes it is not
exposed to any significant credit risk on cash and cash equivalents.

Net Loss Per Common Share

Basic net loss per common share was computed by dividing the net [oss to common shareholders by
the weighted-average common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted net loss per common share
reflects the potential dilution that could occur if holders of warrants and options that are not anti-dilutive
convert their holdings into common stock. Diluted net loss per common share does not differ from the
basic net loss per common share in the year ended April 30, 2005 since the potentially dilutive shares are
anti-ditutive. Certain warrants outstanding during the year ended April 30, 2006 were potentially dilutive
and considered to be common stock equivalents because they can be settled in common stock. The net loss
to common shareholders for that year was increased by the decrease in fair value of putable warrants and
the weighted average number of shares used fot the basic net loss per share computation was increased by
the shares issuable under the warrants as follows:

Net loss to common shareholders for basic net loss per common share......... $ (4,936,131)
Effect of dilutive securities—decrease in fair value of putable warrants ... ..... (16,549,457)
Net loss to common shareholders for diluted net loss per common share. .. .. .. $(21,485,588

F-10




Weighted-average shares outstanding for basic net loss per common share.. . . .. | 3,806,112
Effect of dilutive securities—shares issuable under warrant agreements. . ...... 1,905,781
Weighted-average shares outstanding for diluted net loss per common share . . . 5,711,893

Options and warrants to purchase 1,887,880 and 749,290 shares of common stock were excluded from
the computation for the years ended April 30, 2006.and 2005, respectively, because they were anti-dilutive.

Recent Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment—an amendment of
SFAS No. 123,” which requires companies to recognize in the statement of operatioris the grant-date fair
value of stock options and other equity-based compensation issued to employees. SFAS No. 123R is
effective for companies filing under Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Regulation SB as of the
beginning of the first interim or annual reporting period of the company’s first fiscal year that begins after
December 15, 2005, which for the Company will be the first quarter of its year ending April 30, 2007. The
Company will use the modified prospective application method. Under the modified prospective
application method, awards that are granted, modified or settled after the date of adoption will be
measured and accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 123R. Compensation costs for awards granted
prior to, but not vested, as of the date SFAS No. 123R is adopted will be based on grant date attributes
similar to those originally used to value those awards for the pro forma purposes under SFAS No. 123. The
Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 123R.

In March 2005, the SEC released SAB No. 107, “Share-Based Payments.” The interpretations in SAB
No. 107 express views of the SEC staff regarding the interaction between SFAS No. 123R and certain SEC
rules and regulations, and provide the staff’s views regarding the valuation of share-based payment’
arrangements for public companies. In particular, SAB No. 107 provides guidance related to share-based
payment transactions with non-employees, valuation methods (included assumptions such as expected
volatility and expected term), the classification of compensation expense, non-GAAP financial measures,
first-time adoption of SFAS No. 123R in an interim period, capitalization of compensation costs related to
share-based payment arrangements, accounting for income tax effects of share-based payment
arrangements upon adoption of SFAS No. 123R, modification of employee share options prior to adoption
of SFAS No. 123R and disclosures in Management’s Discussion and Analysis subsequent to the adoption
of SFAS No. 123R. SAB No. 107 requires stock-based compensation to be classified in the same expense
lines as cash compensation is reported for the same employees. The Company will apply the
interpretations of SAB No. 107 in conjunction of its adoption of SFAS No. 123R.

2. Going Concern

The Company’s financial statements for the years ended April 30, 2006 and 2005 have been prepared
on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities and
commitments in the normal course of business. Thé Company has sustained operating losses and negative
cash flows from operations in recent years and expects these conditions to continue for the foreseeable
future. At April 30, 2006 and 2005, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $47,343,088 and
$42,406,957, respectively. The level of cash required for operations during fiscal year 2007 is difficult to
predict, and management anticipates that development of its new products will require additional capital.
These matters raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Management intends to seek additional debt or equity financing as it continues development of new
products. However, the Company may not be able to obtain such financing on acceptable terms or at all. If
the Company is unable to obtain such additional financing, it will be required to significantly revise its
business plans and drastically reduce operating expenditures such that it may not be able to develop or
enhance its products, gain market share in the United States of America or respond to competitive
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pressures or unanticipated requirements, which could seriously harm its business, financial position and
results of operations. The financial statements do not include any ad]ustments that might result from the
outcome of this uncertainty. ¥

3. Discontinued Operations

On November 17, 2004, the Company’s board of directors authorized management to cease
production of heart valves but to continue marketing the valves while exploring the merits of possible
strategic alternatives for the heart valve business, including, but not limited to, a joint venture with another
party or the sale of the business. Following exploration of a number of alternatives, management
concluded during April 2005 that an orderly winding up of the valve business was the Company’s best
alternative. On April 6, 2005, the Company’s Board authorized management to discontinue sales of heart
valves effectwe April 30, 2005, and to seek a buyer for the related production equipment.

As a result of the Company’s discontinuance of the heart valve business, the Company made a
determination during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 that the remaining assets of the heart valve
operations should be considered “held for sale” pursuant to SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for Impairment
or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” Pursuant to SFAS No. 144, the Company ceased depreciation of
property and equipment held for sale and evaluated whether any of the long-lived assets of the
discontinued heart valve business were impaired. Based upon the estimated selling prices of these assets,
management concluded that the carrying value of these assets was not impaired. As of April 30, 2005, the
carrying value of the remaining net assets of the heart valve business was reported as assets of discontinued
operations on the Company’s balance sheet. In connection with this decision to discontinue the sale of
heart valves, the Company reduced the carrying value of certain excess inventories, resulting in a provision
recorded during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 of $1,306,215. This provision was included in the
fiscal year 2005 loss from discontinued operations.

Valve business revenue and loss before income taxes included in dlscontmued operatlons are as
follows: ‘

Year Ended April 30,

' o 2006 2005
REVEIMUES. ...\ttt $338,333 . § 2,304,897
Loss Before Income Taxes.......... e $(81,800) $(1,873,381)

F-12




The carrying amounts and major classes of the assets and liabilities, which are presented as assets and
liabilities of discontinued operations on the accompanying balance sheet, are as follows:

April 30,
3006 7005

ASSETS o

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $0 and $196,521.... $ = — § 557,291

Inventories ............... PR PP ' — . 228,665

Prepaid eXpenses . .. ..o vt U ‘ 89,782 89,692

Total current assets of discontinued operations. ,........... $ 89,782 § 875,648

Property, plant and equipment, net . ...................... $ — $ 188,145 .

Other long-term assets. ... ..ol inine.s . 87323 179,654
-« Total non-current assets of discontinued operations. ........ -$.87,323 § 367,799

LIABILITIES ‘

Accounts payable. .. ... $ — § 192295

AcCrued EXPEMSES o\ vttt ' — 10,300

Total current liabilities of discontinued operations.......... $ — $ 202,395

‘Net assets of discontinued operations . .................... $177,105  $1,040,852

4. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, excluding property and equipment of discontinued operations,
consisted of the following at April 30: '

2006 2005

Land. ... $ 182,000 §$ 182,000 .

Building. ....ooooeii PR 1,251,601 1,251,601

Machinery and equipment. ...t 476,931 287,571

Furniture and fixtures. . ..., 12,743 12,743
~Computers and related. ........ KT 242,208 106,484

: : ' 2,165,483 1,840,399

Accumulated depreciation and amortization...........  (1,425473) (1,012,608)

$ 740,010 $ 827,791

5. Debt from Related Parties, Note Payable and Convertible Bridge Notes
Debt from Related Parties

In January 2003, the Company established a discretionary line of credit with PKM Properties, LLC
(PKM), an entity controlled by Paul K. Miller. Mr. Miller is one of the Company’s directors and one of the
largest beneficial owners of the Company’s securities. This line of credit was initially scheduled to mature
on April 17, 2003. On April 15, 2003, the maturity date was extended to September 17, 2003, In
October 2003, the Comipany further amended the line of credit to extend the maturity date to May 27,
2004 and to increase the interest rate to 10 percent per year. Addmonally, on February 3, 2004, the
maturity date of the line of credit was extended to June 30, 2005. The Company issued PKM a second
mortgage on the Company’s real estate and a security interest in all remaining assets of the Company. In
connection with the original line of credit, the Company issued a ten-year warrant to PKM to purchase
35,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $5.96 per share. As a result of anti-
dilution adjustments through April 30, 2006, this warrant is exercisable for 59,600 shares at $3.50 per share.
The debt of $943,333 borrowed under this line of credlt was converted to redeemable convertible preferred
stock on April 1, 2005 (see Note 9).
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On July 8, 2003, the Company entered into a $1.0 million term debt agreement with PKM. Pursuant to
the agreement, the Company borrowed $1.0 million during fiscal year 2004. The debt, which was
collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s assets, bore interest at 10 percent per year, with an
original maturity date of May 27, 2004. In connection with the borrowings during fiscal year 2004, the
Company issued warrants to PKM with a ten-year term for the purchase of 38,034 shares of the Company’s
common stock at an exercise price of $7.00 per share. As a result of anti-dilution adjustments through
April 30, 2006, these warrants are exercisable for an aggregate of 73,957 shares at $3.60 per share. In
connection with this financing, the Company agreed to extend the term of 70,000 previously issued
warrants from five years to ten years. The Company incurred direct and incremental costs of $65,000 in
completing the debt arrangement, which were included in deferred financing costs and were amortized as
interest expense over the original eleven-month term of the debt. On February 3, 2004, the maturity date
of the term debt was extended to June 30, 2005. In connection with the extension, the Company issued a
warrant to PKM with a ten-year term for the purchase of 33,093 shares of the Company’s common stock at
an exercise price of $20.00 per share. As a result of anti-dilution adjustments through April 30, 2006, this
warrant is exercisable for 140,822 shares at $4.70 per share. The $1.0 million borrowed under this
agreement was converted to redeemable convertible preferred stock on April 1, 2005 (see Note 9).

In November 2003, the Company amended the one-year $1.0 million term debt agreement with PKM,
initiated on July 8, 2003, to provide for an additional $500,000 of borrowings with the same terms as the
July 8, 2003 financing and extended the term of the loan to June 30, 2005. The Company issued, as
additional consideration, a warrant with a ten-year term for the purchase of 7,738 shares of Company’s
common stock at an exercise price of $16.80 per share. As a result of anti-dilution adjustments through
April 30, 2006, this warrant is exercisable for 28,888 shares at $4.50 per share. The debt of $500,000 -
borrowed under this agreement was converted to redeemable convertible preferred stock on April 1, 2005
(see Note 9).

On July 8, 2003, the Company entered into a $1.0 million term debt agreement with Peter L. Hauser,

" a principal shareholder. The Company borrowed $1.0 million under this bridge financing during fiscal year
2004. The debt, which was collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s assets pursuant.to an
intercreditor agreement with PKM, bore interest at 10 percent per year and had a maturity date of June 30,
2004. In connection with the term debt, the Company also issued a warrant with a ten-year term to
purchase 38,035 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $7.00 per share. As a result
of anti-dilution adjustments through April 30, 2006, this warrant is exercisable.for 73,958 shares at $3.60
per share. The Company incurred direct and incremental costs of $71,772 in completing the debt
arrangement, which were included in deferred financing costs and were amortized as interest expense over
the original twelve-month term of the debt. On February 3, 2004, the maturity date of the term debt was
extended to June 30, 2005. In connection with the extension, the Company issued a warrant to Mr. Hauser
with a ten-year term for the purchase of 13,600 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price
of $20.00 per share. As a result of anti-dilution adjustments through April 30,2006, this warrant is
exercisable for 57,872 shares at $4.70 per share. This.debt of $1.0 million was converted to redeemable
convertible preferred stock on April 1, 2005:(see Note.9). :

On November 17, 2004, the Company entered into a Discretionary Credlt Agreement with PKM
covering advances by PKM of up to $500,000. The Discretionary Credit Agreement had a maturity date of.
February 28, 2003, that was subsequently extended to June 30, 2005 The credit agreement required the
payment of interest at 10 percent per year, and it also contamed various representations and loan
covenants as are customary in banking and finance transactions. The Company issued a credit note to
PKM to evidence such indebtedness. In connection with the Dlscretlonary Credit Agreement, the
Company entered into an intellectual property security agreement with PKM pursuant to which PKM’ was
granted a security interest in all of the Company’s intellectual property. The Company and its creditors o
agreed to an amendment to the first amended and restated subordination and inter- “creditor agreement by




and between PKM and Mr. Hauser. Pursuant to this agreement, proceeds borrowed under the
Discretionary Credit Agreement were deemed “senior debt.” Further, PKM, pursuant to a waiver
agreement, waived past defaults under the January 2003 Discretionary Credit Agreement and the
November 2003 Credit Agreement. These defaults involved the late payments of interest and failure to

~ send periodic financial statements. As additional consideration for the Discretionary Credit Agreement,
the Company issued to PKM a warrant with a ten-year term to purchase 3,401 shares of the Company’s
common stock at an exercise price of $14.70 per share. As a result of anti-dilution adjustments through
April 30, 2006, this warrant is exercisable for 11,363 shares at $4.40 per share. The allocated fair value of
the newly issued warrant was $42,986 and was accounted for as a discount on the borrowings. This
discount, which was presented as a reduction of the carrying value of the debt on the balance sheet was
amortized as interest expense over the original four-month term of the debt.

On March 3, 2005, the Company entered into a February 2005 Credit Agreement (the “Agreement”)
with PKM. The Agreement provided for a $500,000 discretionary credit facility under which PKM made
loans available to the Company up to $500,000 and bearing interest at 10 percent per year. Principal and
interest were due on the amounts borrowed no later than June 16, 2005. This debt and the other amounts
the Company had borrowed from PKM were collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s assets. A
February 2005 Discretionary Credit Note reflected this indebtedness. In consideration of the foregoing
financing, the Company issued to PKM a ten-year warrant for the purchase of 75,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock with an exercise price of $5.00 per share. As a result of anti-dilution adjustments
through April 30, 2006, this warrant is exercisable for 110,291 shares at $3.40 per share. The allocated fair
value of the warrant was $589,321 and was accounted for as a discount on the borrowings. This discount,
which was presented as a reduction of the carrying value of the debt on the balance sheet, was fully
amortized as jnterest expense during fiscal year 2005. The Company repaid this note in April 2005.

Note Payable

In November 2003, the Company entered into a [oan agreement and borrowed $500,000 from
Draft Co. (“Draft”), pursuant to a note that matured on June 30, 2004, which bore interest at an annual
rate of 10 percent. Pursuant to an amended intercreditor agreement among PKM, Mr. Hauser, and Draft,
the loan was collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s assets. The Company issued Draft
warrants to purchase up to 9,090 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $14.30 per share with
other terms comparable to the warrants issued to PKM as described above. As a result of anti-dilution
adjustments through April 30, 2006, this warrant is exercisable for 30,230 shares at $4.30 per share. The
allocated fair value of the warrants was $100,056 and was accounted for as a discount on the borrowings
under the term debt. This discount, which was presented as a reduction of the carrying value of the debt on
the balance sheet, was amortized as interest expense over the seven-month term of the debt. In addition,
the Company incurred direct and incremental costs of $31,850 in completing the debt arrangement, which
were included in deferred financing costs and were amortized as interest expenses over the term of the
debt. The Company repaid this note in June 2004. ‘ ‘

The Company determined the fair value of all warrants described above using the Black Scholes
option pricing model. The model takes into consideration weighted average assumptions related to the
following: risk-free interest rate; expected life years; expected volatility; and expected dividend rate.
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Convertible Bridge Notes

In Decémber 2004 and January 2005, the Company issued convertible bridge notes totahng $425,000.
The notes, which were due on May 31, 2005, bore interest at 10 percent per year and were convertible into
securities to be issued in the Cofnpany’s next equity' financing, if any. Within 10 days of the consummation
of the Company’s next equity financing each note holder was required to elect one of the following two
alternatives: (1) convert the entire unpald principal and all accrued but unpaid interest under the note into
equity securities sold by the Company in its next equity fmancmg (“Next Shares”) at a price per share
equal to 80 percent of the issuance price of the Next Shares, and retain the warrants issued in connection
with the convertible bridge notes, or (2) surrender the note and the warrants issued in connection wrth the
bridge notes to the Company in exchange for the issuance of a number of Next Shares and any
accompanying warrants issuable in connection with the Next Shares, equal to the amount of such securities
that could be purchased using the entire unpaid principal and all accrued but unpaid interest under the
note. -

In April 2005, these notes were converted in connection with the redeemable convertible preferred
stock financing at 100 percent of the issuance price of such securities (see Note 9). In consideration of
converting at 100 percent rather than 80 percent of the issuance price of the redeemable convertible
preferred stock, the note holders were permltted to'rétain the warrants issued to them in connection with
the convertible bridge financing. Because the convertible bridge notes prov1ded a contingent conversion
option to the note holders which resulted in a beneficial conversion price when converted, the Company
recorded an interest charge of $68,000 upon conversion of these notes in April 2005.

In connection with issuance of the convertible bridge notes, the Company issued to the note holders.
warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 8,500 shares of common stock. The warrants, which have a five-
year term, are exercisable at a price per share equal to the per share or per unit price of equity securities
sold in the Company’s next offering. However, such exercise price could not exceed $14.90 per share. The
warrants contain anti-dilution provisions, but there was no anti-dilution as of April 30, 2006. The allocated
fair value of the newly issued warrants was $79,030 and was accounted for as a discount on the borrowings.
This d1scount which was initially presented as a reduction of the carrying value of the debt, was amortlzed
as interest expense through the Aprll 2005 conversion date of the notes.

6. Related Party Lease @bhgatmn

On April 4, 2003, the Company sold its corporate headquarters and manufacturmg facility and
surrounding land in Inver Grove Helghts Minnesota, to PKM (see Note 5 regarding the Company’s
relationship with PKM).

In connection with the transaction, the Company received total consideration of $3.84 million
consisting of: (1) $1.0 million in cash;'(2) PKM’s assumption of the Company’s $2.5 million outstanding
indebtedness to Associated Bank, and (3) PKM’s assumption of the Company’s promissory note with
Dakota Electric Association and land special assessments payable to Dakota County aggregating $336,105.
Also in connection with the transaction, the Company issued to PKM a ten-year warrant for the purchase
of 35,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $6.25 per share. The warrant had
an allocated fair value of $89,602 as determined by the Black Scholes option pricing model. As a result of
anti-ditution adjustments through Apn] 30, 2006, this warrant is exercisable for 60,763 shares at $3.60 per
share.

Simultaneous with the sale of the facility, the Company entered into a lease with PKM to lease back
the facility and a portion of the land. The lease has a ten-year initial term with options for the Company to
extend the lease up to ten additional years. Under certain conditions, the Company also has an option to
purchase the building at the end of the initial ten-year term at the fair value at that time.




. Due to the Company’s continued involvement with the property including the ability to buy back the
property at a future date, the transaction is accounted for as a financing of the property sold and leased
back. Accordingly, the land and building continue to be presented as part of the Company’s property, plant
and equipment balance and had a net book value of $572,551 (gross value of $1,433,601 net of
accumulated depreciation of $861,050) at April 30, 2006 (see Note 4). The related party lease obligation of
$2,864,819 represents the remaining minimum amounts due to PKM for the initial ten year term
discounted at 4 percent and additional payments to be paid to PKM for the Dakota Electric Association
and Dakota County obligations assumed by PKM.

Scheduled maturities of the related party lease obligation are as follows:

‘Year Ending April 30, Amount
2007 . $ 322,586
2008 . e 334,633
2000 . . e e 366,042
2000, ... e 352,991
2000 . i 355,251
Thereafter ......... .. . . il 1,133,316

$2,864,819

7. Commitments
Operating Lease

The Company has an operating lease for a certain piece of office equipment, which expires in fiscal
year 2011. At the end of the initial lease term, the Company has the option to purchase the equipment at
the fair market value, renew the lease, or return the equipment.

Rental expense, excluding executory costs and insurance, under the operating lease was $5,069 in
fiscal year 2006. The future minimum lease payments are $5,530 in fiscal years 2007-2010, and $460 in
fiscal year 2011.

Employment Agreements

During fiscal year 2006, the Company entered into employment agreements with seven executive
officers. The agreements give the officers and the Company the right to terminate the contract with or
without cause with sixty (60) days’ written notice. The agreements also contain a provision for lump sum
payments of up to twelve months severance if the employment of the officer is terminated without cause by
the Company or for good reason by the officer as defined in the agreements. The agreements also contain
various other provisions.

On April 6, 2006, the Company entered into an amendment to the executive employment agreement
(the “Amendment”) with John H. Jungbauer to reflect the mutual decision reached concerning his
departure from the Company. Pursuant to the Amendment, Mr. Jungbauer’s employment will terminate
on the date the Company advises him that it has engaged a new chief financial officer and/or principal
accounting officer. The actual termination date will be no earlier than July 31, 2006. The Company also has
the right, at its option, to extend Mr. Jungbauer’s employment (as a non-officer) for a transition period.
Such transition period will not, without Mr. Jungbauer’s consent, continue beyond December 31, 2006.
Mr. Jungbauer’s compensation and benefits will continue to be paid under the employment agreement at
their current rates through the termination date and any transition period. Under terms of the employment
agreement, Mr. Jungbauer has the right to terminate his employment upon 60 days’ prior notice and is
entitled to a severance payment equal to six months of base compensation. Under the employment
agreement, Mr. Jungbauer will receive a severance payment of $100,000 on his termination date. To
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facilitate a smooth transition, the Company has also agreed to make an additional severance payment to
Mr. Jungbauer. Under the Amendment, Mr. Jungbauer will receive an additional severance payment of
$100,000 on January 2, 2007. In"addition to these severance payments, the Company has agreed to pay or
reimburse Mr. Jungbauer for medical (COBRA) benefits for the periods covered by the severance
payments. A liability of $131,793 for the severance payments, related payroll taxes, and medical benefits is
included in accrued expenses on the balance sheet at April 30, 2006 and the expense is included in general
and administrative expenses in the statement of operations for the fiscal year then ended. Mr. Jungbauer -
holds stock options for the purchase of 144,012 shares of the Company’s common stock. Mr. Jungbauer’s
stock option agreements provide that he has three months following termination of employment to
exercise the vested portions thereof. Options to purchase 44,065 shares of the Company’s common stock
will be vested on July 1, 2006. Pursuant to the Amendment, the Company agreed to amend

Mr. Jungbauer’s stock option agreements to provide that his options, to the extent vested on the
termination date, will be.exercisable for a period of twelve months following the termination of

Mr. Jungbauer’s employment.

Severance chargés. T e $131,793
Balance as of April 30,2006 ........... ... ...l $131,793

Atrial Fibrillation Technology Purchase Agreement

In August 2003, the Company entered into a technology purchase agreement with LightWave
Ablation Systems, Inc. (“LightWave”) and its principals, one of whom became an employee of the
Company, relating to the acquisition of LightWave’s interests in technology consisting of a catheter/probe
containing elements of optical fiber, coolant passages and other features for the purpose-of delivering laser
energy to the epicardial surface of the heart for treatment of atrial fibrillation. The Company paid
LightWave an initial standstill payment consisting of 1,500 shares of the Company’s common stock,
$10,000 upon closing and an additional $30,000 to LightWave in installments in 2004 and 2005. An
additional $125,000 was paid to LightWave in January 2006. The Company will be obligated to pay an |
additional $385,000 within 45 days following the Company’s achievement of $1,500,000 of cumulative gross
sales of disposable products. In addition, at closing, during fiscal year 2004, the Company issued
LightWave a warrant for the purchase of 2,500 shares of common stock at $14.60 per share and, during
fiscal year 2005, a warrant for the purchase of 2,500 shares of common stock at $14.60 per share upon
receiving FDA 510(k) élearance. In addition, the Company is obligated to issue a warrant for the purchase
of 2,500 sharés of common stock upon a receipt of a U.S. utility patent covering the product and a warrant
for the purchase of 2,500 shares of common stock upon the first commercial sale of the product.




Following the first commercial sale, the Company has agreed to make payments to LightWave for ten
years equal to 6 percent of net sales of the LightWave product in countries in which the Company obtains
patent protection and 4 percent of net sales of the LightWave product in territories in which there is no
patent protection. Commencing with the second year followmg the Company’s first commercial sale, the
Company agreed to make minimum annual payments as follows: -

Year Following ' Minimum Annual
Commercialization Payments

2 e $ 50,000
B e 75,000
A 100,000

S 200,000
B 300,000
T e e 350,000

B e e 350,000

D 400,000

10 500,000

LightWave and two of its principals agreed to certain noncompetition obligations, nondisclosure
obligations, and certain obligations to assign new developments or inventions relating to the acquired
technology to the Company. The Company agreed to use its reasonable commercial efforts to
commercialize the technology within three years following the acquisition of the technology from

LightWave.

If the Company fails in any year to make the minimum annual payments, the Company may be
obligated to grant LightWave a nonexclusive right to use the technology acquired from LightWave, or pay
LightWave the difference between payments actually made and minimum payments due for a given year.

8. Income Taxes

The Company provided no income tax expense for the year ended April 30, 2006, because the taxes
provided on the income before income taxes was more than offset by permanem tax differences, primarily
relating to the decrease in fair value of putable warrants.

Income tax computed at the U.S. federal statutory rate reconciled to the effective tax rate is as
follows:

Year Ended Year Ended
: * April 30, 2006 April 30, 2005
Taxes at Statutory tax rate ......................... 36% (36)%
(Decrease) increase in fair vatue of putable warrants. . (65)% 22%
1073 1= S PO 1% 0%
Effect of net operating loss carryforwards ........... - 28% 14%

_0% _0%
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The components of deferred income taxes at April 30, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

. L 2006 2005

Federal net operating loss carryforwards ............ $ 12,565,737 § 9,955,309
Research and experimentation credit carryforwards. .. . = 466,533 466,533
State net operating loss carryforwards.............. . 612,807 498,170 -
Othercarryforwards ................. ..o il : 11,767 - 11,937
Property, plant and equipment . .................... (142,457) (263,771)
Accrued expenses and other ........ e 51,244 (7,409)
Inventories . ... i e — 47,418
Allowance for uncollectible accounts. . .............. — 70,748
Net deferredtaxassets. ......... oo iiiieenennnn. 13,565,631 10,778,935
Valuation allowance . ............ ..., _(13,565,631)  (10,778,935)
Net deferred tax asset. .. ....ovnervrvernenanaennn. $ — 3 —

The Company established valuation allowances to fully offset tax assets due to uncertainty about the
Company’s ability to generate the future taxable income necessary to realize these deferred tax assets,
particularly in light of the Company’s history of significant operating losses. In addition, future utilization
of available net operating loss carryforwards may be limited under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 as a
result of changes in ownership that have or may result from the issuance.of common stock, convertible
preferred stock or common stock options and warrants.

The Company’s federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $35,000,000 and state net
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $9,500,000 expire in various fiscal years from 2012 through
2026. Available research and experimentation credit carryforwards at April 30, 2006, represent federal and
state amounts with expiration dates in fiscal years 2011 through 2021.

9. Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Common Stock

The holder of each Class A Warrant issued in November 2001 as part of the Company’s initial public
offering was entitled to purchase, at any time until November 20, 2004, one share of common stock at an
exercise price of $65.00 per share, subject to anti-dilution adjustments. The Company could redeem the
Class A Warrants for $0.10 per warrant at any time, upon ten business days’ written notice, if the closing
price of the Company’s common stock or units exceeded $85.00, subject to customary anti-dilution
adjustments, for any ten consecutive trading days before such notice. The Company did not redeem any of
these warrants prior to their expiration in November 2004.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004 and the first quarter of fiscal year 2005, the Company
closed on the private sale of 273,076 units for $14.70 per unit. Each unit consisted of one share of common
stock and one five-year warrant to purchase a common share for $16.00 per share. Proceeds from the
offering, net of offering costs of $455,190, were $3,559,032 (proceeds were $2,000,608 in fiscal year 2005).
In addition fo cash commissions included in the offering costs, the Company issued to the private
placement agent and finder five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 21,845 units at $18.375 per unit.
As a result of anti-dilution adjustments these warrants became exercisable for 85,401 units at $4.70 per
unit. In March and April 2006, warrants to purchase 37,214 units were exercised on a net exercise basis,
resulting in the issuance of (1) 20,008 shares of the Company’s common stock and (2) warrants to purchase
20,008 shares of the Company’s common stock, at an exercise price of $18.375 per share, which expire on
April 30, 2009. At April 30, 2006, warrants to purchase 48,187 units at $4.70 per unit remained exercisable.




During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2005, the Company issued 11,250 shares of common stock to
consultants for services. The fair value of these shares was expensed and is included in operating expenses
for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2005. :

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Warrants

On April 1, 2005, under the terms of a Securities Purchase Agreement with accredited investors, the
Company issued 1,803 shares of 5% Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock (“preferred stock”)
to such investors, five-year warrants for the purchase of 2,705,250 shares of common stock to such investors
exercisable at $5.00 per share, and five-year warrants for the purchase in the aggregate of 163,596 shares of
common stock to the placement agent and finder exercisable at $5.00 per share. Each share of preferred
stock, which was non-voting, had a stated value of $10,000 per share and accrued cumulative dividends at a
rate of 5% of the stated value annually, was convertible into the number of shares of common stock equal
to the $10,000 stated value divided by $5.00, subject to anti-dilution adjustments. As a result, at April 30,
2003, the 1,803 preferred shares could be converted into 3,607,000 shares of common stock, subject to anti-
dilution adjustments. The Company obtained gross cash proceeds of $13,603,000 at the closing (net of
$30,000 in legal fees which were withheld by the lead investor). The Company also converted $4,402,000 of
indebtedness into the above referenced securities. The Company incurred cash offering costs of $817,980,
including agent commissions, a finder’s fee and out-of-pocket expense reimbursements. The Company also
paid legal and administrative expenses of $18,086 incurred by PKM in this transaction.

In certain circumstances, the Company had the option to require the holders of preferred stock to
convert their shares into common stock. In the event of a fundamental transaction, as defined, the
preferred shareholders had the right to require the Company to redeem the preferred shares at their stated
value, including any accrued but unpaid dividends. In the event of certain defaults, the preferred
shareholders had the right to require the Company to redeem the preferred shares at 110% of their stated
value, including any accrued but unpaid dividends. As a result of these redemption provisions, the carrying
value of these preferred shares was considered to be redeemable and was reported as a “mezzanine”
instrument on the Company’s balance sheet. However, the carrying value of this preferred stock at
April 30, 2005 was zero, net of a discount associated with the warrants 1ssued to the shareholders, the
placement agent and the finder, as described below. -

The Company was required to register the common shares underlying the preferred stock and the
common shares underlying the warrants. If the Company did not meet certain registration deadlines, the
holders of preferréd ‘stock were entitled to liquidated damages, as defined. In the event of a fundamental
transaction, as defined, the warrants issued to the preferred sharcholders, the placement agent and the
finder, all provided the warrant holders with the right to put the warrants to the Company for cash in an
amount equal to the fair value of the warrants, as determined using the Black Scholes option pricing
model. As a result of this put right, the warrants were reported at their fair value as a liability on the
Company’s balance sheet and changes in the fair value of the warrant resulted in charges or benefits to the
Company’s results of operations. The fair value of these warrants upon closing the preferred stock sale was
$22,271,047. Because the fair value of these warrants at April 1, 2005 exceeded the proceeds received in
the preferred stock and warrant issuances, the excess of the fair value of the warrants over the proceeds
received (including the converted debt) was recognized as other expense of $4,266,047 upon closing,
During the period between closing and April 30, 2003, the fair value of these warrants increased to
$27,992,609. The Company reported the $5,721,562 increase in fair value of putable warrants in other
expense in the statement of operations for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2005. The fair value of the
warrants, after the changes in terms noted below, was $11,443,152 at the date the warrants were exercised
or the put option removed. The Company reported the $16,549,457 decrease in fair value of putable
warrants in other income in the statement of operations for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2006.
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The Company measured the fair value of the putable warrants using the Black Scholes option pricing
model. The Company believed this was the appropriate valuation model because the redemption terms of
the warrants provided for the holders to put them to the Company at their fair value as measured using the
Black Scholes model. The assumptions used to value the warrants when they were issued on April 1, 2005
and when they were valued at the end of the Company’s 2005 fiscal year (April 30, 2005) and at date of
exercise were as follows:

April 1, 2005 and Date of
April 30, 2005 Exercise

Expectedlife..................0 e e 5 years 0 years

VOolatility ..o 116% 132%
Rlskfreemterestrate................................: ........ 4.24% 4.38%
Dividend yield rate .......... e 0% 0%

Holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of the preferred stock authorized the Company to
proceed with a preferred stock acquisition plan. Pursuant to such plan, on December 21, 2005, the
Company entered into preferred stock acquisition agreements with the holders of an aggregate of 1,499
shares of preferred stock. Under the agreements, the Company acquired the preferred stock of each such
holder in consideration of the issuance 3,077 shares of common stock for each share of preferred stock
being acquired. On January 6, 2006, under the same.form of preferred stock acquisition agreements, the
Company acquired an additional 271 shares of preferred stock, representing all of the remaining then-
outstanding shares of the Company’s preferred stock, for the same per share consideration. In the
aggregate, the Company issued 5,447,814 shares of common stock in consideration of the acquisition of
1,770 shares of preferred stock. The Company originally sold 1,803 shares of preferred stock. The 33 shares
of preferred stock not purchased in December 2005 or January 2006 were converted between June 2005
and October 20035 into shares of common stock at a conversmn ratio of 2,000 shares of common stock for
each share of preferred stock.

Also on December 21, 2005, the Company and holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of
preferred stock and related common stock purchase warrants entered into an amendment to the securities
purchase agreement as of April 1, 2003, to revise certain definitions. Following such amendment, on
December 21, 2005, the Company and each of the holders who originally agreed to sell preferred stock to
the Company entered into amendments to such holders’ warrants issued under the securities purchase
agreement. Pursuant to these amendments, the Company (1) reduced the exercise price on outstanding
warrants for the purchase of an aggregate of 2,296,950 shares of common stock held by such persons from
$5.00 per share to $3.25 per share, and (2) accelerated the expiration date of such warrants from April 1,
2010, to January 6, 2006. Concurrent with such warrant amendments, investors delivered warrant exercise
notices to the Company. The Company authorized one of such warrants, namely the warrant for the
purchase of 445,200 shares held by PKM'to be exerc1sed on a net exercise basis (using a market price of
$6.60 per share).

On January 6, 2006, under the same form of amended warrant agreements, investors exercised
warrants for the purchase of 423,050 shares of common stock. The Company authorized one of such
warrants, namely the warrant for the purchase of 151,200 shares held by Mr. Hauser, to be exercised on a
net exercise basis (using a market price of $6.60 per share). -

In the aggregate, the Company issued 2,411,567 shares of common stock in connection with the
exercises by investors of investor warrants issued in the Company’s April 2005 private placement. The
Company also issued an additional 14,750 shares of common stock in connection with exercises of warrants
originally issued to its agent and finder in its April 2005 private placement.




Also on January 6, 2006, pursnant to exercise notices dated January 5, 2006, the Company issued
shares of common stock upon the exercise of certain other warrants. In particular, holders of warrants for
the purchase of an aggregate of 107,850 shares of common stock, which were originally issued to the
Company’s placement agent in its April 2005 financing, were exercised. Of such number, warrants for the
purchase of 1,500 shares were exercised for cash and warrants for the purchase of 106,350 shares were
exercised on a net exercise basis, resulting in the issuance of 75,974 shares of common stock. Also effective
January 6, 2006, the Company amended the outstanding finder warrant for the purchase of 40,996 shares
of common stock to adjust the exercise price to $3.25 per share and eliminate the right to put the warrant
to the Company for cash in an amount equal to the fair value of the warrants in the event of a fundamental
transaction.

The net effect of the December 2005 and January 2006 transactions, including the changes in the -
terms of the preferred stock and warrants referred to above, was to increase cash by $6,435,140 (net of
expenses of $471,435), decrease the warrant liability associated with the warrants containing a put feature
by $18,188,082, increase common stock and additional paid-in capital by $31,458,271, increase non-cash
dividends on preferred stock, because of the change in the number of common shares issued upon
acquisition of the preferred stock, by $13,579,979 and increase other income by $6,744,930. The
outstanding shares of common stock were increased by 7,951,605 shares.

Stock Options

In September 2005, the shareholders adopted the Amended and Restated 2001 Equity Incentive Plan
which, among other provisions, increased the number of shares available for grant of awards under the
plan to 600,000 shares and the 2005 Director Stock Option Plan under which a total of 100,000 shares of
common stock have been reserved for issuance. The Company’s shareholders have authorized the issuance
of stock options, including the above options, for the aggregate purchase of 756,075 shares of common
stock under various other plans covering certain employees, members of the board of directors and certain
independent contractors approved by the board of directors. Options are typically granted at prices not less
than fair market value at the date of grant. Optlons generally become exercisable between immediately to
four years after grant date and have a maximum term of ten years. At April 30, 2006, 497,883 shares were
available for grant under the Company’s stock option plans.

The following is a summary of stock option activity with respect to the Company’s various plans as
well as option grants made outside the Company’s plans (described below), and includes option activity for .
employees, directors and non-employees:

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Options Per Share

Outstanding, April 30,2004........... R 125,172 $26.44
Granted. . ... .o . - 768,804 9.60
Exercised....... ..o (625) 4.00
Cancelled/Expired. ........ .. oo (68,885) 36.15
Outstanding, April 30,2005......... SO - 824,466 10.10
Granted. . ..o o e 162,216 8.97
Exercised.........coooiii i (375) 3.00
Cancelled/Expired. . ..ot (83,054) 12.28
Outstanding, April 30,2006........... .. ... 903,253 9.70

On April 1, 2005, the Company awarded (1) a non-qualified stock option for the purchase of 344,034
shares of common stock to the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer, (2) a non-qualified stock
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option for the purchase of 129,013 shares of common stock to the Company’s Vice President, Finance and
Chief Financial Officer, (3) a non-qualified stock option for the purchase of 64,506 shares of common
stock to the Company’s Vice President, Research and Development, (4) a non-qualified stock option for
the purchase of 64,506 shares of common stock to the Company’s Vice President, Operations, (5) a non-
qualified stock option for the purchase of 21,502 shares of common stock to the Company’s Vice President,
Regulatory Affairs and Quality Assurance; and (6) a non-qualified stock option for the purchase of 43,004
shares of common stock to a former employee (which options expired in J une 2005) The foregoing options
* were issued outside the Company’s stock optlon plans.

In December 2005, the Company amended the vesting provisions of such options as foliows: (1) 25%
on the first anniversary of the date of grant and (2) 6.25% on each subsequent quarterly anniversary. As a
result of the amendments, such options will still vest in full on the fourth anniversary of the date of grant,
but incremental vesting after the first anniversary of the date of grant will be on a quarterly, rather than
annual basis. The options are exercisable at $8.90 per share, which was the closing price’of the Company’s
common stock on the OTC Bulletin Board on April 1, 2005. These options expire on April 1, 2012.

On March 21, 2005, the Company granted stock options for the aggregate purchase of 10,000 shares of
common stock to two of the Company’s directors for their services as directors. The foregoing options were
issued outside the Company’s stock option plans. The options were fully vested at the date of the grant,
and are exercisable at $10.00 per share, which was the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the
OTC Bulletin Board on March 21, 2005. These options expire on March 21, 2015.

During the year ended April 30, 2006, the Company issued four and ten-year options to purchase an
aggregate of 20,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at'exercise prices ranging from $7.10 to $8.70
per share to certain non-employees who are providing technical advisory services to the Company. The
options vest over two years. The aggregate fair value of the options was $124,802 using the Black-Sholes -
valuation model. The amount expensed in fiscal year 2006 related to these options was $39,728. During the
year ended April 30, 2005, the Compa‘ny' issued ten-year options to purchase an aggregate of 21,190 shares
of the Company’s common stock at exercise prices ranging from $16.70 to $20.00 per share to a non-
employee who provided technical advisory'services to the Company. The options vested immediately. The
aggregate fair value of the options using the Black-Scholes valuation model was $247 796 and was
expensed in fiscal year 2005.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at
* April 30, 2006:

| Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted

Average Weighted Weighted
: ) . Remaining Average Average
Range of . Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise

Exercise Prices . Qutstanding  Life (Years) Price Exercisable Price
$510-$950......... 756,857 6.44 $ 8.70 174,579 $ 8.74
10.00- 16.80......... 115,269 7.54 12.70 44,025 13.83
20.00- 4500......... 31,127 7.81 22.81 19,079 23.79

903,253 ' 237,683




The following assumptions were used to value the options for the years ended April 30, 2006 and
2005:

‘ 2006 2005
Dividend yield rate ............. e 0% 0%
Risk free interestrate............coviieiinne.... ‘ 422% 332-427%
Expectedlife....... .. .o o 4 to 10 years 4 to 10 years
Volatility ... ..o 136 percent 125 percent

Stock Warrants

At April 30, 2006 and 2005, the Company had outstanding and exercisable warrants to purchase
1,168,498 and 3,828,207 shares, respectively, of the Company’s common stock at prices ranging from $3.25
to $67.50 per share. The warrants expire at various dates through March 2015. At April 30, 2006.and 2005,
the weighted average remaining contractual life of the warrants was 5.47 and 9.02 years and the weighted
average exercise price of the warrants was $11.24 and $7.10, respectively.

As discussed above under “Common Stock” during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2006, warrants to
purchase 37,214 units were exercised on a net exercise basis. The net result of the exercises was a reduction
of 54,420 warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock.

As discussed above under “Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Warrants,” during the
fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005, the Company issued warrants to purchase 2,705,250 shares of common
stock to investors and issued warrants to purchase 163,596 shares to an agent and finder involved in the
Company’s private placement. Also, as noted above, 2,827,850 of these warrants were exercised in fiscal
year 2006. '

* As discussed in Note 5, the Company issued to certain lenders, warrants to purchase 86,901 common
shares during the year ended April 30, 2005. In addition, warrants to purchase 31,454 common shares were
issued to agents or finders in fiscal year 2005.

As discussed in Note 5, several warrants issued contain anti-dilution features. Due to these featufes,
holders of the outstanding warrants became eligible to purchase an additional 251,561 and 235,299
common shares during fiscal year 2006 and 2005, respectively.

As discussed in Note 7, the Company issued a seven-year warrant to purchase 2,500 shares of common
stock for the achievement of a milestone in connection with a technology purchase agreement during the
year ended April 30, 2005.

During the year ended April 30, 2006, warrants to purchase 29,000 shares of common stock expired.

A summary of warrant activity during the years ended April 30, 2006 and 2005 is as follows:

: | _Warrants_

Outstanding, April 30,2004 ....................... 624,112
CIssued L. 3,143,796
Impact of antidilution features. .................. 235,299
Expired......oooiiiiiiii ceen (175,000)
Outstanding, April 30,2005 ............... ... ... 3,828,207
Impact of antidilution features................... 251,561
Exercised ... (2,882,270)
Expired.......c.oooiin. e . (29,000)
Outstanding, April 30,2006 ....................... 1,168,498

F-25




10. Research and Development Costs

Research and development services include expenses the Company previously referred to as research
and development expenses and engineering and regulatory expenses. Research and development costs
included as part of research and development services in the statement of operations, totaled $3,471,241
and $1,278,709 for the fiscal years ended April 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Research and development
costs relate primarily to product and process development initiatives. ‘

11. Savings and Retirement Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) savings and retirement plan (the “Plan”) for all eligible employees:
Under the Plan, the Company may make a discretionary contribution to the Plan upon approval by the
Company’s, board of directors. Employees are fully vested in their own contributions and related earnings
and become fully vested.in the Company s contributions and related earnings. The Company made
contributions to the Plan of $31,996 and $18,943 in fiscal years 2006 and 2005, respectively.

12. Restructuring Charge

In the quarter ended July 31, 004 the Company restructured its executive management team,
resulting in the termination of two employees, which resulted in a charge of $182,315 to general and
administrative expenses. This charge represented the amount of future severance payments due to these
former employees. During the quarter ended October 31, 2004, the Company terminated an additional five
employees in an effort to reduce operating costs. This restructuring resulted in additional severance costs
of $45,987, of which $19,999 is included in general and administrative expenses and $25,988 is included in
discontinued operations. During the quarter ended January 31, 2005, the Company terminated an
additional eleven employees resulting in $48,835 of severance costs, of which $17,206 included in generl
and administrative expenses and $31,629 is included in discontinued operations. During the quarter ended
April 30, 2005, the Company terminated two additional employees resulting in $28,709 of severance costs
charged to general and administrative expenses. At April 30, 2005, $24,834 of severance costs was accrued
but not paid. During the quarter ended July 31, 2005, the Company entered into a separation agreement
with an employee, resulting in a charge to general and administrative expense for severance pay of $40,382.
The Company paid all amounts due to these former employees by September 30, 2005. '

13. Contingencies and Uncertainty

In March 2003, the Company became aware that a patient who was utilizing the Company’s heart
valve had died. The Company has not received any claims related to this matter but believes that any such
claim would be covered by its existing liability insurance. Based upon the expectation that insurance would
cover the cost of any claims after the Company’s payment of the deductible, the Company does not expect
the ultimate resolution of this matter to have a material effect on the Company’s business, financial
condition, operating results or cash flows.

On March 9, 2006, J Giordano Securities LLC (d/b/a J Giordano Securities Group) (“JGSG”) filed
suit against the Company in U.S. District Court, District of Connecticut. JGSG claims that it is entitled to
damages due to an alleged breach of the engagement agreement, as amended, between the Company and
JGSG. In particular, JGSG claims that the exercise of outstanding warrants for the purchase of common
stock by certain JGSG-identified investors and the Company’s purchase of outstanding shares of preferred
stock from certain JGSG-identified investors in December 2005 and January 2006 entitle JGSG to
damages no less than $1,431,769. In particular, JGSG seeks (1) $279,191 in cash commissions, (2) warrants
for the purchase of 85,905 shares at $3.25 per share, (3) lost profits of $751,669 on the argument that
JGSG would have exercised the foregoing warrant and sold 85,905 shares on December 30, 2005, at a price
of $12.00 per share, and (4) the $400,909 in cash commissions the Company paid C.E. Unterberg, Towbin,
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LLC. JGSG also seeks reimbursement for reasonable expenses, interest, costs and attorneys’ fees. In
addition, JGSG notified us by letter dated May 26, 2006 that, pursuant to the agreement, it may claim
compensation arising out of alleged rights to serve as a co-managing underwriter or member of the
underwriting group of a proposed public offering set forth in the registration statement on Form SB-2 we
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 19, 2006. The Company believes that this
lawsuit is without merit and intends to vigorously defend itself.

14. Geographic Information

The following table summarizes net sales, all of which are reported as part of the loss from
discontinued operations, by geographic area:

Year Ended Aprii 39,

2006 2005
BUFODE. . .ottt e e $279,435  $1,190,967
United States ..ot e v 58,898 391,042
South Asia. .. ... e P — 51,800
Middle BaSt . ..ottt . — 379,280
Far Bast. .. oottt : — - 70,511
O her . oo — 221,297
Total . $338,333  $2,304,897

At April 30, 2006 and 2003, substantially all of the Company’s operations and assets were based in the
United States.
15. Subsequent event
Reverse Stock Spiit

The Company’s board of directors approved a one-for-ten reverse stock split of its common stock and
preferred stock, effective May.31, 2006. The accompanying financial statements and related notes give
retroactive effect to this reverse stock split.
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibi
melab]etr : Description ‘
31 Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant, as Amended (incorporated by reference to
Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form SB-2, filed on June 6, 2006
(File No. 333-134315)).
3.2 Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement on
Form SB-2, filed on August 31, 2001 (File No. 333-68884)).
41  Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2.
42 Specimen common stock certificate (incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 1 to our
Registration Statement on Form SB-2, filed on June 6, 2006 (File No. 333-134315)).

10.1 1992 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement on Form SB-2,
filed on August 31, 2001 (File No. 333-68884)).

10.2 1993 Director Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement on
Form SB-2, filed on August 31, 2001 (File No. 333-68884)).

10.3 1997 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement on Form SB-2,
filed on August 31, 2001 (File No. 333-68884)).

10.4 Amended and Restated 2001 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to our Definitive
Schedule 14A (Proxy Statement), filed on August 25, 2005 (File No. 000-33295)).

105 Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued by the Registrant to PKM Properties, LLC, dated
January 17, 2003 (incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB/A, filed
on April 4, 2003 (File No. 000-33295)). ‘

10.6 Amendment to Warrants by and between the Registrant and PKM Properties, LLC, dated July 1,

. 2003 (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 14, 2003
(File No. 000-33295)).

10.7 Warrant Agreement to purchase 32,017 shares of common stock issued by the Registrant to
PKM Properties, LLC, dated July 1, 2003 (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed on July 14, 2003 (File No. 000-33295)).

10.8 Warrant Agreement to purchase 6,017 shares of common stock issued by MedicalCV, Inc. to
PKM Properties, LLC, dated August 20, 2003 (incorporated by reference to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-QSB filed on December 15, 2003 (File No. 000-33295)).

10.9 Warrant Agreement to purchase 7,738 shares of common stock issued by the Registrant to PKM
Properties, LLC, dated November 13, 2003 (incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report
on Form 10-QSB filed on March 22, 2004 (File No. 000-33295)).

10.10  Warrant Agreement to purchase 33,093 shares of common stock issued by the Registrant to
PKM Properties, LLC, dated February 3, 2004 (incorporated by reference to our Annual Report
on Form 10-KSB filed on July 29, 2004 (File No. 000-33295)).

10.11  Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement issued by the Registrant to Lawrence L. Horsch in the
amount of 10,000 shares, dated August 19, 2003 (incorporated by reference to our Annual
Report on Form 10-KSB filed on July 29, 2004 (File No. 000-33295)).

10.12  Building Lease Agreement between the Registrant and PKM Properties, LLC, dated April 4,

2003 (incorporated by reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-KSB filed on July 29, 2004
(File No. 000-33295)).
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10.13
10.14
10.15
10.16
10.17
10.18
10'.19‘
10.20

10.21

10.25

10.26

Technology Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and LightWave Ablation Systems, Inc.,
Gregory Brucker and Robert Svenson M.D., dated August 27, 2003 (incorporated by reference to
our Annual Report on Form 10-KSB filed on July 29, 2004 (File No. 000-33295)). ‘

Technology Assignment Agreement between the Registrant, LightWave Ablation Systems, Inc.,
Robert H. Svenson, M.D. and Gregory Brucker, dated August 27, 2003 (incorporated by
reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-KSB filed on July 29, 2004 (File No. 000-332953).

Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement between the Registrant, Robert H. Svenson,
M.D. and Gregory Brucker, dated August 10, 2003 (incorporated by reference tc cur Annual
Report on Form 10-KSB filed on July 29, 2004 (File No. 000-33295)). |

Severance and Release Agreement between the Registrant and Blair P. Mowery, effective
August 11, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Post Effective Amendment No. 1 to our
Registration Statement on Form SB-2 filed on September 9, 2004 (File No. 333-116394)).

Severance and Release Agreement between the Registrant and Allan R. Seck, effective
August 6, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Post Effective Amendment No. 1 to our
Registration Statement on Form SB-2 filed on September 9, 2004 (File No. 333-116394)).

Letter Agreement between the Registrant and Mare P. Flores, effective August 30, 2004
(incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 2, 2004
(File No. 000-33295)).

October 2004 Discretionary Credit Agreement by and between MedicalCV, Inc. and PKM
Properties, LLC, dated October 29, 2004, effective November 17, 2004 (incorporated by
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 23, 2004 (File No. 000-33295)).

QOctober 2004 Credit Note issued by MedicalCV, Inc. (maker) to PKM Properties, LLC (payee),
dated October 29, 2004, effective November 17, 2004 (incorporated by reference to our Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on November 23, 2004 (File No. 000-33295)).

Intellectual Property Security Agreement by and between PKM Properties, LLC (secured party)
and MedicalCV, Inc. (debtor), dated Gctober 29, 2004, effective November 17, 2004

(incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 23, 2004
(File No. 000-33295)).

Waiver Agreement by and between MedicalCV, Inc. (borrower) and PKM Properties, LL.C
(lender), dated October 29, 2004, effective November 17, 2004- (incorporated by reference to our
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 23, 2004 (File No.-000-33295)).

Warrant Agreement issued to PKM Properties, LLC, dated November 17, 2004 (incorporated by
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 23, 2004 (File No. 000-33295)).

Form of Bridge Note Purchase Agreement including form of convertible promissory note and
form of common stock purchase warrant), dated December 31, 2004 (incorporated by reference
to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 14, 2005 (File No. 000-33295)). .

February 2005 Discretionary Credit Agréemcnt by and between MedicalCV, Inc. and PKM
Properties, LLC, dated February 16, 2005, effective March 3, 2005 (incorporated by reference or
our Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on March 9, 2005 (File No. 000-33295)).

February 2005 Discretionary Credit Note issued by MedicalCV, Inc. (mﬁker) and PKM
Properties, LLC (payee), dated February 16, 2003, effective March 3, 2005 (incorporated by
reference or our Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on March 9, 2005 (File No. 000-33295)).
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10.36
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10.39

10.40
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Warrant Agreement issued to PKM Properties, LLC, dated February 16, 2005, effective March 3,
2005 (incorporated by reference or our Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on March 9, 2005
(File No. 000-33295)).

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the MedicalCV, Inc. 2001 Equity
Incentive Plan issued to Executive Officers.

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the MedicalCV, Inc. 1997 Stock Option
Plan (incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB filed on March 17,
2005 (File No: 000-33295)).

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the MedicalCV, Inc. 1993 Director Stock
Option Plan (incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10- QSB filed on
March 17, 2005 (File No. 000-33295)).

Form of Stand-Alone Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement issued to Non-Employee
Directors (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 25,
2005 (File No. 000-33295)).

Securities Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and the Investors named as signatories
thereto, dated March 31, 2005 (effective April 1, 2005) (incorporated by reference to our Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2005 (File No. 000-33295)).

Form of 2005 Private Placement Warrant (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on
Form 8-X filed on April 4, 2005 (File No. 000-33295}).

Form of Debt Conversion Agreement dated March 29, 2005 (effective Apr11 1, 2005)
(incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2003
(File No. 000-33295)).

Registration Rights Agreement between the Reglstrant and the Investors named as signatories
thereto, dated March 31, 2005 (effective April 1, 2005) (incorporated by reference to our Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2005 (File No. 000-33295)).

Engagement Letter between the Registrant and J Giordano Securities Group, dated
December 17, 2004 (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
April 4, 2005 (File No. 000-33295)).

Amendment to Engagement Letter between the Registrant and J Giordano Securities Group,
dated March 16, 2005 (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
April 4, 2005 (File No. 000-33295)).

Letter Agreement between the Registrant and Tower Finance, Ltd., dated December 8, 2004
(incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2005
(File No. 000-33295)).

Amendment to Letter Agreement between the Registrant and Tower Finance, Ltd., dated
March 16, 2005 (incorporated by reference to eur Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Aprﬂ 4,
2005 (File No. 000-33295)).

2005 Director Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to our Defmmve 14A (Proxy
Statement), filed on August 25, 2005 (File No. 000-33295})).

Lease Termination Agreement entered into by and between PKM Properties, LLC and the
Registrant, dated June 29, 2005 (incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-QSB filed on September 14, 2005 (File No. 000-33295)).
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10.56
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Employment Agreement by and between Marc P. Flores and the Registrant, dated August 9,
2005 (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on August 9, 2005
(File No. 000-33295)).

Employment Agreement by and between John H. Jungbauer and the Registrant, dated August 9,
2005 (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on August 9, 2005
(File No. 000-33295)).

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement Issued to Executive Officers (incorporated by
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on August 9, 2005 (File No. 000-33295)).

Form of Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement issuable under the 2005 Director
Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
September 23, 2005 (Frle No. 000-33295)).

Letter Agreement by and between MedicalCV, Inc. and Marc P. Flores, dated November 2, 2005
(incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 8, 2005
(File No. 000-33205)). - -

Form of Amendment to Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to
our Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB filed on December 14, 2005 (File No. 000-33295)).

Form of Preferred Stock Acquisition Agreement, dated December 21, 2005 (including form of
Registration Rights Agreement) (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on December 22, 2005 (File No. 000-33295)).

Form of Amendment No. 1 to Securities Purchase Agreement (originally dated March 31, 2005),
dated December 21, 2005 (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on December 22, 2005 (File No. 000-33295}).

Form of Amendment No. 1 to Warrant Agreement (originally issued April 1, 2005), dated
December 21, 2005 (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
December 22, 2005 (File No. 000-33295)).

Form of Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement by and between John H. Jungbauer
and MedicalCV, Inc., dated April 6, 2006 (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on April 7, 2006 (File No. 000-33295)).

Executive Employment Agreement by and between Adam L. Berman and the Registrant, dated
August 17, 2005.

Executive Employment Agreement by and between Robert W. Clapp and the Reglstrant dated
August 17, 2005.

Executive Employment Agreement by and between Dennis E. Steger and the Registrant, dated
August 18, 2005.

Executive Employment Agreement by and between James E. Jeter and the Registrant, dated
November 7, 2005.

Executive Empldyment Agreement by and between Gary O. Tegan and the Registrant, dated
April 19, 2006.

Restated Employment Agreement by and between Eapen Chacko and the Registrant,.dated
May 30, 2006 (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 5,
2006 (File No. 000-33295)).

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement issued to Directors under Amended and

_ Restated 2001 Equity Incentive Plan.
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Exhibit

Number ) : Description .
10.59  Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement by and between John H. Jungbauer
and the Registrant, dated July 18, 2006 (incorporated by reference to our Current Report on
* Form 8-K filed on July 20, 2006 (File No. 000-33295)). ‘
16.1 Letter on Change in Certifying Accountant, dated June 14, 2005 (incorporated by reference to
our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 14, 2005 (File No. 000-33295)).
16.2 Letter on Change in Certifying Accountant, dated July 25, 2005 (incorporated by reference to
our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 25, 2005 (File No. 000-33295)).
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
232 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
24 Power of Attorney (included o signature page to Form 10-KSB).
311 Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a).
312 Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a).
321 Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.
322 .

Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.
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